Diversity Analysis of South African Sorghum Genotypes Using Agronomic Traits, SSR Markers and Protein Content and Amino Acid Composition

Maletsema Alina Mofokeng

MSc Agriculture, Plant Protection (University of Limpopo)

BSc Agriculture, Plant Production (University of the North)

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the academic requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) in Plant Breeding

African Centre for Crop Improvement (ACCI)

School of Agricultural, Earth and Environmental Sciences

College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science

University of KwaZulu-Natal

Pietermaritzburg

South Africa

June 2015

Thesis Abstract

Sorghum is an important food security crop and ranks fifth after wheat, rice, maize, and barley in total area of production globally. In South Africa, sorghum is mainly grown for food and livestock feed both by small-holder and large-scale farmers. Diverse sorghum genotypes are grown in South Africa, which have not been fully characterized using agronomic, molecular or protein markers for breeding or strategic conservation. There is also little knowledge of farmers' views and perception of the constraints affecting sorghum production, and their trait preferences, information that is needed to direct sorghum breeding programmes. The objectives of the study were to: (i) determine farmers production constraints and preferences of sorghum varieties in the Limpopo Province in South Africa; (ii) assess the level of genetic diversity present among South African sorghum genotypes using agro-morphological traits; (iii) compare random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers and high resolution melt (HRM) analyses to determine genetic variation among selected sorghum genotypes; (iv) assess the genetic diversity present among South African sorghum genotypes using genetic distances as measured by SSR markers; and (v) determine genetic diversity of selected South African sorghum genotypes grown in two different agro-ecologies, especially for protein content and amino acid composition, and to select candidate lines for subsequent breeding and conservation.

A participatory rural appraisal (PRA) study was conducted in two selected districts of Limpopo province to determine sorghum production constraints and variety preference involving 311 respondent farmers. The PRA data was collected using semi-structured questionnaires, focus group discussion, matrix ranking and transect walks. The main constraints affecting sorghum production were bird damage (53.08 %), storage pests (weevils) (50.05%), parasitic weeds (35.00%), drought (35.25%) and postharvest diseases (30.75%). Good taste, high yields, resistance to bird damage, insect pests (weevils), and diseases, early maturity and drought tolerance were farmers-preferred traits of sorghum varieties in the study areas.

Ninety eight diverse South African sorghum genotypes were characterized using agromorphological traits. Principal component analysis revealed that the three most important components contributed 38.9%, 30.96% and 18.13% to the total variation. The traits that

ii

contributed most to the variation were plant height, seed weight and panicle weight. A dendrogram was constructed using the Unweighted Pair Group Method with Arithmetic Mean, and this grouped the genotypes into three major clusters. The grouping of the genotypes was independent of the source or place of origin. The genotypes MP 4277, EC 2934, KZ 5097, FS 4909, and LP 4303 were phenotypically identified as the most diverse. The best lines with quantitative and qualitative attributes were MP 4276, NW 5430, 05-Potch-167 and EC 3217 across the locations.

Eight selected sorghum genotypes were used to compare high resolution melt (HRM) analysis with random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and simple sequence repeat (SSR) analyses. DNA was extracted using the CTAB extraction method. The template DNA was amplified, using three RAPD and SSR primers for each sample. Both markers revealed variation among the sorghum genotypes, with a moderate correlation between the RAPD and SSR results. The genotypes were further subjected to high resolution melt (HRM) analysis, which showed considerable variation between the genotypes. There was a high level of correspondence between the clustering of genotypes when using SSR markers or HRM analysis.

One hundred and three sorghum genotypes collected from various South African provinces by the Department of Plant Genetic Resources, the African Centre for Crop Improvement (ACCI) and the Agricultural Research Council-Grain Crops Institute (ARC-GCI) were genotyped using 30 polymorphic SSR markers. The SSR analysis revealed extensive variation among the sorghum genotypes. The genotypes Macia-SA and AS4 had the lowest dissimilarity index, whereas POTCH-115 and MP 2048 showed the highest dissimilarity index. The size and number of alleles ranged from 90 to 294, and 2 to 15, respectively. The polymorphic information content (PIC) varied between 0.02 and 0.84. The heterozygosity data points ranged between 0.02 and 0.85, with the genetic distances ranging between 0 and 8.4.

Fifty nine selected sorghum genotypes were grown at two locations, Makhathini and Ukulinga Research Farm, Pietermaritzburg. These were analysed for crude protein content using near-infrared spectroscopy (NIR). The genotypes that had a high protein content at both locations were AS4 (15.07%), Maseka-a-swere (15.13%), AS19 (15.22%), Macia-SA (15.31%), AS16 M1 (15.57%) and Mammopane (16.18%). Nineteen sorghum genotypes with high crude protein content were selected and analysed for their amino acid composition. The genotypes with high lysine content were KZ 5246 (2.27%), AS17 (2.25%), Manthate

(2.16%) and LP 1481 (2.11%). Lines identified with high leucine levels were LP 1948 (14.3%), FS 4905 (14.3%), MP 4154 (14.26%) and LP 1481 (14.25%). The genotype AS16cyc was the best candidate for high phenylalanine content (5.99%).

Overall, the study found considerable levels of genetic variability among South African sorghum germplasm using agro-morphological, SSR markers and protein content and amino acid levels. The selected lines should be useful for future breeding programmes. Knowledge of the genetic diversity can be used to direct efforts to conserve the diversity of sorghum germplasm present in South Africa.

I, Maletsema Alina Mofokeng, hereby declare that:

1. This document is a token of my own work and has not previously, in its entirety or in part, been submitted to any other institution for any academic award.

2. All sources of information used in this literature review have been duly acknowledged.

3. This thesis does not contain other persons' data, pictures, graphs or other information, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other scientists. Where other written sources have been quoted, then:

i) Their words have been rewritten but the general information attributed to them has been referenced.

II) Where their exact words have been used, then their writing has been placed in italics and inside quotation marks, and referenced.

4. This thesis does not contain text, graphics or tables copied and pasted from the internet unless specifically acknowledged, and the source being detailed in the thesis and in the references sections.

Maletsema Alina Mofokeng (Candidate)

Signature:.....

As the candidate's supervisors, we agree to the submission of this thesis:

Supervisor: Prof Hussein Shimelis

Co-supervisor: Prof Mark Laing

Signature:....

Signature:

Date:....

Date:....

Dedication

To God Almighty

Praises be unto the Lord for steadfast love, His grace and mercy.

For strength when pursuing my study

To my parents

Koos and Fransina Mofokeng, these are the fruits of your daughter's hard work.

You are my rock, and pillars of strength.

Thank you for your love.

- Comparison between random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers with high resolution melt analyses in genetic variation analysis among selected sorghum genotypes. African Journal of Biotechnology 2012:11(102):16697-16707.
- A genetic diversity analysis of South African sorghum genotypes using SSR markers. South African Journal of Plant and Soil 2014. 31(3):145-152.

Acknowledgements

My sincere gratitude and appreciation goes to the following people and institutes:

- My major supervisor, Prof Hussein Shimelis, and co-supervisor, Prof Mark Laing, for guidance, support, patience and ensuring the success and completion of this study.
- The Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa (AGRA) for sponsoring my study in African Centre for Crop Improvement (ACCI), University of KwaZulu-Natal.
- The Generation Challenge Programme (GCP) for funding through the genotyping support services.
- The Professional Development Programme (PDP) of the Agricultural Research Council (ARC) for funding, training and giving me a platform and opportunity to become a professional scientist.
- The National Research Foundation (NRF) for funding my first year of PhD study.
- The ACCI administrators, Lesley Brown, Rowelda Donnelly, Jayshree Singh and Mr lan Doidge for administrative and field work support.
- The Agricultural Research Council is appreciated for research support.
- Incotec (Pty) Ltd for assistance with the SSR data analysis.
- The Limpopo Department of Agriculture and various stakeholders are appreciated for assistance and support with participatory rural appraisal.
- My parents, brothers and a sister: thank you for your love, prayers, sacrifices, support, understanding and encouragement during tough and good times, even when spending a long time away from home. May the Lord continue to shower us with His blessings.

Above all, praises unto the Lord, God Almighty.

Table of Contents

Thesis Abstract	ii
Declaration	v
Dedication	vi
Publications from this thesis	vii
Acknowledgements	. viii
Introduction to the thesis	1
Research Objectives	5
Research Hypotheses	5
Thesis Outline	6
References	7
CHAPTER 1	. 12
Literature review	. 12
1.1 Introduction	. 12
1.2 Sorghum origin and domestication	. 12
1.3 Sorghum genetics and classification	. 12
1.4 Constraints to sorghum production	. 13
1.5 Analysis of genetic diversity	. 14
1.6 Sorghum characterisation and evaluation	. 15
1.6.1 Morphological characterization of sorghum	. 15
1.6.2 Molecular marker technology	. 16
1.6.3 High resolution melt (HRM) analysis	. 18
1.7 Sorghum nutritional quality	. 19
1.7.1 Protein content and amino acid composition in sorghum	. 20
1.8 Genetic diversity of protein content and amino acids composition	. 21
1.9 Participatory rural appraisal: farmer production constraints and variety preference	. 24
1.10 Summary	. 26
1.11 References	. 26
CHAPTER 2	. 44
Appraisal of farmers' sorghum production constraints and variety preferences in the	
Limpopo Province, South Africa	. 44
2.1 Abstract	. 44
2.2 Introduction	. 45
2.3 Materials and methods	. 46
2.4 Results and discussion	. 49
2.5 Conclusions	. 59
2.6 References	. 60
CHAPTER 3	. 64
Assessment of genetic relatedness among South African sorghum genotypes using agro-	
morphological traits	. 64
3.1 Abstract	. 64
3.2 Introduction	. 65
3.3 Materials and methods	. 66
3.4 Results	. 70
3.5 Discussion	. 91

3.6 References 94 CHAPTER 4 99 Comparison between random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers with high resolution melt analyses in genetic variation analysis among selected sorghum genotypes. 99 4.1 Abstract 99 4.2 Introduction 100 4.3 Materials and methods 101 4.4 Results 103 4.4 Discussion 112 4.5 Conclusions 113 4.6 References 113 4.6 References 113 4.6 References 113 5.1 Abstract 118 5.1 Abstract 119 5.3 Materials and methods 121 5.4 Results and discussion 122 5.5 Conclusions 121 5.4 Results and discussion 122 5.5 Conclusions 129 5.6 References 136 Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein content and amino acid composition 136 6.1 Abstract 136 6.2 Introduction 137 6.3 Materials and methods 139 6.4 Results <	3.6 Conclusions	94
CHAPTER 4.99Comparison between random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and simple sequencerepeat (SSR) markers with high resolution melt analyses in genetic variation analysisamong selected sorghum genotypes.994.1 Abstract994.2 Introduction.1004.3 Materials and methods1014.4 Results1034.4 Discussion1124.5 Conclusions1134.6 References113CHAPTER 5.1185.1 Abstract1195.3 Materials and methods1215.4 Results and discussion1255.5 Conclusions1215.4 Results and discussion1255.5 Conclusions1295.6 References132CHAPTER 6.1366.1 Abstract1366.1 Abstract1366.1 Abstract1366.1 Abstract1366.2 Introduction1376.3 Materials and methods1295.6 References132CHAPTER 6.1366.1 Abstract1366.1 Abstract1366.2 Introduction1376.3 Materials and methods1396.4 Results1416.5 Discussion1526.6 Conclusions1526.6 Conclusions1526.6 Conclusions1546.7 References1546.7 References1546.7 References1546.7 References1546.7 References1597 Thesis ove	3.6 References	94
Comparison between random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers with high resolution melt analyses in genetic variation analysis among selected sorghum genotypes	CHAPTER 4	99
repeat (SSR) markers with high resolution melt analyses in genetic variation analysis among selected sorghum genotypes	Comparison between random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and simple sequence	
among selected sorghum genotypes994.1 Abstract994.2 Introduction1004.3 Materials and methods1014.4 Results1034.4 Discussion1124.5 Conclusions1134.6 References113CHAPTER 5.118A genetic diversity analysis of South African sorghum genotypes using SSR markers1185.1 Abstract1195.3 Materials and methods1215.4 Results and discussion1255.5 Conclusions1295.6 References132CHAPTER 6.136Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein contentand amino acid composition1376.3 Materials and methods1396.4 Results1416.5 Discussion1526.6 Conclusions1546.7 References1546.7 References1597.8 Materials and methods1396.4 Results1416.5 Discussion1526.6 Conclusions1546.7 References1546.7 References1546.7 References1546.7 References1597.8 Materials overview1597.9 Phesis overview159 </td <td>repeat (SSR) markers with high resolution melt analyses in genetic variation analysis</td> <td></td>	repeat (SSR) markers with high resolution melt analyses in genetic variation analysis	
4.1 Abstract 99 4.2 Introduction 100 4.3 Materials and methods 101 4.4 Results 103 4.4 Discussion 112 4.5 Conclusions 113 4.6 References 113 CHAPTER 5 118 A genetic diversity analysis of South African sorghum genotypes using SSR markers 118 5.1 Abstract 118 5.2 Introduction 119 5.3 Materials and methods 121 5.4 Results and discussion 125 5.5 Conclusions 129 5.6 References 132 CHAPTER 6 136 Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein content and amino acid composition 136 6.1 Abstract 136 6.2 Introduction 137 6.3 Materials and methods 139 6.4 Results 141 6.5 Discussion 152 6.6 Conclusions 154 6.7 References 154 6.7 References 154 6.7 References 159 Thesis overview <td>among selected sorghum genotypes</td> <td> 99</td>	among selected sorghum genotypes	99
4.2 Introduction. 100 4.3 Materials and methods 101 4.4 Results 103 4.4 Discussion 112 4.5 Conclusions 113 4.6 References 113 CHAPTER 5 118 5.1 Abstract 118 5.2 Introduction 119 5.3 Materials and methods 121 5.4 Results and discussion 125 5.5 Conclusions 129 5.6 References 132 CHAPTER 6 136 Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein content and amino acid composition 136 6.1 Abstract 136 6.2 Introduction 137 6.3 Materials and methods 139 6.4 Results 141 6.5 Discussion 152 6.6 Conclusions 152 6.6 Conclusions 154 6.7 References 159 Thesis overv	4.1 Abstract	99
4.3 Materials and methods 101 4.4 Results 103 4.4 Discussion 112 4.5 Conclusions 113 4.6 References 113 CHAPTER 5 118 A genetic diversity analysis of South African sorghum genotypes using SSR markers 118 5.1 Abstract 118 5.2 Introduction 119 5.3 Materials and methods 121 5.4 Results and discussion 125 5.5 Conclusions 129 5.6 References 132 CHAPTER 6 136 Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein content and amino acid composition 136 6.1 Abstract 136 6.2 Introduction 137 6.3 Materials and methods 139 6.4 Results 141 6.5 Discussion 152 6.6 Conclusions 152 6.6 Conclusions 154 6.7 References 154 6.7 References 154 6.7 References 154 6.7 References 159 Appendix	4.2 Introduction	. 100
4.4 Results 103 4.4 Discussion 112 4.5 Conclusions 113 4.6 References 113 CHAPTER 5 118 A genetic diversity analysis of South African sorghum genotypes using SSR markers 118 5.1 Abstract 118 5.2 Introduction 119 5.3 Materials and methods 121 5.4 Results and discussion 125 5.5 Conclusions 129 5.6 References 132 CHAPTER 6 136 Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein content and amino acid composition 136 6.1 Abstract 136 6.2 Introduction 137 6.3 Materials and methods 139 6.4 Results 141 6.5 Discussion 152 6.6 Conclusions 152 6.6 Conclusions 152 6.6 Conclusions 154 CHAPTER 7 159 Thesis overview 159 Appendix 162	4.3 Materials and methods	. 101
4.4 Discussion1124.5 Conclusions1134.6 References113CHAPTER 5118A genetic diversity analysis of South African sorghum genotypes using SSR markers1185.1 Abstract1185.2 Introduction1195.3 Materials and methods1215.4 Results and discussion1255.5 Conclusions1295.6 References132CHAPTER 6136Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein contentand amino acid composition1366.1 Abstract1376.3 Materials and methods1396.4 Results1416.5 Discussion1526.6 Conclusions1546.7 References1546.7 References1597 References15	4.4 Results	. 103
4.5 Conclusions1134.6 References113CHAPTER 5118A genetic diversity analysis of South African sorghum genotypes using SSR markers1185.1 Abstract1185.2 Introduction1195.3 Materials and methods1215.4 Results and discussion1255.5 Conclusions1295.6 References132CHAPTER 6136Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein contentand amino acid composition1366.1 Abstract1366.2 Introduction1376.3 Materials and methods1396.4 Results1416.5 Discussion1526.6 Conclusions1546.7 References1546.7 References <t< td=""><td>4.4 Discussion</td><td>. 112</td></t<>	4.4 Discussion	. 112
4.6 References113CHAPTER 5118A genetic diversity analysis of South African sorghum genotypes using SSR markers1185.1 Abstract1185.2 Introduction1195.3 Materials and methods1215.4 Results and discussion1255.5 Conclusions1295.6 References132CHAPTER 6136Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein contentand amino acid composition1366.1 Abstract1366.2 Introduction1376.3 Materials and methods1396.4 Results1416.5 Discussion1526.6 Conclusions1546.7 References154CHAPTER 7159Thesis overview159Appendix162	4.5 Conclusions	. 113
CHAPTER 5.118A genetic diversity analysis of South African sorghum genotypes using SSR markers.1185.1 Abstract1185.2 Introduction.1195.3 Materials and methods1215.4 Results and discussion1255.5 Conclusions1295.6 References132CHAPTER 6.136Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein contentand amino acid composition1366.1 Abstract1366.2 Introduction.1376.3 Materials and methods1396.4 Results1416.5 Discussion1526.6 Conclusions1546.7 References1546.7 References159Thesis overview159Appendix162	4.6 References	. 113
A genetic diversity analysis of South African sorghum genotypes using SSR markers.1185.1 Abstract1185.2 Introduction1195.3 Materials and methods1215.4 Results and discussion1255.5 Conclusions1295.6 References132CHAPTER 6136Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein contentand amino acid composition1366.1 Abstract1366.2 Introduction1376.3 Materials and methods1396.4 Results1416.5 Discussion1526.6 Conclusions1546.7 References1546.7 References1547.7 Materials1597.7 Materials1597.7 Materials1597.7 Materials1597.7 Materials1597.7 Materials1597.7 Materials1597.7 Materials1	CHAPTER 5	. 118
5.1 Abstract 118 5.2 Introduction 119 5.3 Materials and methods 121 5.4 Results and discussion 125 5.5 Conclusions 129 5.6 References 132 CHAPTER 6 136 Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein content and amino acid composition 136 6.1 Abstract 136 6.2 Introduction 137 6.3 Materials and methods 139 6.4 Results 141 6 .5 Discussion 152 6.6 Conclusions 154 6.7 References 159 Thesis overview 159 Appendix 162	A genetic diversity analysis of South African sorghum genotypes using SSR markers	. 118
5.2 Introduction 119 5.3 Materials and methods 121 5.4 Results and discussion 125 5.5 Conclusions 129 5.6 References 132 CHAPTER 6 136 Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein content and amino acid composition 136 6.1 Abstract 136 6.2 Introduction 137 6.3 Materials and methods 139 6.4 Results 141 6 .5 Discussion 152 6.6 Conclusions 154 6.7 References 159 Thesis overview 159 Appendix 162	5.1 Abstract	. 118
5.3 Materials and methods 121 5.4 Results and discussion 125 5.5 Conclusions 129 5.6 References 132 CHAPTER 6 136 Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein content 136 and amino acid composition 136 6.1 Abstract 136 6.2 Introduction 137 6.3 Materials and methods 139 6.4 Results 141 6.5 Discussion 152 6.6 Conclusions 154 6.7 References 154 CHAPTER 7 159 Thesis overview 159 Appendix 162	5.2 Introduction	. 119
5.4 Results and discussion 125 5.5 Conclusions 129 5.6 References 132 CHAPTER 6 136 Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein content 136 and amino acid composition 136 6.1 Abstract 136 6.2 Introduction 137 6.3 Materials and methods 139 6.4 Results 141 6.5 Discussion 152 6.6 Conclusions 154 6.7 References 154 CHAPTER 7 159 Thesis overview 159 Appendix 162	5.3 Materials and methods	. 121
5.5 Conclusions1295.6 References132CHAPTER 6136Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein contentand amino acid composition1366.1 Abstract1366.2 Introduction1376.3 Materials and methods1396.4 Results1416.5 Discussion1526.6 Conclusions1546.7 References154CHAPTER 7159Thesis overview159Appendix162	5.4 Results and discussion	. 125
5.6 References132CHAPTER 6136Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein contentand amino acid composition1366.1 Abstract1366.2 Introduction1376.3 Materials and methods1396.4 Results1416 .5 Discussion1526.6 Conclusions1546.7 References154CHAPTER 7159Thesis overview159Appendix162	5.5 Conclusions	. 129
CHAPTER 6.136Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein content136and amino acid composition1366.1 Abstract1366.2 Introduction1376.3 Materials and methods1396.4 Results1416.5 Discussion1526.6 Conclusions1546.7 References154CHAPTER 7159Thesis overview159Appendix162	5.6 References	. 132
Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein contentand amino acid composition1366.1 Abstract1366.2 Introduction1376.3 Materials and methods1396.4 Results1416 .5 Discussion1526.6 Conclusions1546.7 References154CHAPTER 7159Thesis overview159Appendix162	CHAPTER 6	. 136
and amino acid composition 136 6.1 Abstract 136 6.2 Introduction 137 6.3 Materials and methods 139 6.4 Results 141 6.5 Discussion 152 6.6 Conclusions 154 6.7 References 154 CHAPTER 7 159 Thesis overview 159 Appendix 162	Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein content	
6.1 Abstract 136 6.2 Introduction 137 6.3 Materials and methods 139 6.4 Results 141 6.5 Discussion 152 6.6 Conclusions 154 6.7 References 154 CHAPTER 7 159 Thesis overview 159 Appendix 162	and amino acid composition	. 136
6.2 Introduction. 137 6.3 Materials and methods 139 6.4 Results 141 6.5 Discussion 152 6.6 Conclusions 154 6.7 References 154 CHAPTER 7. 159 Thesis overview 159 Appendix 162	6.1 Abstract	. 136
6.3 Materials and methods 139 6.4 Results 141 6.5 Discussion 152 6.6 Conclusions 154 6.7 References 154 CHAPTER 7 159 Thesis overview 159 Appendix 162	6.2 Introduction	. 137
6.4 Results 141 6.5 Discussion 152 6.6 Conclusions 154 6.7 References 154 CHAPTER 7 159 Thesis overview 159 Appendix 162	6.3 Materials and methods	. 139
6.5 Discussion 152 6.6 Conclusions 154 6.7 References 154 CHAPTER 7 159 Thesis overview 159 Appendix 162	6.4 Results	. 141
6.6 Conclusions 154 6.7 References 154 CHAPTER 7 159 Thesis overview 159 Appendix 162	6 .5 Discussion	. 152
6.7 References 154 CHAPTER 7 159 Thesis overview 159 Appendix 162	6.6 Conclusions	. 154
CHAPTER 7	6.7 References	. 154
Thesis overview	CHAPTER 7	. 159
Appendix	Thesis overview	. 159
	Appendix	. 162

Introduction to the thesis

Sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] is one of the most important cereal crops grown worldwide. It ranks fifth after wheat, maize, rice and barley (Dogget, 1988; Bryden et al., 2009; FAO, 2011). According to Vijayakumar et al. (2014) sorghum produced worldwide is 64.20 million tonnes with a cultivated area of 41 million hectares. Of this grain, about 26 million tonnes are produced in Africa. The four leading sorghum producers in Africa are Nigeria, Ethiopia, Burkina Faso and Niger. About 74% of sorghum in Africa is used for food (Acquaah, 2012). In 2012 South Africa produced 150 000 tonnes of sorghum grains on a harvested area of 60 000 hectares (FAO, 2013). According to the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (2010) the Free State Province is the main sorghum producer with approximately 53% of the production area, followed by Mpumalanga (30%), Limpopo (9%), North West (6%), and Gauteng (2%) Provinces. Although the production varies widely among provinces, sorghum remains an important food constituent in the diet of rural households in the country (Taylor, 2003).

In South Africa sorghum is mostly grown in marginal areas, serving as a source of calories for many people. It ranks the third after maize and wheat. Historically, it has only been a subsistence food crop. However, it is increasingly becoming the foundation for successful food and beverage industries, in addition to its other uses (Taylor and Dewar, 2000). It also serves as the best alternative to barley for beer brewing in the competitive environment of multinational brewing enterprises. In addition, sorghum crop residues and greens are good sources of animal feed and fodder (Rooney and Waniska, 2001; Chakauya et al., 2006). Apart from its contribution to food security, sorghum is broadly adapted and can be grown in a wide range of environments. One of its strongest traits is its great adaptability to tropical and subtropical areas of the world where water availability and soil conditions are marginal for other grain crops such as maize (ICRISAT, 2009). It can be produced in a wide variety of soil types, but yields are typically highest in deep, well drained soils with good fertility. It also appears to have a high capacity for osmotic adjustment to stress to maintain turgor pressure in cells (Nguyen et al., 1997), while some sorghum varieties possess "stay green" genes that enable them to continue to photosynthesize post-flowering, during drought (Malala, 2010). Because of these abilities to survive in harsh conditions it is a vital crop for household food security for many rural communities farming in marginal agro-ecologies, such as in the dry regions of South Africa, Botswana and Namibia.

According to de Man (1999), the grains of various cereal crops possess different levels of protein. These include maize (9-10%), rice (6-9%), barley (10%), wheat (8-14%) and rye

(12%) among others. Sorghum has a protein level ranging from 7.3-15.6% (Hulse et al., 1980), which is higher than most other cereals consumed by humans (Ahmed et al., 1996). However, sorghum's protein content is lower when compared to leguminous crops. The negative aspect is that sorghum protein is highly indigestible, with limited bio-availability (around 2%), leading to malnutrition where people depend upon sorghum for protein intake. South Africa is one of the 36 countries most highly challenged with its public health nutrition state, according to the World Health Organisation. Furthermore, it is reported that the state of children and adult's nutrition health has deteriorated in South Africa (Steyn et al., 2006). To ensure food and nutrition security, households need sufficient and nutritious food (Faber et al., 2011). This can be achieved through breeding and growing crops with high levels of digestible protein.

Proteins are an essential component of the diet needed for the survival of humans and animals. About 63% of the world's protein intake is from grains or grain products (Hoveland, 1980). The protein's basic function in nutrition is to supply adequate amounts of essential amino acids. The quality of a protein, or its nutritive value, depends on its amino acid content and on their bioavailability after digestion, absorption, and minimal obligatory rates of oxidation. In countries where cereals are staple foods, protein malnutrition is a widespread problem, often associated with one or two deficient amino acids. Sorghum cultivars with improved lysine have been reported (Singh and Axtell, 1973), but most cultivars are deficient in essential amino acids (especially lysine, methionine, cysteine and tryptophan). Information on protein content and amino acid levels among sorghum landraces is important for growers and breeders. The protein content is influenced by environment and the cultivars used (Hoveland, 1980; Rharrabti et al., 2001; Almodares et al., 2009). Hence, it is essential to assess the levels of protein and the essential amino acids present in sorghum varieties grown locally by farmers. Varieties with increased protein and amino acid levels can be considered for selection in breeding programmes aiming to improve nutritional quality of sorghum.

Many farmers grow local sorghum cultivars with low-inputs for consumption, of which their potential as sources of food constituents such as proteins has not yet been fully researched. Protein quality is a measure of levels of amino acids present in a cultivar (Waggle and Deyoe, 1966; Audilakshmi and Aruna, 2005) but information on these levels in South African landraces is still scanty. Wenzel et al. (2001) reported variation in grain quality among South African sorghum landraces. However, these landraces with high grain quality exhibited low yield potential. Their protein and amino acid levels varied depending on cultivars used, and in different environments. Hence, it is important to assess the level of proteins and their constituents in diverse genotypes for improvement.

Proper characterization and evaluation of germplasm is an important component for effective management of genetic resources and their utilization in breeding programmes (Frankel, 1989). Accurate identification of genotypes is very useful throughout the process of breeding, starting from initial parent selection to the final utilization of cultivars. Agromorphological descriptors have been used traditionally to distinguish one accession from another (Smith and Smith, 1992). Sorghum is a very diverse crop when using morphological descriptors, with cultivated sorghums exhibiting great phenotypic variability (Aruna and Audilakshmi, 2008). Hence it is vital to monitor genetic diversity because the availability of the resources determines the current and potential future sustainability of agricultural productivity (Huang et al., 2007).

Exploitation of diversity at the genotypic level requires an efficient system such as molecular marker technology. The use of molecular marker technology has been attempted in various crops for management and improvement. The estimation of plant genetic resource diversity has become simpler and more reliable with the advent of DNA-based molecular markers. This is because these molecular markers are discrete, co-dominant or dominant, and free from epistatic gene action (Tanksley et al., 1989; McIntyre et al., 2001). In contrast to morphological or biochemical marker techniques, DNA-based methods are independent of environmental factors and give rise to a high level of polymorphism (Karp et al., 1997). The DNA-based fingerprinting techniques are important tools for genetic identification, and in determination of variation in plant breeding, and for germplasm management (McGregor et al., 2000; Simioniuc et al., 2002).

Many molecular marker technologies have been developed and applied for studying patterns of genetic diversity in sorghum germplasm collections and in breeding programs (Gupta and Varshney, 2002). The most commonly used marker techniques in sorghum for diversity studies include the following: random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) (Prakash et al., 2006; Shivjee and Khanna, 2010; Abdel-Fatah et al., 2013), amplified fragment length

polymorphism (AFLP) (Wu et al., 2006; Pecina-Quintero et al., 2012; Shegro et al., 2013), single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) (Murray et al., 2009), microarrays (Huang, 2011), diversity array technology (DArT) (Mace et al., 2008; Mace et al., 2009) and simple sequence repeats (SSRs)/microsatellites (Dje et al., 2000; Gupta and Varshney, 2002; Adguna and Bekele, 2013; Beyene et al., 2014). The SSR markers are co-dominant, discrete and highly informative (Karp et al., 1997).

A method referred to as high resolution melt (HRM) analysis was invented in 2003, and has been used to detect DNA variations in plants and animal species (Wittwer et al., 2003). This technique is a closed tube, and post-PCR technique that differentiates amplicon products in the presence of a saturating fluorescent dye on the basis of melting profiles (Naidoo et al., 2013). The melting profiles are evaluated by normalized fluorescence curves, derivative plots, or difference plots to detect variation (Vaugn and Elenitoba-Johnson, 2004). It is helpful for distinguishing genotypes or accessions in combination with other molecular marker methods. The HRM technique is fast, accurate, efficient, cost-effective, repeatable, and has high throughput. It has been used in various crops including maize (Abakemal et al., 2012; Naidoo et al., 2013), and barley (Lehmensiek et al., 2008) among other crops.

Several landraces of sorghum are widely grown by small-scale farmers across different provinces in South Africa. Despite their low yielding potential, these landraces are preferred by the smallholder farmers because of their broad adaptation, tolerance to abiotic and biotic stresses, and suitable quality and agronomic attributes (DAFF, 2010). These sorghum landraces constitute an important source of genetic material for future breeding programmes. Hence, it is necessary to carry out efficient characterization of sorghum landrace collections from various provinces within the country. This will help streamline sorghum breeding for improved yield and protein quality. Identification of suitable sorghum genotypes and development of improved cultivars which are more suited to the marginal areas would help in food security and alleviation of malnutrition (Slabbert and Dorfling, 2001).

Farmers' knowledge and preference on the use of the local cultivars, characterization and improvement of the sorghum landraces with special reference to yield, protein content and amino acid is important for selections and breeding. Accurate documentation of the constraints affecting sorghum production that are encountered by farmers is also essential in establishing the breeding goals in future sorghum breeding programmes. This can be achieved through farmer-scientist partnership and information sharing.

4

The overall objective of this study was to determine the genetic diversity present among South African sorghum germplasm using agro-morphological traits, SSR markers, and crude protein content and amino acid composition. Furthermore, the study aimed to explore farmers' perceptions of the constraints affecting sorghum production, and their varietal trait selection criteria, in a study conducted in selected districts of Limpopo Province.

Research Objectives

The specific objectives of the study were:

- i. To determine farmers's perceptions of the constraints affecting sorghum production, and their criteria for choice of sorghum varieties in the Limpopo Province in South Africa.
- ii. To assess the level of genetic diversity present among South African sorghum genotypes using agro-morphological traits.
- iii. To compare the capacity of RAPD and SSR markers and high resolution melt (HRM) analysis, to determine the genetic variation present among selected sorghum genotypes.
- iv. To assess the genetic diversity present among South African sorghum genotypes using genetic distances, as measured by SSR markers.
- v. To determine the genetic diversity of selected South African sorghum genotypes grown in two diverse environments, especially for their protein content and amino acid composition, in order to select candidate lines for future breeding and conservation.

Research Hypotheses

- i. Farmers are aware of sorghum production constraints and have preferences for specific traits in the sorghum varieties that they choose to grow.
- ii. There is distinctive genetic variation in agro-morphological traits among the South African sorghum genotypes.
- iii. SSR markers are more effective than RAPD markers for genotype analyses in sorghum.
- iv. HRM analysis is a technique that can match the efficacy of SSR markers for genotypic studies in sorghum.

- v. There is genetic divergence in South African sorghum genotypes when tested using high resolution melt analysis in combination with RAPD and SSR markers.
- vi. There is considerable genetic diversity among the South African sorghum genotypes when evaluated using 30 SSR markers.
- vii. There exists genetic diversity for crude protein content and amino acid composition among South African sorghum genotypes.

Thesis Outline

Table 01 shows the thesis outline. The thesis is written in the form of discrete research chapters, each following the format of a stand-alone research paper (whether or not the chapter has already been published). This is the dominant thesis format adopted by the University of KwaZulu-Natal. As such there is some unavoidable repetition of references and some introductory information between chapters.

Table	01.	Thesis	outline.
-------	-----	--------	----------

Chapters	Objective
-	Introduction to Thesis
Chapter 1	Literature review
Chapter 2	Appraisal of farmers' sorghum production constraints and variety
	preferences in the Limpopo Province, South Africa
Chapter 3	Assessment of genetic relatedness among South African sorghum
	genotypes using agro-morphological traits
Chapter 4	Comparison between random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and
	simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers with high resolution melt analyses
	in genetic variation analysis among selected sorghum genotypes
Chapter 5	Genetic diversity analysis of South African sorghum genotypes using SSR
	markers
Chapter 6	Genetic diversity of selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein
	and amino acid composition
Chapter 7	Thesis overview

References

- Abakemal, D., G. Watson, H. Shimelis, J. Derera, and Twumasi-Afriye. 2012. Comparison of two-PCR based DNA markers with high resolution melt analysis for the detection of genetic variability in selected quality protein maize inbred lines. African Journal of Agricultural Research 7:5692-5700.
- Abdel-Fatah, B.E., E.A. Ali, A.A.T. El-Din, and E.M. Hessein. 2013. Genetic diversity among Egyptian sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench) landraces in agro-morphological traits and molecular markers. Asian Journal of Crop Science 5:106-124.
- Acquaah, G. 2012. Principles of plant genetics and breeding. Second ed. John Wiley and Sons, Ltd., Bowie State University, Marryland, USA.
- Adguna, A., and E. Bekele. 2013. Geographical distribution of wild/weedy sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] in Ethiopia: implications for germplasm conservation and crop-wild gene flow. Plant Genetic Resources: Characterization and Utilization 11:68-76.
- Ahmed, S.B., S.A. Mahgoub, and B.E. Babiker. 1996. Changes in tannin and cyanide contents and diastic activity during germination and the effect of traditional processing on cyanide content of sorghum. Food Chemistry 56:85-89.
- Almodares, A., M. Jafarinia, and M.R. Hadi. 2009. The effects of nitrogen fertilizer on chemical compositions in corn and sweet sorghum. American-Eurasian Journal of Agriculture and Environmental Science 6:441-446.
- Aruna, C., and S. Audilakshmi. 2008. A strategy to identify potential germplasm for improving yield attributes using diversity analysis in sorghum. Plant Genetic Resources 6:187-194.
- Audilakshmi, S., and C. Aruna. 2005. Genetic analysis of physical grain quality characters in sorghum. Journal of Agricultural Science 143:267-273. DOI: 10.1017/s0021859605005368.
- Beyene, A., H. Shimelis, P. Tongoona, M. D. Laing, and F. Mengistu. 2014. Genetic variation in lowland sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) landraces assessed by simple sequence repeats. Plant Genetic Resources: Characterization and Utilization 12:1-11. DOI:10.1017/S1479262114000744.
- Bryden, W.L., P.H. Selle, D.J. Cadogan, X. Li, N.D. Muller, D.R. Jordan, M.J. Gidley, andW.D. Hamilton. 2009. A review of the nutritive value of sorghum broilers. Rural industry research and development corporation, Kingston, Australia.

Chakauya, E., P. Tongoona, E.A. Matibiri, and M. Grum. 2006. Genetic diversity assessment of sorghum landraces in Zimbabwe using microsatellites and indigenous local names. International Journal of Botany 2:29-35.

de Man, J.M. 1999. Principles of food chemistry. 3rd ed. Springer, Guelph, Ontario.

- Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF) 2010. Sorghum production guideline. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Republic of South Africa.
- Dje, Y., M. Heuertz, C. Lefèbvre, and X. Vekemans. 2000. Assessment of genetic diversity within and among germplasm accessions in cultivated sorghum using microsatellite markers. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 100:918-925.
- Dogget, H.D. 1988. Sorghum. 2nd ed. Longman Group UK, Green and Co. Ltd, London, Harlow, England.
- Faber, A.C., R.B. Corcoran, H. Ebi, L.V. Sequist, B.A. Waltman, E. Chung, J. Incio, S.R. Digumarthy, S.F. Pollack, Y. Song, A. Muzikansky, E. Lifshits, S. Roberge, E.J. Coffman, C.H. Benes, H.L. Gómez, J. Baselga, C.L. Arteaga, M.N. Rivera, D. Dias-Santagata, R.K. Jain, and J.A. Engelman. 2011. BIM expression in treatment-naive cancers predicts responsiveness to kinase inhibitors. Cancer Discovery 1:352-65.
- FAO. 2011. FAOSTAT. http:/faostat.fao.org.
- FAO. 2013. FAOSTAT.

http:/faostat.fao.org/site/567/DesktopDefault.aspx?PageID=567#ancor.

- Frankel, O.H. 1989. Principles and strategies of evaluation. p. 245-260. *In*: A. H. D. Brown, et al. (ed.) The use of plant genetic resources. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Gupta, P.K., and R.K. Varshney. 2002. The development and use of microsatellite markers for genetic analysis and plant breeding with the emphasis on bread wheat. Euphytica 113:163-185.
- Hoveland, C.S. 1980. Crop quality, storage, and utilization American Society of Agronomy. Crop Science of America, Inc., Madison. Wisconsin.
- Huang, X.Q., M. Wolf, M.W. Ganal, S. Orford, R.M.D. Koebner, and M.S. Roder. 2007. Did modern plant breeding lead genetic erosion in European winter wheat varieties? Crop Science 47:343-349.
- Huang, Y.H. 2011. Improvement of crop protection against greenbug using worlwide sorghum germplasm collection and genomics-based approaches. Plant Genetic Resources: Characterization and Utilization 9:317-320.
- Hulse, J.H., E.M. Laing, and O.E. Pearson. 1980. Sorghum and the millets: Their composition and nutritive value. Academic Press, London.
- ICRISAT. 2009. Sorghum. ICRISAT, Andhra Pradesh, India.

- Karp, A., S. Kresovich, K.V. Bhatt, W.G. Ayad, and T. Hodgkin. 1997. Molecular tools in plant genetic resources conservation: a guide to the technologies IPGR technical bulletins. International Plant Genetics Resources Institute, Rome, Italy.
- Lehmensiek, A., M.W. Sutherland, and R.B. McNamara. 2008. The use of high resolution melting (HRM) to map single nucleotide polymorphism markers linked to a covered smut resistance gene in barley. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 117:721-728.
- Mace, E.S., L. Xia, D.R. Jordan, K. Halloran, D.K. Parh, E. Huttner, P. Wenz, and A. Kilian. 2008. DArT markers: diversity analyses and mapping in *Sorghum bicolor*. BMC Genomics 9:26.
- Mace, E.S., Jean-Francois Rami, S. Bouchet, P.E. Klein, R.R. Klein, A. Kilian, P. Wenzl, L. Xia, K. Halloran, and D.R. Jordan. 2009. A consensus genetic map of sorghum that integrates multiple component maps and high-throughput Diversity Array Technology (DArT) markers. BMC Plant Biology 9:13.
- Malala, T.J. 2010. Evaluation and selection of 20 sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] genotypes for drought tolerance. MSc dissertation, University of Pretoria, Pretoria.
- McGregor, C.E., C.A. Lambert, M.N. Greyling, J.H. Louw, and L. Warnich. 2000. A comparative assessment of DNA fingerprinting techniques (RAPD, ISSR, AFLP and SSR) in tetraploid potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) germplasm. Euphytica 113:135-144.
- McIntyre, C.L., D.R. Tao, D.R. Jordan, and R.G. Henzell. 2001. Current status of molecular marker research in sorghum. Fourth Australian sorghum conference, Queensland, Australia.
- Murray, S.C., W.L. Rooney, M.T. Hamblin, S.E. Mitchell, and S. Kresovich. 2009. Sweet sorghum genetic diversity and association mapping for brix and height. Plant Genome 2:48-62.
- Naidoo, R., G. Watson, P. Tongoona, J. Derera, and M.D. Laing. 2013. Development of a single nucleotide polymophism (SNP) marker for detection of the low phytic acid (*lpa1-1*) gene used during maize breeding. African Journal of Biotechnology 12:892-900.
- Nguyen, H.T., W. Xu, D.T. Rosenow, J.E. Mullet, and M.C. Intyre. 1997. Use of biotechnology in sorghum drought resistant breeding part A. p. 412-424. Proceedings of the International Conference on the Genetic Improvement of Sorghum and Pearl Millet. INTSORMIL and ICRISAT, Lubbock, USA.
- Pecina-Quintero, V., J.L. Anaya-Lopez, A. Zamarripa-Colmenero, N. Montes-Garcia, C. Nunez-Colin, J.L. Solis-Bonilla, M.R. Aguilar-Rangel, and L. Prom. 2012. Genetic diversity of sweet sorghum germplasm in Mexico using AFLP and SSR markers. Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira 47:1095-1102.

- Prakash, S.P.J., K.R. Biji, S.M. Gomez, K.G. Murthy, and R.C. Babu. 2006. Genetic diversity analysis of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench) accessions using RAPD markers. Indian Journal of Crop Science 1:109-112.
- Rharrabti, Y., S. Elhani, V. Martos-Nu'n[~] ez, and L.F. Garcı'a del Moral. 2001. Protein and lysine content, grain yield, and other technological traits in durum wheat under Mediterranean conditions. Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry 49:3802-3807.
- Rooney, L.W., and R.D. Waniska. 2001. Sorghum food and industrial utilization. p. 751-765.*In*: C.W. Smith and R.A. Fredericksen (ed.) Sorghum: Origin, history, technology and production. John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- Shegro, A., M.T. Labuschagne, A. van Biljon, and N.G. Shargie. 2013. Assessment of genetic diversity in sorghum accessions using amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) analysis. African Journal of Biotechnology 12:1178-1188.
- Shivjee, S., and V.K. Khanna. 2010. Detection of diversity in germplasm of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) using RAPD analysis. Pantnagar Journal of Research 8:170-174.
- Simioniuc, D., R. Uptmoor, W. Friedt, and F. Ordon. 2002. Genetic diversity and relationships among pea cultivars (*Pisum sativum* L.) revealed by RAPDs and AFLPs. Plant Breeding 121:429-435.
- Singh, R., and J.D. Axtell. 1973. High lysine mutant gene (bl) that improves protein quality and biochemical value of grain sorghum. Crop Science 13:535-539.
- Slabbert, T.J.C., and T.K. Dorfling. 2001. Prospects for the generation of the Vaal economy. Vanderbijlpark.
- Smith, J.S.C., and O.S. Smith. 1992. Fingerprinting crop varieties. Advanced Agronomy 47:85-140.
- Steyn, N., J. Nel, G. Kennedy, and D. Labadorios. 2006. Food variety and dietary diversity scores in children: Are they good indicators of dietary adequacy? Public Health Nutrition 9:644-650.
- Tanksley, S.D., N.D. Young, A.H. Paterson, and M.W. Bonierbale. 1989. RFLP mapping in plant breeding: New tool for an old science. Biotechnology 7:257-264.
- Taylor, J., and J. Dewar. 2000. Fermented products: Beverages and porridges. p. 751-795.*In*: C.W. Smith and R.A. Fredericksen (ed.) Sorghum: Origin, history, technology and production. John Wiley and Sons. New York.
- Taylor, J.R.N. 2003. Overview: Importance of sorghum in Africa. Department of Food Science. University of Pretoria, Pretoria.
- Vaugn, C.P., and K.S.J. Elenitoba-Johnson. 2004. High-resolution melting analysis for detection of internal tandem duplications. Journal of Molecular Diagnostics 6:211-216.

- Vijayakumar, M., C. Jayanthi, R. Kalpana and D. Ravisankar. 2014. Integrated weed management in sorghum [*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench] a review. Agricultural Review 35 (2):79-91.
- Waggle, D.H., and C.W. Deyoe. 1966. Relationship between protein level and amino acid composition of sorghum grain. Feedstuffs 38:1819.
- Wenzel, W.G., M. van Loggerenberg, and F. Ordon. 2001. Quick screening methods for sorghum quality traits. Journal of Applied Botany 73:43-45.
- Wittwer, C.T., G.H. Reed, C.N. Gundry, J.G. Vandersteen, and R.J. Pryor. 2003. Highresolution genotyping by amplicon melting analysis using LC Green. Clinical Chemistry 49:853-860.
- Wu, Y.Q., Y. Huang, C. G. Tauer, and D.R. Porter. 2006. Genetic diversity of sorghum accessions resistant to greenbugs as assessed with AFLP markers. Genome 49:143-149.

Literature review

1.1 Introduction

This section presents a literature review with the purpose of supporting and enhancing the value of the anticipated research study. The review examines genetic variation and characterization using agro-morphological traits, DNA-based markers, grain nutritional quality and farmer's perceptions, and constraints of sorghum production.

1.2 Sorghum origin and domestication

It has been estimated that sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) was originally domesticated between 5,000 and 7,000 years ago, probably in northern Africa (Murdock, 1959; Ehret, 1988; Harlan, 1989). Distribution of sorghum followed, and has been associated with human migration, trade, and shipping routes from Africa, to the Middle East to India, 3,000 years ago (Kimber, 2000). Some authors have even suggested that the origin of sorghum was in India (Haaland, 1995; Meadow, 1996). Other researchers have proposed that the origin and domestication of sorghum was in China (Kimber, 2000). Sorghum has been found in Africa, Asia, Australia, and some parts of America (Harlan and Wet., 1972; Dogget, 1988; Acquaah, 2007). Numerous studies have demonstrated that sorghum is a very diverse crop, with cultivated sorghums exhibiting great phenotypic variability.

1.3 Sorghum genetics and classification

Several reports indicate that sorghum (2n=2x=20) can be classified into two groups, the wild and the cultivated sorghums (Dogget, 1988; Smith and Frederiksen., 2000; Ayana et al., 2002). The wild sorghums include *Sorghum halepense* (L) Pers, S. *propinquum* (Kunth) Hitchc, *S. bicolor* sub-species *drummondii* and *S. bicolor* subspecies *verticilliflorum*. The cultivated germplasm has been classified into five major races, *bicolor*, *caudatum*, *durra*, *guinea* and *kafir*, and 10 intermediate races based on panicle morphology. According to Harlan and De Wet (1972) the *bicolor* race is characterised by loose panicle with grains covered by large closed glumes, and is mostly distributed in Asia and Africa. The *caudatum* race is characterised by asymmetric grain, flattened on the ventral surface and convex on the dorsal surface. The panicle morphological structure varies with shape. This race is

mainly found in Central and East Africa. The *durra* sorghums have very compact panicles with curved penducles, and tiny glumes that are attached to globular grain. This race is mostly grown in East Africa, the Middle East and India. The *guinea* sorghums are tall with loose panicles, spikelets with open glumes enclosing an elliptical grain and are photoperiod sensitive. These sorghums are found in West Africa. The *kafir* varieties are small sorghums with relatively compact and cylindrical panicles consisting of symmetrical grain flattened on the ventral surface and convex on the dorsal. This race is grown mostly in eastern and southern Africa (Mann et al., 1983). Morphologically intermediate races have been reported in Africa (Tesso et al., 2008; Mutegi et al., 2009). Due to the vast diversity in cultivated sorghum, breeders are interested in exploiting this diversity, to develop improved varieties using various breeding methods.

1.4 Constraints to sorghum production

There are various biotic and abiotic stresses that affect the production and productivity of sorghum in various parts of the world. The biotic stresses include diseases, insect pests, birds, and parasitic weeds. The most prevalent diseases are ergot, grain mould, various smuts, root and stalk rots, and leaf diseases such as rust, zonate leaf spot, mildews, anthracnose and leaf blight (Dogget, 1988; McLaren and Smit, 1996). The major insect pests include stalk borers, maize and sorghum aphids, panicle feeding bugs, beetles, bollworms, wireworms, cutworms, weevils, shootfly, sorghum midge, and armoured cricket (Dogget, 1988; van den Berg and Drinkwater, 1997). The most commonly known parasitic weeds include Striga spp., commonly known as witchweed. Whereas weeds affects sorghum produce and plant growth development, Striga spp. feed on the sorghum roots, extracting water, minerals and photosynthetic assimilates (Press and Steward, 1987; Robert, 2011). Researchers have developed sorghum varieties with resistance to Striga spp. (Haussmann et al., 2000), and have developed an Integrated Striga Management (ISM) tool for control of Striga spp. (Teshome, 2013). Most of these diseases and insect pests are controlled by chemicals, natural enemies, cultural practices and resistant cultivars. In order to reduce bird damage, high tannin cultivars have been grown in some parts of Africa, although this grain has a bitter taste. This approach was mainly used by enterprises growing sorghum for large scale beer brewing. For direct human consumption, non-bitter varieties have been preferred. Hence, some commercial farmers and researchers try to manage bird damage using bird repellents such as methiocarb (Dogget, 1988) and gas-driven bird scarers. This still remains a challenge for small scale farmers, showing the need for development, access and

availability of bird resistant varieties that can be utilized by large- and smallholder farmers and communities in marginal areas of the world.

The most prevalent abiotic stress in sorghum is drought, which is experienced in many parts of the world. Plants become stunted and their growth and development is retarded (Moussa and Abdel-Aziz, 2008; Younesi and Moradi, 2009). Drought has been reported to affect all growth stages of sorghum, including the pre- and post-flowering stages. Many studies have been conducted in breeding for sorghum cultivars for enhanced levels of drought tolerance, including the identification of component traits affecting tolerance to drought (Khanna-Chopra and Sinha, 1988; Blum, 2011; Assefa, 2012).

Malnutrition is one of the factors contributing to food and nutritional insecurity of mankind. Malnutrition related ailments affect communities globally, but especially in sub-Saharan Africa (FAO, 2010).Traditionally, crop improvement studies have focussed on addressing environmental stresses, insect pests and diseases. Breeding for improved nutrition has been neglected in the past, for many crops, including sorghum. More recently, plant breeders have started to breed for improved nutritional quality traits such as enhanced levels of Fe and Zn, vitamins, starch, amino acids and proteins (Ashok et al., 2010; Sanjana et al., 2010). The breeding strategies include biofortification, mutation breeding and genetic engineering (Monyo et al., 1988; Oria et al., 2000; Tesso et al., 2006; Prasad, 2010).

1.5 Analysis of genetic diversity

Assessment of genetic diversity is of paramount importance for current and future breeding programmes (Mohammadi and Prasanna, 2003). This is because it is essential for sourcing and pyramiding of genes that may be considered valuable, and that can be used in various breeding programmes such as in nutritional quality breeding. Many local germplasm/landraces has been lost, or are likely to disappear due to modern agricultural practices, environmental factors, and genetic erosion (Teshome, 2001). Genetic diversity is valuable for selections of varieties that may serve as future parents for hybrids and other new varieties (Geleta and Labuschagne, 2005). Knowledge of the genetic and nutritional diversity of the local genetic material and their interrelationship is an invaluable aid for plant breeders making decisions about which crosses to make, and for germplasm conservation. Genetic diversity among accessions provides opportunities for improvement of agronomic and nutritional quality traits in crops (Huang, 2004). It aids plant breeders to characterize and classify accessions into heterotic groups (Menz et al., 2004) and it also affects the potential genetic gain via selection (Kotal et al., 2010).

1.6 Sorghum characterisation and evaluation

Characterisation and evaluation of germplasm are a prerequisite for utilization of the available diversity in cultivar improvement. The germplasm can be characterised morphologically and genotypically, as well as by using nutritional quality traits.

1.6.1 Morphological characterization of sorghum

Morphological or phenotypic descriptors are used to distinguish one accession from another. The characterisation of genotypes gives descriptive information of their traits, and aid in understanding the similarities and differences among genotypes (IBPGR and ICRISAT, 1993). Phenotypic characterisation is usually based on both gualitative and guantitative morphological characters (Upadhyaya et al., 2010). According to Geleta and Labuschagne (2005) the qualitative traits include leaf midrib colour, grain colour, glume colour, endosperm texture, pericarp colour, leaf trichomes, awns, testa colour, pericarp thickness, and panicle compactness. Quantitative traits are also useful for determination of genetic diversity among genotypes. Typical quantitative traits include plant height, maturity, leaf area, leaf width, leaf length, number of leaves, panicle length, grain yield per plant, grain size, 1000 grain weight, grain number per panicle, panicle width, number of primary branches per panicle, and panicle weight (Punitha et al., 2010). Abdi et al. (2002) reported patterns of variation in sorghum for gualitative traits in Ethiopia. Rao et al. (1996) observed great morphological and agronomical diversity in sorghum germplasm in India. Ganesamurthy et al. (2010) observed great phenotypic variability among sorghum landraces collected in Tamil Nadu. Mehmood et al. (2008), Reddy et al. (2012), and Rakshit et al. (2012) studied the genetic variation within and among sorghum landraces using agro-morphological traits. The researchers identified great genetic diversity among the landraces. Furthermore, Ngugi and Maswili (2010) characterised sorghum genotypes from Kenya using phenotypic descriptors. Although there are reports on morphological diversity in other regions, there appear to have been few such studies reported in South Africa. Thus, morphological diversity analysis is required because most of the landraces grown by smallholder farmers in South Africa have not been characterised. Morphological characterisation is useful for breeding programmes, identification of duplicates, establishment of patterns of genetic variation, and establishment of relationships of agronomic traits for direct and indirect selection.

Although agronomic and morphological characterization provides useful information to breeders, the challenge is that the phenotypic characters are influenced by environmental factors (Smith and Smith, 1992; Cadee, 2000). The alternative is to undertake genotypic characterisation, using molecular marker systems because these are not subjected to

15

environmental influences, they do not require fixed plant developmental stages and they have the potential to give results rapidly from both seed and seedlings. On the other hand, most scientists prefer to use both morphological descriptors and molecular markers to characterize sorghum varieties (Geleta et al., 2006; Shehzad et al., 2009; Abdel-Fatah et al., 2013).

1.6.2 Molecular marker technology

Accurate estimates of genetic diversity levels among and within crop plant species are increasingly important for crop improvement. This is because they can assist to reduce population bottlenecks, threats of genetic losses, and also for the determination of variation to be found in local landraces at country, regional and local levels. This requires an efficient DNA marker technology. Among the marker techniques used for DNA analysis are simple sequence repeats (SSR) (sometimes referred to as microsatellites) and random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) analysis. Both have been widely employed for the evaluation of genetic variation among crop genotypes.

1.6.2.1 Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD)

RAPD is a fast, simple and reliable fingerprinting technique used for various applications in plant breeding (Williams et al, 1990). It is a useful tool for genetic diversity analysis of plant populations. This technique can be used for phylogenetic studies (Agrahama and Tuinstra, 2003), genetic diversity analysis, cultivar identification, quantitative traits, marker assisted selection and to estimate the extent of genetic variation in sorghum (Menkir et al., 1997; Chowdari et al., 1998a,b; Ayana et al., 2002; Dahlberg et al., 2002). Shivjee and Khanna (2010) used RAPDs to evaluate the level of genetic diversity in selected sorghum varieties. Agrahama and Tuinstra (2003) used both RAPDs and SSRs to study phylogeny and genetic relationships among sorghum genotypes. Arya et al (2006) evaluated levels of genetic diversity among Indian sorghum germplasm. The advantage of RAPD is that DNA probes and prior sequence information for the specific design of primers are not required, (Williams et al 1990). According to Kumar and Gurusubramanian (2011) the technique is PCR based and involves no blotting or hybridization. It involves low costs per unit assay when compared to other DNA marker systems. It requires only small amounts of DNA, produces high numbers of DNA fragments and can be automated. Arbitrary primers can be easily purchased. The disadvantages of this method are that the technique is not reproducible, is a dominant marker, and is species specific. It has challenges with co-migration, and mismatches between the primer and the template, which may result in the total absence of PCR product, or a decreased amount of the PCR product.

16

1.6.2.2 Simple sequence repeats (SSR) (microsatellites)

Simple sequence repeats consist of short tandem repeated nucleotide motifs flanked by conserved sequences in the loci (Tautz, 1989). The SSRs are multi-allelic and generally more informative than most of the marker techniques, and are based on heterozygosity values (Powell et al., 1996). SSR markers are easily maintained and shared among laboratories (Maughan et al., 1995). They have high reproducibility, co-dominance, low cost, and abundance in the plant genome. The SSRs serve as an ideal marker system for genetic analysis. Hence, this technique has been used widely in genetic diversity studies of various crops including sorghum.

The SSR reveals a large number of polymorphisms. Hence, they can be used to study plant species in which previous methods have found little or no variation (Echt et al., 1998). They can give high throughput and are co-dominant markers, therefore, homozygotes and heterozygotes can easily be distinguished. The technique is inexpensive once the primers have been developed. It is repeatable, easily automated, requires small quantities of DNA, and gel runs can be multiplexed. It is not influenced by environmental conditions. However, the development can be long and expensive because of the requirement for complex electrophoresis methods such as polyacrylamide gels, and sequencing. Co-migrating fragments may not always be homologous. According to Ciofi et al. (1998) slippage of the polymerase enzyme may yield products that differ with 1-5 repeat units. This can be a significant problem when analyzing mono- and di-nucleotide repeats.

SSRs have become the molecular markers of choice for a wide range of applications. The applications include genetic mapping and genome analysis (Chen et al., 1997; Li et al., 2000), gene and quantitative trait locus analysis (Blair and McCough, 1997) and in marker assisted breeding (Ayres et al., 1997; Weising et al., 1998). In sorghum, microsatellites are highly polymorphic (Brown et al., 1996; Taramino et al., 1997; Bhattramakki et al., 2000; Kong et al., 2000) except those located in coding regions that are relatively conservative (Schloss et al., 2002). Furthermore, Wu and Huang (2007) used SSR for mapping sorghum genome in comparison with the existing genetic linkage maps. Furthermore, SSRs have been used in genetic diversity studies among elite sorghum inbred lines (Smith and Frederiksen, 2000; Menz et al., 2004; Shehzad et al., 2014), among germplasm collections from different geographic locations (Yang et al., 1996; Dje et al., 2000), and in the assessments of the population genetic structure and relatedness within or among landraces (Dje et al., 1999; Uptmoor et al., 2003; Folkertsma et al., 2005; Bhosale et al., 2011). Smith

et al. (2010) used SSR analysis to determine the level of genetic diversity in sorghum hybrids widely grown in the USA. El-Way et al. (2008) used SSR analysis to assess genetic diversity in nine sorghum lines from different regions. Wide genetic diversity has been reported in many studies of sorghum diversity (Han et al., 2011; Ngugi and Onyango, 2012; Rajput et al., 2012; Beyene et al., 2014; Kimani et al., 2014; Tesfamichael et al., 2014). In addition, SSRs can be used in conjunction with other molecular techniques (Geleta and Labuschagne, 2005).

The use of the SSR technique has been reported for other crops such as barley (Wang et al., 2010), rice (Yao et al., 2015), wheat (Sutapa et al., 2014), cassava (Njoku et al., 2013), maize (Shiri et al., 2014), cotton (Zhao et al., 2015) and cowpea (Adetiloye et al., 2013). Among cereal crops, rice and maize have been more intensively characterized for DNA markers (Romero et al., 2009) than sorghum. In South Africa, some of the sorghum germplasm has been characterized but not all collections of landraces grown by small scale farmers in rural areas have been characterized

1.6.3 High resolution melt (HRM) analysis

The HRM analysis is a post-PCR technique that has been developed relatively recently for use in genotyping nuclear genes in plants and animals (De Koeyer et al., 2010). It has been identified as a simple, rapid, consistent and powerful technique for genotyping, and detection of polymorphism and mutations (De Leeneer et al., 2008; Muleo et al., 2009). It can further differentiate homozygotes by a shift in melting temperature (T_m) and heterozygotes by a change of shape of melting curves of the samples analyzed (Wittwer et al., 2003; Reed and Wittwer, 2004). The method involves a standard PCR reaction and the use of a fluorescent dye, whereby the primers bind the double stranded DNA in the presence of the dye. Following the PCR, the fluorescence is captured while the PCR products are melting. The melting profiles are determined by GC content, length, and the homozygosity and /or heterozygosity of the samples under investigation (Reed et al., 2007). The reactions are analyzed by normalized fluorescence curves, derivative plots, or difference plots to discover variants (Vaugn and Elenitoba-Johnson, 2004). HRM can provide an excellent specificity and sensitivity with high throughput.

HRM analysis has been used in various crops, including sorghum. Mofokeng et al. (2012) reported the presence of genetic diversity among selected sorghum genotypes when comparing RAPDs and SSRs with HRM analysis. Abakemal et al. (2012) reported genetic variation within and between quality protein maize inbred lines when using RAPDs, and SSRs in combination with HRM analysis. HRM analysis in combination with SSR has been

used to fingerprint hybrids and their parental lines in rice (Zhu et al., 2013). The researchers concluded that HRM analysis should be given more priority due to its high accuracy, low-cost, speed and efficiency. The technique has the potential to analyze for genetic diversity. It can help to speed up selections in plant breeding programmes due to its convenience, time saving, and cost reduction of post-PCR processing, especially relative to gel electrophoresis and sequencing (Zhu et al., 2013). In addition, SSR-HRM can be used for variety identification in grape and olive cultivars (Mackay et al., 2008), common bean (Ganopoulos et al., 2012), and sweet cherry (Ganopoulos et al., 2011).

HRM has also been used in other studies, including the detection of SNPs in crops such as maize (for a low phytic acid gene) (Naidoo et al., 2013), potato (De Koeyer et al., 2010), almond (Wu et al., 2009), white lupin (Croxford et al., 2008), barley (Lehmensiek et al., 2008), perennial rye grass (Studer et al., 2009), tomato (van Deynze et al., 2007) and pepper (Park et al., 2009).

1.7 Sorghum nutritional quality

Nutritional quality is an inherited trait of a crop. It may vary as a result of environmental changes. Most plant breeding research on sorghum has focused on other factors such as biotic and abiotic stresses and agronomic characters such as stem height. In the past nutritional aspects such as vitamins, mineral content and proteins have received little attention. Proteins are essential to human beings. They contribute to tissue building, which is dependent on amino acids, which are sometimes referred to as the "building blocks of life" (Hoveland, 1980; Azevedo et al., 2006; Lea and Azevedo, 2006). Amino acids are derived from digested proteins, sourced from plants and animals. Whilst there are many amino acids, only eight are essential amino acids that have to be supplied in the diet of human beings. These include: leucine, phenylalanine, threonine, tryptophan, isoleucine, lysine, methionine and valine (Ferreira et al., 2005; Ferreira et al., 2006) The synthesis of amino acids, and their role in the nitrogen pathway has been subjected to much research (Ayongwa et al., 2006; Kingston-Smith et al., 2006; Tcherkez and Farquhar, 2006). Nutritional quality considerations in the breeding of crops usually include protein levels and the amino acid profiles (Helm et al., 2004; Pompeu et al., 2006). Globally, about 65% of proteins consumed by humans are supplied by plants, with 47% coming from cereals. In underdeveloped countries, plant proteins are the major source of protein for most people, and in many instances they may be the only source of protein most of the time (Millward, 1999).

1.7.1 Protein content and amino acid composition in sorghum

Protein is one of the important nutritional attribute of sorghum quality. It is located in the endosperm, germ, and pericarp, which are composed of about 80%, 30% and 16% protein, respectively (Taylor and Schussler, 1986). The average protein content varies from 7.3-15.6% (Hulse et al., 1980). The major proteins found in sorghum are kafirins or prolamins, account for approximately 80% of the total grain protein (Taylor et al., 1984). The remainder are glutelins. These protein fractions are located primarily within the protein bodies and protein matrix of the endosperm. The prolamins are characterised by their low contents of essential amino acids, particularly lysine which accounts for only 0.2% of the total amino acids in sorghum kafirin, less than 2% in the endosperm and less than 3% in the whole grain. The levels of protein can be increased significantly by generous nitrogen fertilization (Warsi and Wright, 1973).

The grain germ is rich in albumins, and globulins, while the endosperm contains kafirins and glutenins. The albumins, globulins, and glutenins fractions are rich in lysine and other essential amino acids. Cultivars exhibiting improved protein quality usually contain more of these, with a corresponding lower proportion of kafirins. These cultivars have been selected and bred to contain a larger germ-to-endosperm ratio, and contain high levels of albumins, globulins, and glutenins (Mohan and Axtell, 1975). The poor nutritional quality of the kafirins is compounded by the fact that they are difficult to digest and that their digestibility decreases on cooking (Duodu et al., 2003).

Researchers have attempted to improve the nutritional quality of sorghum, based on the identification of high lysine mutants (Mertz et al., 1964; Nelson et al., 1965). Two mutants were identified in sorghum, with the *hl* gene in an Ethiopian line (Singh and Axtell, 1973) and the P721 opaque gene, which was induced with the chemical mutagen diethylsulphate (Axtell *et al.*, 1979). Studies show that these lines contain "low prolamin" levels, whereby the proportion of kafirin is reduced by about 50%, with compensatory increases in other more lysine-rich proteins and free amino acids. The lysine content is enhanced by about 40-60%. The limiting factor with these lines is the association of high lysine with deleterious effects on seed weight and yield. Oria *et al.* (2000) reported the identification of a novel line with high protein digestibility from a cross involving the high lysine *P721* opaque mutant. The Africa Biofortified Sorghum (ABS) project developed transgenic sorghum line with increased lysine content (50%), ABS#1 (ABS, 2009). In the ABS project they also developed another line, ABS#2, with improved grain digestibility, whereby the bioavailability of essential amino acids such as lysine, threonine, and tryptophan are increased, together with beta-carotene.

20

Further lines with enhanced bioavailability of Fe and Zn were to be developed in this project (Zhao, 2007). However, due to regulatory issues, these GMO sorghum lines have not been released to the public.

1.8 Genetic diversity of protein content and amino acids composition

Malnutrition is one of the challenges facing Africans. It was recorded that in the 1980's and 1990's in sub-Saharan Africa, the rate of mortality due to protein malnutrition ranged between 25-35% on average (Rutherford and Mahanjane, 1985; Gernaat et al., 1998). In the current decade, sub-Saharan Africa is faced with the highest level of diseases associated with malnutrition in the world, as a fraction of the population, and this is increasing, whereas it is decreasing for the rest of the world (FAO, 2008). South Africa is also faced with the challenge of malnutrition, especially in the rural, tribal areas. Hence it is important to assess the available genetic pool of sorghum for nutritional quality traits such as their protein and amino acid digestibility, profile and content. Assessment of the nutritional profile of plant genotypes is essential to reduce malnutrition by breeding for improved content and composition of minerals, proteins and vitamins in crops such as sorghum (Welch and Graham, 2004; Feil et al., 2005). Knowledge of genetic and nutritional diversity can impact on conservation of sorghum genetic resources and the breeding of improved varieties (Simionuc et al., 2002).

Genetic variation in protein, mineral composition, total starch and its components was also observed among Ethiopian sorghum landraces (Shegro et al., 2012). Shegro et al. (2013) again reported nutritional diversity among a total of thirty one sorghum landraces from Western Ethiopia. Nguni et al. (2012) reported genetic and nutritional diversity among the sorghum accessions from Malawi, Tanzania, and Zambia. The authors assessed grain iron and zinc, total protein, and starch contents among the accessions, and used ten SSR markers to estimate genetic diversity. Considerable variation in minerals (Fe and Zn) was observed among cultivars, breeding lines and selected sorghum accessions (Hariprasanna et al., 2014). The results show that there is hope for enrichment of micronutrients in sorghum in order to combat malnutrition.

Mokrane et al. (2010) found differences among Algerian sorghum genotypes in protein and amino acid concentrations. Variation in amino acid profile and storage protein content was also reported among the commercial sorghum, MASSA 03, and nine ICRISAT high-lysine genotypes form India (Vendiamatti et al, 2008). Furthermore, when white sorghum hybrids

from Foggia in Italy and Kansas, USA were evaluated for chemical composition, protein and lipid content, and total amino acid, the protein content was higher in Foggia, southern Italy, than in Kansas, USA, although the grain quality was comparable between sorghums grown in this two regions (Pontieri et al., 2010). Therefore, sorghum can serve as source of essential amino acids and also potential parents with high amino acid concentrations can be selected for further breeding improvement.

1.8.1 Methods of protein and amino acid composition analysis

The amino acid composition of sorghum refers to the levels of various amino acids present in the protein fraction of grain. The amino acid profiles can be assessed by various methods such as chromatography procedures including gel filtration, ion exchange chromatography, preparative IEF, and hydrophobic interaction chromatography. However, near-infrared spectroscopy (NIR) is the most effective and non-destructive technique for analysis of quality traits such as protein and amino acid levels relative to the other techniques (Brauteseth, 2009).

1.8.1.1 Near-infrared spectroscopy

The use of near infrared spectroscopy (NIR) in the analysis of amino acid compositions has been reported in various studies (Olesen et al., 2011). Near-infrared spectroscopy is a technique that was first developed in the 1950's (Barton *et al.*, 2002). It was reported in the early 1960 as a non-destructive method that can be utilized in various ways. This technique functions with wavelengths between 750-2600 nm in which overtones and combinations of vibrations of numerous functional groups (-OH, -CH, -NH, -SH, etc) can be excited and detected. Hence, it can give information about structural and physical characteristics of biological compounds (Alexandrakis *et al.*, 2008). It is fast, cheap, accurate, and can identify multiple chemical components in sample composite matrices. It offers an uncomplicated sample presentation. Hence, it is useful for speeding up selections in breeding programmes aiming to increase quality traits and decrease toxins.

The NIR has been used for analysis of many traits in various crops (Fontaine *et al.*, 2001). Hacisalihoglu *et al.* (2010) NIR to measure the levels starch, protein, and seed dry matter in common bean. The starch and protein parameters have been estimated by NIR in potatoes. Starch content was 90% while total protein content was 62% (Haase, 2006). Schultz *et al.* (2005) analyzed carotenoids in plants using the NIR. Pedro and Ferreira (2005) reported various levels of total and insoluble solids, lycopene and β -carotene in tomato fruit. The NIR technique was also reported to be useful in the analyses of starch, ash, cellulose, total nitrogen, and total sugars in the roots and tubers such as cassava, taro, yams and

22

sweetpotato (Lebot *et al.*, 2009). The NIR technique can be used in the analysis of *trans* fatty acids of various ground cereal products (Kim and Kays, 2009). Amino acid composition can be determined in soybean using NIR (Kovalenko *et al.*, 2006). In wheat, the NIR has been calibrated for amino acids and showed useful for explaining variation of about 70-98% (Fontaine *et al.*, 2002). Delwiche *et al.* (2011) identified waxy starch in wheat using NIR analysis (high levels of amylopectin relative to amylose).

Several studies have shown the efficiency of NIR analyses when applied to sorghum. Figueiredo et al. (2006) used NIR to measure amylose, protein, and lipid contents, endosperm texture, and hardness in cultivated sorghum core collections in whole and ground grain. Hicks et al. (2002) compared whole and ground grain NIRS calibrations of sorghum genotypes and hybrids for starch, lipid, and protein content, together with protein digestibility, in two sites. NIR analysis has been reported to provide accurate and efficient measurements in the analysis of protein for nutritional value and in the labelling of seeds of a number of cereal cultivars (YoungYi et al., 2010). Fontaine et al. (2002) used NIR to evaluate protein content and amino acid composition of milled sorghum grains. The protein and starch levels were also determined in sorghum lines and single hybrids for nutritional value and the protein, which ranged from 9.43-17.7% (Pepó et al., 2011). Roberts et al. (2011) analyzed sweet sorghum bagasse for gross calorific value, in vitro true digestibility and crude protein using NIR. The correlation coefficients were above 0.9 for all analyses. Although this technique has potential for the analysis of guality traits, there is still limited information on the application of NIR in sorghum landraces for breeding purposes, in particular, in terms of developed, open source calibration models, which is essential if plant breeders are to make use of the technology.

1.8.1.2 High performance liquid chromatography

High performance liquid chromatography (HLPC) is one of the methods used for analysis of chemical constituents of plants, including proteins and amino acids. The technology is widely used because of its reliability, the high level of reproducibility, and the low detection limits that HPLC offers (Breithaupt, 2004). However, this method requires a long process of sample preparation, and extraction of the desired pigments, which may be attached to other fractions in the plants that can mask the authentic content (Schulz *et al.*, 2005). The use of HPLC has been reported in the analysis of sorghum (Taylor *et al.*, 2007). Loerger *et al.* (2007) studied the variation in proteins of vitreous and flowery sorghum endosperm using HPLC methods. Mokrane *et al.* (2009) characterized the primary sorghum proteins, kafirins, using a combination of SDS-PAGE, SE-HPLC, and RP-HPLC, as found in various sorghum genotypes and concluded that sorghum could be an excellent source of amino acids and

protein, if the problems of amino acid profile, and digestibility of proteins, could be solved. El Nourf *et al* (1998) classified sorghum kafirins in relation to cross linking behaviour. Dykesa *et al*. (2011) reported other quality traits in lemon-yellow sorghum genotypes grown in two locations. Although several studies have reported the use of HLPC for analysis of protein and amino acid composition, the HPLC method can be time consuming and expensive when large collections require analysis for quality traits in plant breeding programmes.

1.9 Participatory rural appraisal: farmer production constraints and variety preference

Participatory rural appraisal (PRA) is one of the effective tools for attempting to solve farmer's local concerns through involvement of community members, understanding their situation and learning from them, usually using an interdisciplinary team of researchers (Blaney and Thibault, 2003). The PRA involves engaging with community members/farmers, both individually and in groups, and with sector representation, whereby the views and concerns of farmers and concerned parties are expressed and recorded. The presentation and analysis of information of the PRA is done in a relaxed manner in contrast to other methods such as rapid rural appraisal (RRA) (Chambers, 1992). It emphasizes local knowledge, empowerment and sustainability of natural resource, agricultural, health, social or other issues (Chambers, 1997). It has been used mainly by NGO's and government officials in developing countries in the past 25 years (Cornwall *et al.*, 2001). It can also be a first step in participatory plant breeding, which tends to encourage widespread and significant adoption of new varieties (Cecarralli *et al.*, 2003).

The PRA technique maybe applied in various sectors, including the agricultural sector. It has been used to determine the challenges farmers face in the development and production of crops of interest and also the preferences of traits of interest they may have. Bucheyeki *et al.* (2011) reported that the major rice production constraints in Tanzania included the lack of improved varieties, the susceptibility of landraces to diseases, the unavailability of seeds, frequent drought, and high input prices. In Ghana, most important sorghum production constraints have been reported to be poor soils, erratic rainfall and pest infestation of the grain during storage (Kudadjie *et al.*, 2004). The PRA technique has also been used to solicit farmers' views on crops such as banana, where farmers preferred varieties that produced heavy bunches, with resistance to pests and diseases, tolerance to drought, and which were fast maturing, with good quality traits (Bareke *et al.*, 2009). In root crops such as sweet potato farmers preferred sweet taste, high yield, early maturity good storability, high dry mass, less fibrous, leaves that make good vegetable stews, and resistance to pests and

24

diseases (Chiona, 2009). In cassava, the preferences of farmers were for high yield, pest and disease tolerance, sweetness, high dry matter content, and cultivars that cooked well and were marketable and which could be stored for a long time without rotting (Mtunda, 2009). In cereals such as maize, farmers preferred affordable seeds, high yield, early maturity, and low input costs (Sibiya, 2009), whereas with rice, traits such as large grain size, good aroma, early maturity and high yield were the preferred by farmers (Singh et al., 2004; Lamo, 2009). Odendo *et al.* (2002) solicited farmers' views on the selection of maize varieties that they planted, and reported that earliness and high yield were the most important traits to farmers. More information on other cereal crops through participation of farmers is still required to ensure that when new varieties are developed, widely adopted by farmers because they meet the selection criteria of the farmers (Sperling *et al.*, 1993).

Sorghum is of regional importance as a staple food in South Africa. The sorghum growers in the Limpopo province are both small and large scale farmers. The province is considered to be the centre of sorghum genetic diversity in South Africa. To enhance sorghum breeding it is necessary to understand farmer's objectives and requirements (Kudadjie et al., 2004). Farmer's and end user's involvement in research usually enhance the chances of adoption of new varieties (Danial, 2003). This is because they can specify the type of sorghum material they prefer, also have their own selection criteria (vom Brocke et al., 2010). Local varieties are an important source of germplasm in plant breeding programmes due to presence of traits preferred by farmers and because of their local adaptation (Danial et al., 2007). For instance, farmers in the Lake Zone of Tanzania prefer sorghum varieties on the basis of color and taste of sorghum ugali (Mafuru et al., 2007). Makanda (2009) conducted participatory rural appraisal (PRA) in Zimbabwe and South Africa on their preferences for sweet stem sorghum. He determined that farmers preferred high yielding and early to intermediate sorghum varieties with improved stem sugar content. Mekbib (2007) used a PRA to classify and characterise sorghum genotypes. Rana et al. (2000) reported farmer desired characteristics including high yield, quality of both grain and fodder, bold and lustrous grains, and resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses. Nkongolo et al. (2008) documented farmers' indigenous knowledge of the major traits of sorghum landraces. They found that farmers had selected landraces that were superior to existing varieties. Farmers in Ethiopia preferred sorghum varieties that are drought tolerant, resistant to Striga, and which produced good quality grain (Gebretsadik et al., 2014). However, there have been no studies based on the use of the PRA method to evaluate sorghum production constraints, and the trait preferences in sorghum varieties preferred by farmers, millers, breeders, and end-users in South Africa.

1.10 Summary

Sorghum is grown in various environments around the world, often in dry environments where other crops do not yield reliably. Many genotypes of this crop are grown by farmers to meet a variety of purposes, in particular as a staple food, and for brewing traditional beer. Most genotypes grown today by small-scale farmers in South Africa are landraces. These are important as germplasm for conservation, and as a source of genes for the improvement of traits of interest in sorghum breeding programmes. Hence the landraces need to be characterised using phenotypic and genotypic methods including analyses for their nutritional quality. Understanding the agronomic and quality traits preferred by farmers, end user's, and other stakeholders is essential for the establishment of appropriate breeding goals for new sorghum varieties. This can be achieved with the use of participatory rural appraisal.

1.11 References

- Abakemal, D., G. Watson, H. Shimelis, J. Derera and T. Afriyie. 2012. Comparison of two PCR-based DNA markers with high resolution melt analysis for the detection of genetic variability in selected quality protein maize inbred lines. African Journal of Agricultural Research 7(42):5692-5700.
- Abdel-Fatah, B.E., E.A. Ali, A.A.T. El-Din, and E.M. Hessein. 2013. Genetic diversity among Egyptian sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench) landraces in agro-morphological traits and molecular markers. Asian Journal of Crop Science 5:106-124.
- Abdi, A., E. Bekele, Z. Asfaw, and A. Teshome. 2002. Patterns of morphological variation of sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] landraces in qualitative characters in North Shewa and South Welo Ethiopia. Hereditas 137:161-172.

ABS. 2009. Africa Biofortified Sorghum Project. DOI: http://biosorghum.org/.

- Acquaah, G. 2007. Principles of Plant Genetics and Breeding. 1st ed. Blackwell, Malden, USA.
- Adetiloye, I. S.; O.J. Ariyo, C.O. Alake, O.O. Oduwaye, and S.O. Osewa. 2013. Genetic diversity of some selected Nigeria cowpea using simple sequence repeats (SSR) marker. African Journal of Agricultural Research 8(7):586-590.
- Agrama H.A. and M.R. Tuinstra. 2003. Phylogenetic diversity and relationships among sorghum accessions using SSRs and RAPDs. African Journal of Biotechnology 2(10):334-340.
- Alexandrakis, D., G. Downey, and A.G. Scannell. 2008. Detection and identification of bacteria in an isolated system with near-infrared spectroscopy and multivariate analysis. Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry 56:3431-3437.
- Arya, L., G.S. Sandhia, S.K. Singh., M.K. Rana, and S.S. Malik. 2006. Analysis of Indian Sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] cultivars and lines using RAPD markers. Journal of Plant Biochemistry and Biotechnology 15:97-101.
- Ashok, K.A., B.V.S. Reddy, K.L. Sahrawat, and B. Ramaiah. 2010. Combating micronutrient malnutrition: Identification of commercial sorghum cultivars with high grain iron and zinc. Journal of SAT Agricultural Research 8:1-5.
- Assefa, A.B. 2012. Genetic diversity analysis of lowland sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] landraces under moisture stress conditions and breeding for drought tolerance in North Eastern Ethiopia African Centre for Crop Improvement. PhD thesis, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa.
- Axtell, J.D., S.W. Van Scoyoc, P.J. Christensen, and G. Ejeta. 1979. Current status of protein quality improvement in grain sorghum. p. 357 Seed Protein Improvement in Cereals and Grain Legumes. IAEA, Vienna.
- Ayana, A., E. Beckele, and T. Bryngelsson. 2002. Genetic variation in wild sorghum (Sorghum bicolor) Ssp. verticilliflorum (L.) Moench) germplasm from Ethiopia assessed by Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA (RAPD). Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution 45:499-510.
- Ayongwa, G.C., T.J. Stomph, A.M. Emechebe, and T.W. Kuyer. 2006. Root nitrogen concentration of sorghum above 2% produces least *Striga hermonthica* seed stimulation. Annals of Applied Biology 149:255-262.
- Ayres, N.M., A.M. McClung, P.D. Larkin, H.F.J. Bligh, C.A. Jones, and W.D. Park. 1997. Microsatellites and a single-nucleotide polymorphism differentiate apparent amylose classes in an extended pedigree of US rice germplasm. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 94:773-781.
- Azevedo, R.A., L. M., and P.J. Lea. 2006. The aspartic acid metabolic pathway, an exciting and essential pathway in plants. Amino Acids 30:143-162.
- Bareke, A., P. Tongoona, J. Derera, and M.D. Laing. 2009. *In*: B. I.H. and M. D. Laing (ed.)
 African Centre for Crop Improvement. Literature Reviews. Participatory Rural
 Appraisals. 2009 Year Book. University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg,
 KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa.

- Barton, F.E.I., D.E. Akin, W.H. Morrison, A. Ulrich, and D.D. Archibald. 2002. Analysis of fibre content in flax stems by near-infrared spectroscopy. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 56:7576-7580.
- Beyene, A., H. Shimelis, P. Tongoona, D. Laing, and F. Mengistu. 2014. Genetic variation in lowland sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) landraces assessed by simple sequence repeats. Plant Genetic Resources: Characterization and Utilization 12: 1-11. DOI:10.1017/S1479262114000744.
- Bhattramakki, D., J. Dong, A.K. Chhabra, and G.E. Hart. 2000. An itegrated SSR and RFLP linkage map of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. Genome 43:988-1002.
- Bhosale, S.U., B. Stich, H.F.W. Rattunde, E. Weltzien, B.I.G. Haussmann, C.T. Hash, A.E.
 Melchinger, and H.K. Parzies. 2011. Population structure in sorghum accessions from Wesst Africa differing in race and maturity class. Genetica 139:453-463.
- Blair, M.W., and S.R. McCough. 1997. Microsatellites and sequence tagged site markers diagnostic for the bacterial blight resistance gene, *xa-5*. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 95:174-184.
- Blaney, S., and M. Thibault. 2003. Adapting PRA to protected area management in Central Africa. PLA Notes 47:33-47.
- Blum, A. 2011. Drought tolerance and its improvement. p. 53-137. *In*: A. Blum (ed.) Plant breeding for water-limited environments. Springer Science and Business Media, New York, USA.
- Brauteseth, E.M. 2009. The mutagenesis of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench towards improved nutrition and agronomic performance. MSc dissertation, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg.
- Breithaupt, D.E. 2004. Simultaneous HPLC determination of carotenoids used as food coloring additives: applicability of accelerated solvent extraction. Food Chemistry 86:449-456.
- Brown, S.M., M.S. Hopkins, S.E. Mitchell, M.L. Senior, T.Y. Wang, R.R. Duncan, F. Gonalez-Candelas, and S. Kresovich. 1996. Multiple methods for identification of polymorphic simple sequence repeats (SSRs) in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 93:190-198.
- Bucheyeki, T.L., E. Shennkalwa, D. Kadadi, and J. Lobulu. 2011. Assessment of rice production constraints and farmers preferences in Nzega and Igunga Districts. Journal of Advances in Developmental Research 2:30-37.
- Cadee, N. 2000. Ecological Aspects of Stress Resistance in the Barn Swallow, *Hirundo rustica.* University of Paris, VI, Paris, France.
- Cecarralli, S., S. Grando, M. Michel, A. Shiko, M.A. Issa, A.A. Saleh, G. Kaleonjy, S.M. Al ghanem, A.L. Hasan, H. Dala, S. Basha, and T. Basha. 2003. A methodological

study on participatory barley breeding. II Response to selection. Euphytica 133:185-200.

- Chambers, R. 1992. Rapid but relaxed and participatory rural appraisal: Towards applications in health and nutrition. Chapter 24. Rapid Asessment Procedures-Qualitative Methodologies for Planning and Evaluation of Health Related Programmes. International Nutrition Foundation for Developing Countries. Boston, Massachusetts, USA.
- Chambers, R. 1997. Whose Reality Counts? Putting the First Last. Intermediate Technology Publications, Boston, Massachusetts, USA.
- Chen, X., S. Temnykh, Y. Xu, Y.G. Cho, and S.R. McCough. 1997. Development of microsatellite framework map providing genome-wide coverage in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 95:553-567.
- Chiona, M. 2009. Towards enhancement of b-carotene content of high dry mass sweetpotato genotypes in Zambia. PhD thesis, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa.
- Chowdari, K.V., A.P. Davierwala, V.S. Gupta, P.K. Ranjekar, and O.P. Govila. (1998a). Genotype identification and assessment of genetic relationships in pearl millet [*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R. Br] using microsatellites and RAPDs. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 97:154-162.
- Chowdari, K.V., S.R. Venkatachalam, A.P. Davierwala, V.S. Gupta, P.K. Ranjekar, and O.P. Govila (1998b). Hybrid performance and genetic distance as revealed by the (GATA)4 microsatellite and RAPD markers in pearl millet. Theoetical and Applied Genetics 97:163-169.
- Ciofi, C., S.M. Funk, and T. Coote. 1998. Genotyping with microsatellite markers. p. 195-201. *In*: A. Karp, et al. (ed.) Molecular Tools for Screening Biodiversity: Plants and Animals. Chapman and Hall, London.
- Cornwall, A., S. Musyoki, and G. Pratt. 2001. In search of a new impetus: Practitioners' reflections on PRA and participation in Kenya. IDS working paper 131, Institute of Development Studies. University of Sussex, Brighton (UK).
- Croxford, A.E., T. Rogers, P.D.S. Caligari, and M.J. Wilkinson. 2008. High-resolution melt analysis to identify and map sequence-tagged site anchor points onto linkage maps: a white lupin (*Lupinus albus*) map as an exemplar. New Phytologist 180:594-607.
- Dahlberg, J.A., X. Zhang, G.E. Hart, and J.E. Mullet. 2002. Comparative assessment of variation among sorghum germplasm accessions using seed morphology and RAPD measurements. Crop Science 42:291-296.

- Danial, D., J. Parlvliet, C. Almekinders, and G. Thiele. 2007. Farmers' participation and breeding for durable disease resistance in the Andean region. Euphytica 153:385-396.
- Danial, D.L. 2003. Aprendiendo de la investigacion participativa con agricultores: Caso Preduza, p. 86-96 In: D. L. Danial (ed.) Agrobiodiversidad y Produccion de Semilla con el Sector Informal a Traves del Mejoramiento Participativo an la Zona Andina. Lima, Peru.
- De Koeyer, D., K. Douglass, A. Murphy, S. Whitney, L. Nolan, Y. Song, and W. De Jong. 2010. Application of high-resolution DNA melting for genotyping and variant scanning of diploid and autotetraploid potato. Molecular Breeding 25:67-90.
- De Leeneer, K., I. Coene, B. Poppe, A. De Paepe, and K. Claes. 2008. Rapid and sensitive detection of BRCA1/2 mutations in a diagnostic setting: comparison of two high-resolution melting platforms. Clinical Chemistry 54(6):982-989.
- Delwiche, S.R., R.A. Graybosch, P. St. Amand, and G. Bai. 2011. Starch waxiness in hexaploid wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) by NIR reflectance spectroscopy. Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry 59:4002-4008.
- Dje, Y., M. Heuertz, C. Lefèbvre, and X. Vekemans. 2000. Assessment of genetic diversity within and among germplasm accessions in cultivated sorghum using microsatellite markers. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 100:918-925.
- Dje, Y., D. Forcioli, M. Ater, C. Lefebvre, and X. Vekemans. 1999. Assessing population genetic structure of sorghum landraces from North-western Morocco using allozyme and microsatellite markers. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 99:157-163.
- Dogget, H.D. 1988. Sorghum. 2nd ed. Longman Group UK, Green and Co. Ltd, London, Harlow, England.
- Duodu, K.G., J.R.N. Taylor, P.S. Belton, and B.R. Hamaker. 2003. Factors affecting sorghum protein digestibility. Journal of Cereal Science 38:117-131.
- Dykesa, L., G.C. Petersonb, W.L. Rooney, and L.W. Rooney. 2011. Flavonoid composition of lemon-yellow sorghum genotypes. Food Chemistry 128:173-179
- Echt, C.S., L.L. DeVerno, M. Anzidei, and G.G. Vendramin. 1998. Chloroplast microsatellites reveal population genetic diversity in red pine, *Pinus resinosa* Ait. Molecular Ecology 7:1633-1643.
- Ehret, C. 1988. Language change and the material correlates of language and shift. Antiquity 62:564-573.
- El-Way, M., S.Y. Sawsan, E.E.M. Selim, and M.G. Marwa. 2008. Genetic diversity among Sorghum bicolor genotypes using simple sequence repeats (SSRs) markers. Arab Journal of Biotechnology 11:181-192.

- El Nourf, I.N.A., A.D. Peruffo, and A. Curionif. 1998. Characterisation of sorghum kafirins in relation to their cross-linking behaviour. Journal of Cereal Science 28:197-207.
- FAO. 2008. The State of Food Insecurity in the World: High Food Prices and Food Security -Threats and Opportunities. FAO, Rome, Italy.
- FAO. 2010. The State of Food Insecurity In The World. Addressing Food Insecurity In Protracted Crises. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- Feil, B., S.B. Moser, S. Jampangton, and P. Stamp. 2005. Mineral composition of the grains of tropical maize varieties as affected by pre-anthesis drought and rate of nitrogen fertilization. Crop Science 45:516-523.
- Ferreira, R.R., L.W. Meinhardt, and R.A. Azevedo. 2006. Lysine and threonine biosynthesis in sorghum seeds: Charcterisation of aspartate kinase and homoserine dehydrogenase isoenzymes. Annals of Applied Biology 149:77-86.
- Ferreira, R.R., V.A. Varisi, L.W. Meinhardt, P.J. Lea, and R.A. Azevedo. 2005. Are high lysine cereal crops still a challenge? Brazillian Journal of Medical and Biological Research 38:985-994.
- Figueiredo, L.F.D.A., F. Davrieux, G. Flidel, J. F. Rami, J. Chantereau, M. Deu, B. Courtois, and C. Mestres. 2006. Development of NIRS equations for food grain quality traits through exploitation of a core collection of cultivated sorghum. Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry 54:8501-8509.
- Folkertsma, R.T., H. Frederick, W. Ratunnde, S. Chandra, G.S. Raju, and C.T. Hash. 2005. The pattern of genetic diversity of guinea-race *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench landraces ass revealed with SSR markers. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 111:399-409.
- Fontaine, J., J. Horr, and B. Schirmer. 2001. Near-Infrared Reflectance Spectroscopy enables the fast and accurate prediction of the essential amino acid contents in soy, rapeseed meal, sunflower meal, peas, fishmeal, meat meal products, and poultry meal. Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry 49:57-66.
- Fontaine, J., B. Schirmer, and J. Hörr. 2002. Near-Infrared Reflectance Spectroscopy (NIRS) enables the fast and accurate prediction of essential amino acid contents. 2. Results for wheat, barley, corn, triticale, wheat bran/middlings, rice bran, and sorghum. Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry 50:3902-3911.
- Ganesamurthy, K., D. Punitha, and M. Elangovan. 2010. Genetic diversity among the land races of sorghum collected in Tamil Nadu. Electronic Journal of Plant Breeding 1:1375-1379.

- Ganopoulos, I., A. Argiriou, and A. Tsaftaris. 2011. Microsatellite high resolution melting (SSR-HRM) analysis for authenticity testing of protected designation of origin (PDO) sweet cherry products. Food Control 22(3-4):532-541.
- Ganopoulos, I., I. Bosmali, P. Madesis, and A. Tsaftaris. 2012. Microsatellite genotyping with HRM (Hihg resolution melting) analysis for identification of the PGI common bean variety Plake Megalosperma Prespon. European Food Research and Technology.234:501-508.
- Gebretsadik, R., H. Shimelis, M.D. Laing, P. Tongoona, and N. Mandefro. 2014. A diagnostic appraisal of the sorghum farming system and breeding priorities in *Striga* infested agr-ecologies of Ethiopia. Agricultural Systems 123:54-61.
- Geleta, N., and M.T. Labuschagne. 2005. Qualitative traits variation in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) germplasm from eastern highlands of Ethiopia. Biodiversity and Conservation 14:3055-3064.
- Geleta, N., M.T. Labuschagne, and C.D. Viljoen. 2006. Genetic diversity analysis in sorghum germplasm as estimated by AFLP, SSR and morpho-agronomical markers. Biodiversity and Conservation 15:3251-3265.
- Gernaat, G.B., W.H. Dechering, and W.H. Voorhoeve. 1998. Mortality in severe proteinenergy malnutrition at Nchelenge, Zambia. Journal of Tropical Pediatrics 44:211-217.
- Haaland, R. 1995. Sedetism, cultivation, and plant domestication in the Holocene middle Nile region. Journal of Archeological Revolution 22:157-174.
- Haase, N.U. 2006. Rapid estimation of potato tuber quality by nearinfrared spectroscopy. Starch 58:268-273.
- Hacisalihoglu, G., B. Larbi, and A.M. Settles. 2010. Near-Infrared Reflectance Spectroscopy predicts protein, starch, and seed weight in intact seeds of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry 58:702-706.
- Han, Z., W. JianCheng, W. DongJian, Y. FengXia, X. JinFang, S. GuoAn, G. YanAn, and L.
 RuYu. 2011. Assessment of genetic diversity in Chinese sorghum landraces using SSR markers as compared to foreign accessions. Acta Agronomica 37:224-234.
- Hariprasanna, K., V. Agte, M. Elangovan, and J.V. Patil. 2014. Genetic variability for grain iron and zinc content in cultivars, breeding lines and selected germplasm accessions of sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Indian Journal of Genetics 74:42-49.
- Harlan, J. 1989. The tropical African cereals. p. 335-343. *In*: D. R. Harris and G. C. Hillman (ed.) Foraging and Farming The Evolution Of Plant Exploitation. Unwin Hyman, London.
- Harlan, J.R., and J.M.J.D. Wet. 1972. A simplified classification of cultivated sorghum. Crop Science 12:127-176.

- Haussmann, B.I.G., D.E. Hess, H.G. Welz, and H.H. Geiger. 2000. Improved methodologies for breeding *Striga*-resistant sorghums. Field Crops Research 66:195-211.
- Helm, C.V., A. De Francisco, S.A. Gaziola, R.F. Fornazier, G.B. Pompeu, and R.A. Azevedo.
 2004. Hull-less barley varieties:storage proteins and amino acid distribution in relation to nutritional quality. Food Biotechnology 18:327-241.
- Hicks, C., M.R. Tuinstra, J.F. Pedersen, F.E. Dowell, and K.D. Kofoid. 2002. Genetic analysis of feed and seed weight of sorghum inbred lines and hybrids using analytical methods and NIRS. Euphytica 127:31-40.
- Hoveland, C.S. 1980. Crop Quality, Storage, And Utilization. American Society of Agronomy. Crop Science of America, Inc., Madison. Wisconsin.
- Huang, X.Q., M. Wolf, M.W. Ganal, S. Orford, R.M.D. Koebner, and M.S. Roder. 2007. Did modern plant breeding lead genetic erosion in European winter wheat varieties? Crop Science 47:343-349.
- Huang, Y. 2004. Evaluation of genetic diversity in sorghum germplasm using molecular markers. International Plant and Animal Genome IIX Conference, San Diego, CA.
- Hulse, J.H., E.M. Laing, and O.E. Pearson. 1980. Sorghum And The Millets: Their Composition And Nutritive Value. Academic Press, London.
- IBPGR, and ICRISAT. 1993. Descriptors for Sorghum [Sorghum bicolar (L) Moench]. International Board for Plant Genetic Resources. Rome, Italy. International Crop Research Institute for the Semi- Arid Tropics, Patancheru, India.
- Khanna-Chopra, R., and S.K. Sinha. 1988. Enhancement of drought induced senescence by the reproductive sink in fertile lines of wheat and sorghum. Annals of Botany 61:649-653.
- Kim, Y., and S.E. Kays. 2009. Near-Infrared (NIR) Prediction of trans-fatty acids in ground cereal foods. Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry 57: 8187-8193.
- Kimani, P.M., F. Wachira, E.K. Cheruiyot, J. Owuoche, and E. Kimani. 2014. Genetic diversity of African sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) accessions based on microsatellite markers. Australian Journal of Crop Science 8:171-177.
- Kimber, C.T. 2000. Origins of domesticated sorghum and its early diffusion to India and China. p. 3-98. *In*: W. C. Smith and R. A. Frederiksen (ed.) Sorghum. John Wiley, New York.
- Kingston-Smith, A.H., A.L. Bollard, and F.R. Minchin. 2006. The effect of nitrogen status on the regulation of plant-mediated proteolysis in ingested forage: An assessment using non-nodulating white clover. Annals of Applied Biology 149:35-42.
- Kong, L., J. Dong, and G.E. Hart. 2000. Characteristics, linkage-map positions, and allelic differentiation of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench DNA simple-sequence repeats (SSRs). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 101:438-448.

- Kotal, B.D., A. Das, and B.K. Choudhury. 2010. Genetic variability and association of characters in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Asian Journal of Crop Science 2:155-160.
- Kovalenko, I.V., G. R. Rippke, and C.R. Hurbugh. 2006. Determination of amino acid composition of soybeans (*Glycine max*) by near-infrared spectroscopy. Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry 54:3485-3491.
- Kudadjie, C.Y., P.C. Struik, P. Richards, and S.K. Offei. 2004. Assessing production constraints, management and use of sorghum diversity in north-east Ghana: a diagnostic study. Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science 52-3:371-391.
- Kumar, N.S., and G. Gurusubramanian. 2011. Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers and its applications. Science Vision 11(3):116-124.
- Lamo, J. 2009. Genetic studies on drought tolerance and grain shattering in rice. PhD Thesis. University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa.
- Lea, P.J., and R.A. Azevedo. 2006. Nitrogen use efficiency. 1.Uptake of nitrogen from the soil. Annals of Applied Biology 149:243-247.
- Lebot, V., A. Champagne, R. Malapa, and D. Shiley. 2009. NIR Determination of Major Constituents in Tropical Root and Tuber Crop Flours. Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry 57:10539-10547.
- Lehemensiek, A., A.W. Campbell, P.M. Wlliamson, M. Michalowitz, M.W. Sutherland, and G.E. Daggard. 2004. QTLs for black-point resistance in wheat and the identification of potential markers for use in breeding programmes. Plant Breeding 123:410-416.
- Li, Y.C., T. Fahima, J.H. Peng, M.S. Roder, V.M. Kirzhner, A. Beiles, and E. Nevo. 2000. Edaphic microsatellite DNA divergence in wild emmer wheat, *Triticum dicocoides*, at a microsite: Tagigha, Israel. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 101:1029-1038.
- Loerger, B., S.R. Bean, M. R. Tuinstra, J. F. Pedersen, J. Erprlding, K. M. Lee, and T.J. Herrmn. 2007. Characterization of polymeric proteins from vitreous and floury sorghum endosperm. Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry 55:10232-10239.
- Mackay, J.F., C.D. Wright, and I.R.G. Bonfigliol. 2008. A new approach to varietal identification in plants by microsatellite high resolution melting analysis: application to the verification of grapevine and olive cultivars. Plant Methods 4:8-17.
- Mafuru, J.M., D.W. Norman, and J.S. Fox. 2007. Consumer Perception of Sorghum Variety Attributes in the Lake Zone Tanzania. African Association of Agricultural Economists. Advancing Technical Change in Agriculture 173, Accra, Ghana. p. 171-176.
- Makanda, I. 2009. Combining Ability and heterosis for stem sugar traits and grain yield components in dual-purpose sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench) germplasm. PhD thesis, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa.

- Mann, J.A., C.T. Kimber, and F.R. Miller. 1983. The origin and early cultivation of sorghums in Africa. Texas Agricultural Experiment Station. Bullet 1454., Texas A&M University. College Station, TX.
- Maughan, P.J., M.A. Saghai-Maroof, and G.R. Buss. 1995. Microsatellite and amplified sequence length polymorphisms in cultivated and wild soyabean. Genome 38:715-723.
- McLaren, N.W., and E. Smit. 1996. Sorghum Diseases in South Africa. Agricultural Research Council-Grain Crops Institute, Potchefstroom.
- McGregor, C.E., C.A. Lambert, M.N. Greyling, J.H. Louw, and L. Warnich. 2000. A comparative assessment of DNA fingerprinting techniques (RAPD, ISSR, AFLP and SSR) in tetraploid potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) germplasm. Euphytica 113:135-144.
- Meadow, R.H. 1996. The origin and spread of agriculture and pastoralism in north-western South Asia. p. 390-412. *In*: D. R. Harris (ed.) The Origins and Spread of Agricultural and Pastoralism in Eurasia. UCL Press, London.
- Mehmood, S., A. Bashir, A. Ahmad, Z. Akram, N. Jabeen, and M. Gulfraz. 2008. Molecular characterisation of regional sorghum bicolor varieties from pakistan. Pakistan Journal of Botany 40:2015-2021.
- Mekbib, F. 2007. Infra-specific folk taxonomy in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) in Ethiopia: folk nomenclature, classification, and criteria. Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine 3:38.
- Menkir, A., P. Goldsbrough, and G. Ejeta. 1997. RAPD based assessment of genetic diversity in cultivated races of sorghum. Crop Scence 37:564-569.
- Menz, M.A., R.R. Klein, N.C. Unruh, W.L. Rooney, P.E. Klein, and J.E. Mullet. 2004. Genetic diversity of public inbreds of sorghum determined by mapped AFLP and SSR markers. Crop Science 44:1236-1244.
- Mertz, E.T., L.S. Bates, and O.E. Nelson. 1964. Mutant gene that changes protein composition and increase lysine content of maize endosperm. Science 145:279-280.
- Millward, D.J. 1999. The nutrional value of plant based diets in relation to human amino acid and protein requirements. Proceedings of the Nutritional Society 58:249-260.
- Mofokeng, M.A., G. Watson, H. Shimelis, and P. Tongoona. 2012. Comparison between random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers with high resolution melt analyses in genetic variation analysis among selected sorghum genotypes. African Journal of Biotechnology 11(102):16697-16707.
- Mohammadi, S.A., and B.M. Prasanna. 2003. Analysis of genetic diversity in crop plants. Salient statistical tools and considerations. Crop Science 43:1235-1248.

- Mohan, D.D., and J.D. Axtell. 1975. Diethyl sulphate-induced high lysine mutants in sorghum. *In*: G. Ejeta (ed.) Proceedings of 9th Biennial Sorghum Conference, Texas.
- Mokrane, H., H. Amoura, N. Belhaneche-Bensemra, C.M. Courtin, J.A. Delcour, and B. Nadjemi. 2010. Assessment of Algerian sorghum protein quality [*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench] using amino acid analysis and in vitro pepsin digestability. Food Chemistry 121:719-723.
- Mokrane, H., B. Lagrain, K. Gebruers, C.M. Courtin, K. Brijs, P. Proost, and J.A. Delcour. 2009. Characterisation of kafirins in Algerian sorghum cultivars. Cereal Chemistry 86:487-491.
- Monyo, E.S., G. Ejata, W.E. Nyquist, and J.D. Axtell. 1988. Combining ability of high lysine sorghum lines derived from P-721 opaque. Crop Science 28:70-75.
- Moussa, I., and S.M. Abdel-Aziz. 2008. Comparative response of drought tolerant and drought sensitive maize genotypes to water stress. Australian Journal of Crop Science 1:31.
- Mtunda, K.J. 2009. Breeding, evaluation and selection of cassava for high starch content and yield in Tanzania. PhD thesis, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa.
- Muleo, R., M. C. Colao, D. Miano, M. Cirilli, M.C. Intrieri, L. Baldoni, and E. Rugini. 2009. Mutation scanning and genotyping by highresolution DNA melting analysis in olive germplasm. Genome 52:252-260.
- Murdock, G., P. 1959. Staple subsistence crops of Africa. Geographical Review 50:521-540.
- Mutegi, E., F. Sagnard, M. Muraya, B. Kanyenji, B. Rono, C. Mwongera, C. Marangu, J. Kamau, H. Parzies, S. de Villiers, K. Semagn, P.S. Traore, and M. Labuschagne. 2009. Ecogeographical distribution of wild, weedy and cultivated *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench in Kenya: implications for conservation and crop-to-wild gene flow. Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution 57:243-253.
- Naidoo, R., G. Watson, P. Tongoona, J. Derera, and M. Laing. 2013. Development of a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) marker for detection of the low phytic acid (lpa1-1) gene used during maize breeding. African Journal of Biotechnology 12:892-900.
- Nelson, O.E., E.T. Mertz, and L.S. Bates. 1965. Second mutant gene affecting the amino acid pattern of maize endosperm proteins. Science 150:1469-1470.
- Ngugi, K., and R. Maswili. 2010. Phenotypic diversity in sorghum landraces from Kenya. African Crop Science Journal 18:165-173.

- Ngugi, K., and C.M. Onyango. 2012. Analysis of the molecular diversity of Kenyan sorghum germplasm using microsatellites. Journal of Crop Science and Biotechnology 15:189-194.
- Nguni, D., M. Geleta, P. Hofvander, M. Faith, and T. Bryngelsson. 2012. Comparative genetic diversity and nutritional quality variation among some important Southern African sorghum accessions [*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench]. Australian Journal of Crop Science 6:56-64.
- Njoku, D. N.; C.N. Egesi, E. Okogbenin, E.V. Gracen, I. Asante, and S. Offei. 2013. Assessment of genetic diversity in cassava based on SSR markers and morphological characters. Journal of Sustainable Agriculture and the Environment 14(1/2):1-16.
- Nkongolo, K.K., L. Chinthu, M. Malusi, and Z. Vokhiwa. 2008. Participatory variety selection and characterisation of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) elite accessions from Malawian genepool using farmer and breeder knowledge. African Journal of Agricultural Research 3:273-283.
- Odendo, M., H.D. Groote, O. Odongo, and P. Oucho. 2002. Participatory Rural Appraisal Of Farmers' Maize Selection Criteria And Perceived Roduction Constraints in the Moist Mid-altitude Zone of Kenya. CIMMYT and KARI., Nairobi, Kenya.
- Olesen, M.H., N. Shetty, R. Gislum, and B. Boelt. 2011. Classification of viable and nonviable spinach (*Spinacia oleracea* L.) seeds by single seed near infrared spectroscopy and extended canonical variates analysis. Journal of Near Infrared Spectroscopy 19:171–180
- Oria, M.P., B.R. Hamaker, J.D. Axtel, and C.P. Huang. 2000. A highly digestible sorghum mutant cultivar exhibits a unique folded structure of endosperm protein bodies Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA 7(10):5065-5070.
- Park, S.W., S.J. An, H.B. Yang, J.K. Kwon, and B.C. Kang. 2009. Optimization of high resolution melting analysis and discovery of single nucleotide polymorphism in *Capsicum*. Horticultural and Environmental Biotechnology 50:31-39.
- Pedro, A. M. K., and M.M.C. Ferreira. 2007. Simultaneously calibrating solids, sugars and acidity of tomato products using PLS2 and NIR spectroscopy. Analytica Chimica Acta 595(1-2): 221-227.
- Pepó, P., É. Erdei, H. Kovács-Oskolás, S. Tóth, and E. Szabó. 2011. Examination of the nutritional values of inbred sorghum lines and their single cross sorghum hybrids. Növénytermelés 60:83-95.
- Pompeu, G.B., A. Vendemiati, P.L. Gratao, S.A. Gaziola, P.J. Lea, and R.A. Azevedo. 2006. Saccharopine dehydrogenase activity in the high-lysine opaque and floury maize mutants. Food Biotechnology 20:55-64.

- Pontieri, P., A. Di Maro, R. Tamburino, M. De Stefano, M. Tilley, S.R. Bean, E. Roemer, P. De Vita, P. Alifano, L. Del Giudice, and D.R. Massardo. 2010. Chemical composition of selected food-grade sorghum varieties grown under typical mediterra ean conditions. Maydica 55:139-143.
- Powell, W., G. Machray, and J. Provan. 1996. Polymorphism revealed by simple sequence repeats. Trends in Plant Science 1:215-222.
- Prasad, R. 2010. Zinc biofortification of food grains in relation to food security and alleviation of zinc malnutrition. Current Science 98:1300-1304.
- Press, M.C., and G.R. Steward. 1987. Growth and photosynthesis in *Sorghum bicolor* infected with *Striga asiatica*. Annals of Botany 60:657-662.
- Punitha, D., K. Ganesamurthy, and S. Rajarathinam. 2010. Metrogyl analysis of morphological variations in sorghum germplasm collections. Electronic Journal of Plant Breeding 1:536-541.
- Rajput, C.B., S.P. Mehtre, D.N. Damse, and B.P. Kadam. 2012. Assessement of genetic diversity of sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] using SSR markers. Advances in Plant Sciences 25:95-102.
- Rakshit, S., S.S. Gomashe, K.N. Ganapathy, M. Elangovan, C.V. Ratnavathi, N. Seetharama, and J.V. Patil. 2012. Morphological and molecular diversity reveal wide variability among sorghum Maldandi landraces from India. Journal of Plant Biochemistry and Biotechnology 21:145-156.
- Rana, B.S., S.L. Kaul, C. Appaji, Prabhakar, K. Shetty, B.V.S. Reddy, J. R. Witcombe, and D.S. Virk. 2000. Participatory varietal selection in rabi sorghum in India. The International conference on participatory plant breeding and plant genetic research, Pokhara, Nepal.
- Rao, S.A., K.E. P. Rao, M.H. Mengesha, and V.G. Reddy. 1996. Morphological diversity in sorghum from India. Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution 43:559-567.
- Reddy, D., S. Audilakshmi, R. Madhusudhna, and N. Seetharama. 2012. Comparative analysis of genetic similarity among sorghum [*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench] lines as revealed by morphological and molecular markers. Plant Genetic Resources 10:49-58.
- Reed, G.H., and C.T. Witter. 2004. Sensitivity and specificity of single-nucleotide polymorphism scanning by high resolution melting analysis. Clinical Chemistry 50:1748-1754.
- Reed, G.H., J.O. Kent, and C.T. Wittwer. 2007. High-resolution DNA melting analysis for simple and efficient molecular diagnostics. Pharmacogenomics 8:597-608.

- Robert, J.O. 2011. Genetic analysis of *Striga hermonthica* resistance in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) genotypes in Eastern Uganda. Plant Breeding. University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa.
- Roberts, C.A., J.H. Houx III, and F.B. Fritschi. 2011. Near-Infrared analysis of sweet sorghum bagasse. Crop Science 51:2284-2288.
- Romero, G.O., J.P. Lota, Z.G.II Battad, and M.C.V. Newingham. 2009. DNA fingerprinting of rice germplasm using multiplex SSR. Philippine Journal of Crop Science 34(1):98.
- Rutherford, G.W., and A.E. Mahanjane. 1985. Morbidity and mortality in the Mozambican famine of 1983:Prevalence of malnutrition and causes and rates of death and illness among dislocated persons in Gaza and Inhambane provinces. Journal of Tropical Pediatrics 31:143-149.
- Sanjana, R.P., B.V.S. Reddy, K.A. Ashok, S. Ramesh, K.L. Sahrawat, and P.V. Rao. 2010. Association of grain Fe and Zn contents with agronomic traits in sorghum. Indian Journal of Plant Genetic Resources 23:280-284.
- Schloss, S.J., S.E. Mitchell, G.M. White, R. Kukatla, J.E. Bowers, A. Patterson, and S. Kresovitch. 2002. Characterisation of RFLP probe sequences for gene discovery and SSR development in *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 105:912-920.
- Schulz, H., M. Baranska, and R. Baranski. 2005. Potential of NIR-FT-Raman Spectroscopy in natural carotenoid analysis. Biopolymers 77:212–221.
- Serna-Saldivar, S., and L. Rooney. 1995. Structure and chemistry of sorghum and millets. p.
 69-124. *In*: D. A. V. Dendy (ed.) Sorghum And Millets, Chemistry And Technology.
 American Association of Cereal Chemists, St Paul, MN.
- Shegro, A., N.G. Shargie, A. van Biljon, and M.T. Labuschagne. 2012. Diversity in starch, protein, and mineral composition of sorghum landraces from Ethiopia. Journal of Crop Science and Biotechnology 15:275-280.
- Shegro, A., M.T. Labuschagne, N.G. Shargie, and A. van Biljon. 2013. Multivariate analysis of nutritional diversity in sorghum landrace accessions from Western Ethiopia. Journal of Biological Science 13:67-74.
- Shehzad, T., and K. Okuno. 2014. Diversity assessment of sorghum germplasm and its utilization in genetic analysis of quantitative traits-A review. Australian Journal of Crop Science 8:937-944.
- Shehzad, T., H. Okuizumi, M. Kawase, and K. Okuno. 2009. Development of SSR-based sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) diversity research set of germplasm and its evaluation by morphological traits. Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution 56:809-827.

- Shiri, M. R.; R. Choukan and R.T. Aliyev. 2014. Study of genetic diversity among maize hybrids using SSR markers and morphological traits under two different irrigation conditions. Crop Breeding Journal 4(1):65-72.
- Shivjee, S., and V.K. Khanna. 2010. Detection of diversity in germplasm of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) using RAPD analysis. Pantnagar Journal of Research 8:170-174.
- Sibiya, J. 2009. Breeding investigations for resistance to Phaeosphaeria Leaf Spot (PLS) and other important foliar diseases and a study of yield stability in African maize germplasm. PhD thesis, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal, south Africa.
- Simionuc, D., R. Uptmoor, W. Friedt, and F. Ordon. 2002. Genetic diversity and rellationships among pea cultivars revealed by RAPDs and AFLPs. Plant Breeding 121:429-435.
- Singh, R., and J.D. Axtell. 1973. High lysine mutant gene (*hl*) that improves protein quality and biochemical value of grain sorghum. Crop Science 13:535-539.
- Singh, S.P., S.K. Shrvastara, and K.V. Kendra. 2004. Rice yield constraints and production technology: Perception of farmers. International Rice Research Network 29:1.
- Smith, C.W., and R.A. Frederiksen. 2000. Sorghum Origin, History, Technology, And Production. John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- Smith, J.S.C., and O.S. Smith. 1992. Fingerprinting crop varieties. Advanced Agronomy 47:85-140.
- Smith, S., V. Primomo, R. Monk, B. Nelson, E. Jones, and K. Porter. 2010. Genetic diversity of widely used U.S. sorghum hybrids 1980-2008. Crop Science 50:1664-1673.
- Sperling, L., M. Loevensohn, and B. Ntabomvura. 1993. Rethinking the farmers' role in plant breeding: Local bean experts and on-station in Rwanda. Experimental Agriculture 29:509-519.
- Studer, B., L. Jensen, A. Fiil, and T. Asp. 2009. "Blind" mapping of genic DNA sequence polymorphisms in Lolium perenne L. by high resolution melting curve analysis. Molecular Breeding 24:191-199.
- Sutapa, S.; A.M. Singh, C. Mridul; S.K. Singh, A.K. Ahlawat, and G.P. Singh. 2014. Analysis of genetic diversity among the Indian bread wheat cultivars using microsatellite (SSR) markers. Indian Journal of Genetics and Plant Breeding 74(4):502-505.
- Taramino, G., R. Tarchini, S. Ferrario, M. Lee, and M.E. Pe. 1997. Characterisation and mapping of simple sequence repeats (SSRs) in *Sorghum bicolor*. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 95:66-72.
- Tautz, D. 1989. Hypervariability of simple sequences as a general source of polymorphic DNA markers. Nucleic Acids Research 17:6463-6471.

- Taylor, J., S.R. Bean, B.P. Loerger, and J.R.N. Taylor. 2007. Preferential binding of sorghum tannins with γ-kafirin and the influence of tannin binding on kafirin digestibility and biodegradation. Journal of Cereal Science 46:22-31.
- Taylor, J.R.N., and L. Schussler. 1986. The protein composition of the different anatomical parts of sorghum grain. Journal of Cereal Science 4:361-369.
- Taylor, J.R.N., L. Novillie, and N.V.D.W. Liedenberg. 1984. Sorghum protein body composition and ultrastructure. Cereal Chemistry 61:69-73.
- Tcherkez, G., and G.D. Farquhar. 2006. Isotopic fractionation by plant nitrate reductase, twenty years later. Functional Plant Biology 33:531-537.
- Tesfamichael, T. A.; S.M. Githiri, R.W. Kasili, R.A. Skilton, M. Solomon, and A.B. Nyende. 2014. Genetic diversity analysis of Eritrean sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) germplasm using SSR markers. Molecular Plant Breeding 5(13):1-12.
- Teshome, A. 2001. Long-term sustainability of Ethiopian landraces at risk., *In*: J. Eberlee (ed.). International Development Research Centre Reports Online.
- Teshome, R.G. 2013. Intergrating sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) breeding and biological control using *Fusarium oxysporum* against *Striga hermonthica* in Ethiopia.
 PhD thesis, African Centre for Crop Improvement. University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa.
- Tesso, T., G. Ejeta, A. Chandrashekar, C.P. Huang, A. Tandjung, M. Lewamy, J.D. Axtell, and B.R. Hamaker. 2006. A novel modified endosperm texture in a mutant highprotein digestability/hihg-lysine grain sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench). Cereal Chemistry 83:194-201.
- Tesso, T., I. Kapran, C. Grenier, A. Snow, P. Sweeney, J. Pedersen, D. Marx, G. Bothma, and G. Ejeta. 2008. The potential for crop-to-wild geneflow in sorghum in Ethiopia and Niger: A geographic survey. Crop Science 48:1425-1431.
- Upadhyaya, H.D., S. Sharma, B. Ramulu, R. Bhattacharjee, C.L.L. Gowda, V. G. Reddy, and S. Singh. 2010. Variation for qualitative and quantitative traits and identification of trait-specific sources in new sorghum germplasm. Crop and Pasture Science 61:609-618.
- Uptmoor, R., W. Wenzel, W. Friedt, G. Donaldson, K. Ayisi, and F. Ordon. 2003. Comparative analysis on the genetic relatedness of *Sorghum bicolor* accessions from Southern Africa by, RAPD, AFLPs, and SSRs. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 106:1316-1325.
- van den Berg, J., and T.W. Drinkwater. 1997. Field guide to idntification of sorghum pests in Southern Africa. Agricultural Research Council-Grain Crops Institute, Potchefstroom, South Africa.

- Vaughn, C.P. and K.S.J. Elenitoba-Johnson. 2004. High-resolution melting analysis for detection of internal tandem duplications. Journal of Molecular Diagnostics 6(3):211-216.
- Vendiamatti, A., R.R. Ferreira, L.H. Gomes, L.O. Medici and R.A. Azevedo. 2008. Nutritional quality of sorghum seeds: storage proteins and amino acids. Food Biotechnology 22:377-397.
- vom Brocke, K., G. Trouchea, E. Weltzienb, C.P. Barro-Kondomboc, E. Gozéd, and J. Chantereaua. 2010. Participatory variety development for sorghum in Burkina Faso: Farmers' selection and farmers' criteria. Field Crops Research 119:183-194.
- Wang, J. J. Yang, J. Zhu, Q. Jia, and Y. Tao. 2010. Assessment of genetic diversity by simple sequence repeat markers among forty elite varieties in the germplasm for malting barley breeding. Journal of Zhejiang University Science B. 11(10):792-800.
- Warsi, A.S., and B.C. Wright. 1973. Effect of rates and methods of nitrogen application on the quality of sorghum grain. Indian Journal of Agricultural Science 43:722-726.
- Weising, K., P. Winter, B. huttel, and G. Kahl. 1998. Microsatellite markers for molecular breeding. Journal of crop Production 1:113-143.
- Welch, R.M., and R.D. Graham. 2004. Breeding for micronutrients in staple food from a human perspective. Journal of Experimental Botany 55:353-364.
- Williams, J.G.K., Kubelik, A.R., Livak K.J., Rafalski, J.A., and S.V. Tingey. 1990. DNA polymorphisms amplified by arbitrary primers are useful as genetic markers. Nucleic Acids Research 18:6531-6535.
- Wittwer, C.T., G.H. Reed, C.N. Gundry, J.G. Vandersteen, and R.J. Pryor. 2003: High resolution genotyping by amplicon melting analysis using LCGreen. Clinical Chemistry 49:853-860.
- Wu, S.B., I. Tavassolian, G. Rabiei, P. Hunt, M. Wirthensohn, J. Gibson, C. Ford, and M. Sedgley. 2009. Mapping SNP anchored genes using high-resolution melting analysis in almond. Molecular Genetics and Genomics 282:273-281.
- Wu, Y., and Y. Huang. 2007. An SSR genetic map of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench and its comparison to a published genetic map. Genome 50:84-89
- Yao, G.; J. Duan; L. Zou; C, Li; L. Lu; and M. Huang. 2015. Research on genetic diversity of glutinous rice in Hubei by SSR marker. Journal of Henan Agricultural Sciences 44(3): 19-22.
- Yang, W., A.C. de Oliveria, I. Godwin, K.F. Schert, and J.L. Bennetzen. 1996. Comparison of DNA marker technologies in characterising plant genome diversity: variability in Chinesse sorghums. Crop Science 36:1669-1676.

- Younesi, O., and A. Moradi. 2009. The effect of water limitation in the field on sorghum seed germination and vigor. Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences 3:1156-1159.
- YoungYi, L., K. JungBon, L. HoSun, L. SokYoung, G. JaeGyu, K. HoCheol, H. YunChan, H. DoYoon, and K. ChungKon. 2010. Application of near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy (NIR) method to rapid determination of seed protein in coarse cereal germplasm. Korean Journal of Crop Science 55:357-364.
- Zhao, R. 2007. The Africa biofortified sorghum project-applying biotechnology to develop nutritionally improved sorgum for Africa. p. 273-277. *In*: Z. Xu, et al. (ed.)
 Biotechnology and sustainable agriculture 2006 and beyond. Proceedings of the 11th IAPTC and B Congress. Springer, Beijing, China.
- Zhao, Y.; H. Wang; W. Chen; Y. Li; H. Gong; X. Sang; F. Huo; and F. Zeng. 2015. Genetic diversity and population structure of elite cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.) germplasm revealed by SSR markers. Plant Systematics and Evolution 301(1):327-336.
- Zhu, Y., W. Qitian, J. Hu, L. Zhu, J. Wang, S. Zhu, and Y. Guan. 2013. High resolution melt curve analysis: an efficient method for fingerprinting of hybrid rice cultivars and their parental lines. Australian Journal of Crop Science 7(13):2048-2053.

CHAPTER 2

Appraisal of farmers' sorghum production constraints and variety preferences in the Limpopo Province, South Africa

2.1 Abstract

Participation of farmers in crop breeding programs is vital for selection of new varieties and for wider and enhanced adoption and use of newly developed cultivars. The objective of this study was to determine sorghum production constraints, farmers' preferred traits and ideal sorghum varieties under smallholder farming systems in the Limpopo Province of South Africa. A participatory rural appraisal (PRA) was conducted during the period 2013-2014, involving 311 farmers in two districts and four municipalities known for their sorghum production. The PRA tools used were semi-structured questionnaires, group discussions, key-informants, matrix ranking and transect walks. Both primary and secondary data were collected. Results indicated that the most important production constraints to sorghum production in the study areas were bird damage (53.1 %), storage pests (weevils) (50.1%), parasitic weeds (35.0%), drought (35.3%) and postharvest diseases (30.8%). Respondent farmers indicated that their ideal varieties should have good taste, high yields, resistance to bird damage, insect pests (weevils), and diseases, early maturity and drought tolerance. Incorporating farmer's preferred traits in sorghum breeding programs may enhance adoption and use of improved cultivars in the study areas.

Keywords, farmers' preferred traits, Limpopo Province, participatory rural appraisal, sorghum

2.2 Introduction

Sorghum ranks second after maize in sub-Saharan Africa in terms of production and it provides food for millions of people (Gerda and Christopher, 2007). In South Africa, sorghum remains one of the most important grain crops grown for food and feed. It grows in various provinces including Mpumalanga, North West, Northern Cape, Eastern Cape, KwaZulu-Natal, and the Free State. Sorghum is being commercially produced in the Free State Province (DAFF, 2010). Genetically diverse sorghum landraces and varieties are grown by small- to large-scale farmers in Limpopo Province. Sorghum breeders need to understand farmer's production constraints, trait preferences and varietal requirements (Kudadjie et al., 2004). Farmers' and end users' involvement in variety development can enhance the levels of adoption of new varieties (Danial, 2003). This is because users can specify the type of sorghum material they prefer. Information on preferences and attributes of the type of sorghum variety required can be acquired through the involvement of farmers and other stakeholders in the early stages of plant breeding research, and the use of participatory rural appraisal.

Participatory rural appraisal (PRA) is one of the sociological tools used to understand local farmer's concerns through involvement of community members, understanding their situation and learning from them using interdisciplinary teams of researchers (Blaney and Thibault, 2003). The PRA process involves groups of community members/farmers, and various sectors whereby their views and concerns are systematically expressed and recorded. It emphasizes local knowledge, empowerment and sustainability of natural resources, agricultural, health, social or other issues (Chambers, 1997). It has been used mainly by government and non-governmental organizations (NGOs) scientists in developing countries in the past decades (Cornwall et al., 2001). It can also be a first step in participatory plant breeding, which favors a wide/ spread adoption of new varieties (Cecarralli et al., 2003).

Information obtained through PRA studies help plant breeders to define their breeding goals and objectives. Local varieties are important in plant breeding programmes because they carry selected traits preferred by farmers (Danial et al., 2007). Farmers in the Lake Zone of Tanzania preferred sorghum varieties on the basis of the color and taste of 'ugali', a porridge prepared from sorghum (Mafuru et al., 2007). Rana et al. (2000) reported farmer desired characteristics to be high yield, quality of both grain and fodder, bold and lustrous grains, and tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses. Mekbib (2007) used PRA for classification and characterization of sorghum in Ethiopia. Nkongolo et al. (2008) studied farmers' preferences

45

in sorghum landraces and reported that farmer characterization of sorghum varieties had allowed selection of superior landraces from which to develop modern varieties. Makanda (2009) conducted PRA studies in Zimbabwe and South Africa on sweet stemmed sorghum. He found that farmers preferred high yielding and early to intermediate sorghum varieties with high stem sugar content. There is no recent information on sorghum production constraints and varieties preferred by farmers, millers, and end-users in South Africa using the PRA research methodology. The objective of this study was to determine sorghum production constraints, farmers' preferred traits and the profile of ideal sorghum varieties under smallholders farming systems in Limpopo Province of South Africa.

2.3 Materials and methods

2.3.1 Description of the study sites

The PRA was conducted during 2013 and 2014 in two districts: Sekhukhune and Waterberg of Limpopo Province, South Africa (Figure 2.1). The Sekhukhune District is divided into five municipalities but only three municipalities were sampled for the PRA study, based on their scale of sorghum production. The Municipalities sampled were Fetakgomo, Makhuduthamaga and Tubatse Municipalities. The Sekhukhune District covers an area of 1,326,437 ha, the major part being rural small-scale farms (Aird and Archer, 2004). It is characterized by a mean rainfall of 600-800 mm in the south, and 500-600 mm in the north, extending from November to March. The temperatures can reach up to 38°C in summer and range from 7-28°C in winter. Due to limited number of sorghum farmers, only Lephalale Municipality was selected from Waterberg district for the PRA study. The areas are characterized by hot and semi-arid, subtropical climate with temperatures ranging from 18 to 38.2°C and a mean rainfall of 600-650 mm mostly falling during November to February, the major season of sorghum production.



Figure 2.1. Map of Limpopo Province in South Africa, showing the study areas indicated in solid stars. (Source: Magwede et al., 2014).

2.3.2 Sampling method

A purposive sampling method was used to select districts, municipalities, villages and farmers.

The Lephalale municipality of the Waterberg District, and the Makhuduthamaga, Fetakgomo, Greater Tubatse municipalities within the Sekhukhune District were selected for the study. Three municipality sections: North, South and Central in the Lephalale municipality, and six villages: three (Mashite, Manganeng and Mothibeng) from Makhuduthamaga, two (Malekaskraal and Lerajane) from Fetakgomo, and one (Ga-Matokomane) from Greater Tubatse were selected for the study (Table 2.1).

Table 2.1 summarizes the geographical descriptions of the districts and municipalities selected for the study. Greater Tubatse had the highest population number (335 676 inhabitants) and area coverage (4602 Km²) when compared to other municipalities. Makhuduthamaga had a population of 274 358 and an area of 2097 Km², whereas Lephalale occupied 66.94 Km² with a population of 17639. Fetakgomo was the least populated municipality (93 795 inhabitants) with an area of 1105 Km² and elevation of 1209 m above sea level. Makhuduthamaga and Fetakgomo municipalities represent the Lowveld areas, whereas Lephalale and Greater Tubatse are situated in the Highveld.

District	Municipality	Population	Area (Km²)	Elevation (m)	Latitude	Longitude
Waterberg	Lephalale	17639	66.94	820	23º40'S	27º45'E
	Makhuduthamaga	274 358	2097	1179	24º45'S	29°45'E
Sekhukhune	Fetakgomo	93 795	1105	1209	24º41'67"S	29°91'67"E
	Greater Tubatse	335 676	4602	680	24º40'S	30°20'E

Table 2.1. Geographical descriptions of the study areas.

Source: Statistics South Africa (Census, 2011)

A total of 311 male and female sorghum growers were sampled across the study areas (Table 2.2). The villages were selected in collaboration with the extension officers and municipal managers of the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries in various districts.

Table 2.2. Districts, muni	cipalities, village	s and the numbe	r of male and	female sorghum
farmers sampled for the	study.			-

District	Municipality	Section/village	Gender		No. of
					participants
			Female	Male	•
Waterberg	Lephalale	North	15	45	60
		South	16	11	27
		Central	8	18	26
Sekhukhune	Makhuduthamaga	Mashite	49	30	79
		Manganeng	45	9	54
		Mothibeng	17	7	24
	Fetakgomo	Malekaskraal	14	7	21
		Lerajane	9	0	9
	Greater Tubatse	Ga-	1	10	11
		Matokomane			
		Total	169	142	311

2.3.3 Data collection and analysis

The research team consisted of the principal investigator, extension officers, some local managers, and the chiefs of the villages. The PRA tools used for data collection included; semi-structured questionnaires (Appendix), group discussions, matrix ranking, key informants, and transect walks in the study areas. The farmers were interviewed using a

questionnaire summarised in the Appendix. The data collected were analysed using SPSS version 22.0 computer package (SPSS, 2013).

2.4 Results and discussion

Description of households

The total numbers of respondents were 113 in Waterberg and 198 in Sekhukhune. Overall, 169 female and 142 male farmers participated in the study (Table 2.2). For some variables, the results of which are discussed below, the number of farmers interviewed varied from 166 to 311. Fewer farmers were unavailable for interviews than initially planned. The male farmers were generally more articulate than the females during group discussion. In the rural areas males, chiefs, and leaders are normally considered as heads of the households and villages. Therefore, this group are given more platforms and preferences in decision making and heading the households.

The contingency chi-square analysis revealed highly significant differences for education levels across municipalities. Most respondents (46.3%) did not have basic primary school education (Table 2.3). Twenty six percent of the participants attended primary school, 18.3% been to secondary school and 0.32% had studied at a tertiary level out of a total of 311 participants in both districts. Most sorghum growers did not have a good level of education, which may impact on sorghum production and the adoption of new technology. Generally, experience and education levels are expected to influence knowledge and the farming enterprises undertaken in rural areas. There is a need for a better education and farmers training to sustain the production status of the crop in these farming systems. Affiliation with farming cooperatives, farmer support groups and working with extension officers may enhance the farmers' knowledge of production of sorghum (Nkgodi, 2005).

		Education level					
Municipality	none	primary	secondary	tertiary	Total		
Lephalale	56	25	15	0	96		
Makhuduthamaga	68	48	21	1	138		
Fetakgomo	12	3	17	0	32		
Tubatse	8	5	4	0	17		
Total	144	81	57	1	283		
Pearson X ² value, df=9 =29.557							
Asymp. Sig. =0.001							

Table 2.3. Education level of the respondent farmers across the four sampled municipalities in Limpopo Province

The chi-square analysis revealed highly significant differences for education and gender balances across municipalities. The ages of participants ranged from 21 to above 70 years old (Table 2.4). Respondent farmers were largely (81) represented within age category of 51-60 years, followed by respondents aged 61-70 (66), 41-50, 31-40 and above 70. The youth category (21-30) was the least numerous of respondent farmers. In general, the study found a low level of involvement of the youth in agricultural activities. Adults and elderly were the dominant sorghum growers across the municipalities (Table 2.4). The present findings agree with the report of Mmbengeni and Mokoka (2002) who reported a low level of involvement of the Limpopo Province.

	Age (years)						
Municipality	21-30	31-40	41-50	51-60	61-70	>70	Total
Lephalale	7	20	33	21	16	6	103
Makhuduthamaga	1	3	21	50	41	24	140
Fetakgomo	8	5	7	6	4	4	34
Tubatse	0	1	2	4	5	4	16
Total	16	29	63	81	66	38	293
Pearson X ² value, df =15=76.598							
Asymp. Sig.=0.000							

Table 2.4. Cross tabulation of age group of respondent farmers' across four municipalities in Limpopo Province.

Major crops grown and area of production

There were highly significant differences among the farm sizes recorded in the municipalities (Table 2.5). The farm sizes ranged from 1 to > 10 hectares (ha). Most respondents had farm sizes of 1-2 ha (95) and 3-4 ha (57) followed by 5-6 ha and 7-8 ha. The numbers of farmers owning farms of 9-10 ha and >10 ha were very small both at 2.1% (4). This shows that the municipalities are dominated by smallholder farmers growing sorghum for subsistence purposes. Makhuduthamaga Municipality had the largest number (95) of farmers owning small farms of 1-2 ha, followed by Lephalale (19) and Tubatse (11). In general, farmers in the Fetakgomo Municipalities owned smaller farms than those in the Lephalale and Makhuduthamaga Municipalities owned smaller farms than those in the Lephalale and Makhuduthamaga Municipalities. The study of Diale (2011) found that the size of the farm seemed to have an effect on the adoption of hybrids. Heisey et al. (1998) found that large scale farmers are more likely to adopt new technologies such as hybrid technology than small landholders. The study results were in agreement with those of Bekuretsion (2005) who reported that the average land holding size in the South and Anseba regions was 0.25 to 4 hectares while in Gash Barka it ranged from 1.3 to 40 hectares.

	Farm size (ha)						
Municipality	1-2	3-4	5-6	7-8	9-10	>10	Total
Lephalale	19	16	7	1	0	0	43
Makhuduthamaga	57	27	4	9	1	3	101
Fetakgomo	8	9	8	1	2	1	29
Tubatse	11	5	1	0	1	0	18
Total	95	57	20	11	4	4	191
Pearson X ² value, df Asymp. Sig.=0.008	=15=31.19	98					

Table 2.5. Farm sizes of respondent farmers across four municipalities in Limpopo Province

The total area planted by sorghum showed a significant difference between municipalities (Table 2.6). Most farmers (69.9%) cultivated sorghum in 1-2 ha of land in all municipalities except in Fetakgomo municipality where most farmers grow sorghum using 3-4 and 5-6 ha of land (Table 2.6). In Tubatse, most farmers planted sorghum with farm areas measuring 1-2 ha. Most farmers in Makhuduthamaga Municipality cultivated sorghum on 1-2 ha of land followed by 3-4 ha and very few using 5-6 ha of cultivated lands. The results for the farm sizes and area under sorghum cultivation concur with those of Shargie (2015) who found that sorghum in the Limpopo Province is mainly produced by smallholder farmers. These

farmers are faced with the challenge of improving their production and productivity due to small landholding and limited access to modern production technology.

	Area				
Municipality	1-2	3-4	5-6	9-10	Total
Lephalale	40	3	0	0	43
Makhuduthamaga	69	29	3	0	101
Fetakgomo	7	10	9	1	27
Tubatse	14	0	1	0	15
Total	130	42	13	1	186
Pearson X ² value, df=9=62.2260					
Asymp. Sig.=0.000					

Table 2.6. Areas allocated to sorghum production by respondent farmers in four selected municipalities of Limpopo Province

In two of the three municipalities sorghum was the most important crop and second after maize in Fetakgomo. Respondent farmers planted sorghum with other grains, legume and vegetable crops in the study areas (Table 2.7). Other crops being grown included millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R. Br.), maize (*Zea mays* L.), watermelon [*Citrullus lanatus* (Thunb.)], pumpkin (*Cucurbita pepo* L.), beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.), cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* [L.] Walp.), sugarcane (*Sacharum officinarum* L.), bambara groundnut [*Vigna subterranean* (L.) Verdc.], sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.), groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.), sweetpotato [*Ipomoea batatas* (L.) Lam.] and various vegetables. The list of common crops grown across the villages corresponds with a report of WOMIWU Rural Development (2005).

Municipality and crops grown									
Lephalale	Makhuduthamaga	Fetakgomo	Tubatse						
Sorghum Pearl Millet Bambara groundnut Dry bean Watermelon Maize Sunflower Melon	Sorghum Maize Dry bean Pumpkin Melon Sugar cane Watermelon Pearl Millet Groundnut Cownea	Maize Sorghum Cowpea Pumpkin Vegetables Sugarcane Groundnut Watermelon	Sorghum Pearl Millet Watermelon Pumpkin Dry beans Maize						

Table 2.7. List and order of importance of major crops grown by respondent famers in four municipalities of Limpopo Province.

Uses of sorghum

Makhuduthamaga

Asymp. Sig.= 0.000

Pearson X² value, df=9=37.505

Fetakgomo

Tubatse

Total

There were significant differences among the uses of sorghum across municipalities ($P \le 0.001$). Sorghum was mainly used for food (home consumption) followed by brewing, feed and fodder, and for industrial purposes (Table 2.8). In Lephalale, the respondents did not indicate any use of sorghum for industrial purposes. The various foods commonly prepared from sorghum included stiff porridge, soft porridge, "Ting" (a fermented porridge) and beer (Table 2.9). Stiff porridge was the most preferred by farmers as a staple food followed by soft porridge, and beer. "Ting" was the least preferred and was only eaten in the Fetakgomo and Lephalale Municipalities.

		Sorghum uses					
		Feed and	Ir	ndustrial			
Municipality	Food	fodder	Beer	use	Total		
Lephalale	25	10	1	0	36		

Table 2.8. Various uses of sorghum reported by respondent famers in four municipalities of Limpopo Province.

Table 2.9. Number of respondent farmers who prepares food types or drink from sorghum in four municipalities of Limpopo Province.

	Soft	Stiff			
Municipality	porridge	porridge	Ting	Beer	Total
Lephalale	12	7	1	17	37
Makhuduthamaga	56	26	0	4	86
Fetakgomo	17	6	3	2	28
Tubatse	6	4	0	5	15
Total	91	43	4	28	166
Pearson X ² value, Asymp. Sig. = 0.00	df=9=4 0	7.962			

Sorghum as a cash crop

Most farmers (71.1%) indicated that they did not sell their sorghum harvests (Table 2.10). They only sold a small portion to neighbouring farmers and villages when cash was required for various social needs by the family. Sorghum was mainly grown for home consumption and the rest was kept as seed for the next growing cycle. When sorghum produced was in excess it was sold to other farmers. Sorghum was sold in the form of threshed seeds or panicles/heads in the studied municipalities (Table 2.11). It is evident that in Lephalale Municipality sorghum grain was being sold in larger quantities than the other areas.

	Do you sell s				
Municipality	No	Yes	Total		
Lephalale	22	15	37		
Makhuduthamaga	66	19	85		
Fetakgomo	16	8	24		
Tubatse	9	4	13		
Total	113	46	159		
Pearson X ² value, df=3=4.462					
Asymp. Sig. = 0.216					

Table 2.10. Proportion of farmers producing sorghum for sale in four municipalities in the Limpopo Province

Table 2.11. Various forms of sorghum traded by smallholder farmers across four municipalities in the Limpopo Province

	Which						
Municipality	Do not sell	Heads	Seeds	Total			
Lephalale	0	14	1	15			
Makhuduthamaga	15	13	0	28			
Fetakgomo	0	6	0	6			
Tubatse	0	4	0	4			
Total	15	37	1	53			
Pearson X ² value, df=6=20.613							
Asymp. Sig. = 0.002							

Productivity of sorghum under smallholder farming systems

The yields of sorghum in the study areas were expressed in number of bags (50 Kg) harvested per plot. Table 2.12 shows the number of sorghum varieties grown in the four municipalities, together with their mean yields. The mean yields varied from 1.05 to 7.7

bags ha⁻¹. The variety 'Macia' was the highest yielder (7.7 bags) followed by 'Sefubetswane' (3.38 bags). The mean yield of variety 'Mapinkana' was 2.6 bags and 'Maseka-a-swere' was 2.15 bags. 'Khunamang' yielded 1.75 bags, 'Manthate' (1.23 bags) and a red variety ('Mahubedu') yielded 1.05. The overall low yields can be attributed to the ongoing use of relatively low yielding landrace varieties, grown on fragmented, small piece of lands of 1-2 ha. Moreover, farmers typically use low quality seeds kept under poor storage conditions (Ashiono et al. 2005).

Variaty	N					
vanety	Lephalale	Makhuduthamaga	Fetakgomo	Tubatse	Mean ¹	Rank
Macia	8.60	5.80	6.00	10.40	7.70 ^a	1
Sefubetswane	2.50	3.00	4.20	3.80	3.38 ^b	2
Mapinkana	1.20	2.00	4.00	3.20	2.60 ^{bc}	3
Maseka-a-swere	2.00	3.00	2.20	1.40	2.15 ^{bc}	3
Khunamang	0.50	2.00	1.50	3.00	1.75 ^c	4
Manthate	0.60	0.90	2.10	1.30	1.23 ^c	4
Mahubedu	2.00	0.80	1.00	0.40	1.05 ^c	4
Mean	2.49	2.50	3.00	3.36	2.84	
P-value	<.001					
LSD (0.05)	1.55					
CV (%)	43.80					

Table 2.12. Sorghum varieties grown and mean yields per growing season reported by respondent famers in four municipalities of Limpopo Province.

¹Means followed by the same letter do not differ significantly according to Fischer's least significant difference test ($P \le 0.05$)

Farmers' preferences of sorghum varieties

There were highly significant differences between the sorghum varieties preferred by the farmers of the study areas (Table 2.13). Farmers preferred the improved variety Macia as their number one choice followed by their local variety Sefubetswane. The least preferred local variety was Khunamang. Overall, this study indicated that farmers in the study sites would prefer to grow improved sorghum varieties although they will still continue to plant their local varieties for their adaptation to harsh growing conditions and quality attributes for the preparation of various food products. Like most farmers in sub-Saharan Africa, farmers in the study areas keep seeds from the previous harvest for planting in the next season (Taylor, 2003). Sorghum in the study areas has become a successful foundation crop for food and beer or local industries. The levels of knowledge, age, labour, land holding, and resource availability are determinants of the farmers' choice of varieties and enterprise mix. For instance, Abebe et al. (2005) reported that generally farmers in Ethiopia have their own way of selecting a variety for their localities. In some cases the farmers' preferences coincide

with the breeders' selection criteria. It is, therefore, important to determine farmers preferred traits in crop varieties or include the farmers in a variety selection process during breeding. This enhances the potential for adoption of the varieties in the respective communities where the varieties are released.

Municipality and % preference								
Variety	Lephalale	Makhuduthamaga	Fetakgomo	Tubatse	Туре	Mean ¹	Rank	
Macia	32.00	41.00	45.00	56.00	Improved	43.50 ^d	1	
Sefubetswana	38.00	24.00	34.00	21.00	Local	29.25 ^c	2	
Mapinkana	15.90	18.00	13.00	0.60	Local	11.88 ^b	3	
Maseka-a-swere	7.00	12.00	10.00	6.30	Local	8.83 ^{ab}	4	
Manthate	11.00	6.00	3.00	15.00	Local	8.75 ^{ab}	4	
Mahubedu	9.00	4.00	9.00	8.00	Local	7.50 ^{ab}	4	
Khunamang	4.00	3.00	1.00	10.20	Local	4.55 ^a	5	
Mean	16.70	15.43	16.43	16.73		16.32		
P-value	<.001							
LSD (0.05)	8.50							
CV (%)	38.90							

Table 2.13. Names of sorghum varieties grown and percentage of farmers growing these in four municipalities of Limpopo Province.

¹Means followed by the same letter do not differ significantly according to Fischer's least significant difference test ($P \le 0.05$)

Farmers' perception of traits of an ideal sorghum variety

There were significant differences among the traits that the farmers preferred across municipalities (Table 2.14). The most important farmer preferred traits were high yield and good taste. This was followed by early maturity, insect and disease resistance, heat and drought tolerance, and the ability to grow with low production inputs. Farmers were asked if soil acidity could be a problem in their fields by explaining to them the symptoms of this constraint. Farmers did not appear to experience problems with acidic soils. The results concur with the study by Nkgodi (2005) where farmers in Sekhukhune preferred sorghum varieties with characteristics of early maturity, drought tolerance and porridge making quality and good taste, but not yield. Tesfamichael et al. (2013) indicated that the farmers chose the sorghum varieties for seeding based on panicle and seed size, grain color and maturity dates. The panicles for seeds were selected at physiological maturity. Furthermore, the farmers preferred white and red grains for injera and porridge while those with brown grains

were used to prepare alcoholic beverages. Sibiya (2009) indicated that the farmers in KwaZulu-Natal in South Africa preferred their ideal maize varieties to be high yielding, have a good taste, inexpensive seed and should require minimum inputs.

	Ν					
Preferred Traits	Lephalale	Makhuduthamaga	Fetakgomo	Tubatse	Mean ¹	Rank
High yield	52.00	43.00	61.30	56.00	53.075 ^a	1
Good Taste	56.00	44.00	51.00	49.20	50.05 ^a	1
Early Maturity	41.00	37.00	34.00	28.00	35.0 ^b	2
Insect resistance	36.00	43.00	36.00	26.00	35.25 ^b	2
Disease resistance	32.00	28.00	25.00	38.00	30.75 ^b	2
Drought tolerance	23.20	25.00	26.70	24.00	24.73 ^c	3
Heat tolerance	24.30	23.10	25.00	24.00	24.1°	3
Low input for growing	25.60	22.10	23.20	24.90	23.95°	3
All purpose type	18.10	16.30	18.00	17.00	17.35 ^d	4
Tolerant to acid soils	5.60	6.10	4.50	4.20	5.1 ^e	5
Mean	31.38	28.76	30.47	29.13	29.95	
P-value	<.001					
LSD (0.05)	6.04					
CV (%)	15.7					

Table 2.14. Traits of sorghum varieties preferred by farmers in four municipalities of Limpopo Province

¹Means followed by the same letter do not differ significantly according to Fischer's least significant difference test ($P \le 0.05$).

Respondent farmers rated good taste as a highly preferred trait found in the varieties Mapinkana, Manthate, Khunamang, Sefubetswane and a red seeded variety (Mahubedu) (Table 2.15). Early maturity was the most preferred trait found in Maseka-a-swere and Sefubetswana. High yield was regarded as the most preferred trait found in Macia with its resistance to diseases and insect pests. The results concur with the studies of Marsalis et al. (2010) who found that drought and heat tolerance of sorghum combined with the re-growth ability after drought makes sorghum an ideal candidate for silage systems in drier areas. Sorghum is known to be a resilient crop well adapted to climatic change (Reddy et al., 2011). Mativavarira et al. (2011) reported that farmers in Zimbabwe considered grain yield of sorghum varieties as most important trait. The farmers in the present study areas indicated

that they needed better sorghum varieties to increase production and to reduce pre- and post-harvest losses.

	Variaty							
	variety							
Trait	Mapinkana	Maseka-a- swere	Manthate	Macia	Khunamang	Sefubetswana	Mahubedu	
Early maturity	44	68	23	38	14	56	34	
Good taste	66	44	48	25	49	63	68	
High yield	13	10	15	65	23	20	18	
Resistance to pests and diseases	8	6		45	5	36	3	
Other	14	12	5	-	-	28	-	

Table 2.15. Various traits of sorghum varieties listed and preferred by farmers across four municipalities of Limpopo Province.

Major constraints to sorghum production

The major challenges to sorghum production as perceived by farmers are indicated in Table 2.16. The stress factors varied across municipalities. The production constraints are ranked in order of importance (Table 2.16). Bird damage and weevils were rated as the most prevalent and serious problems in farmers' fields and during storage, respectively. Parasitic weeds (Striga), drought, and storage rot were the next most important constraints followed by stem borer, rust, anthracnose and heat stress. Downy mildew, northern leaf blight, and soil fertility were considered the least important stress factors. Chikuta et al. (2014) reported that low yield, limited availability of improved sorghum varieties, poor access to improved seed, inconsistent grain market, and pests and diseases were the most important constraints faced farmers in sorghum production in Zambia. Mwadalu and Mwangi (2013) and Habindavyi (2009) reported that the quelea birds, sometimes referred to as "pest birds" were one of the production constraint of sorghum in farmers' fields in Kenya and Burundi, respectively. These birds flock in large numbers and can cause devastating grain losses of small grained cereals. Makanda (2009) reported the major constraints in sorghum production in Zimbabwe were drought, poor soil fertility, diseases, pests, seed availability, markets, and labour shortages. Drought stress has been identified as one of the major constraints to most rain-fed crop production throughout the world (Ludlow et al., 1994; Haussmann et al., 1999; Borrell et al., 2000). Among other factors and interventions, problems of drought and low productivity can be addressed through breeding for higher yields under drought stress conditions. In Kenya, addressing poor soil fertility through credit schemes was identified as key role which improved maize production six-fold (Achieng et al., 2001).

Biotic/abiotic constraint	Lephalale	Makhuduthamaga	Fetakgomo	Tubatse	Mean ¹	Rank
Birds	52.00	43.00	61.30	56.00	53.08a	1
Weevils	56.00	44.00	51.00	49.20	50.05a	1
Parasitic weeds	41.00	37.00	34.00	28.00	35.00b	2
Drought	36.00	43.00	36.00	26.00	35.25b	2
Storage rots	32.00	28.00	25.00	38.00	30.75b	2
Stem borer	23.20	25.00	26.70	24.00	24.73c	3
Rust	24.30	23.10	25.00	24.00	24.10c	3
Anthracnose	25.60	22.10	23.20	24.90	23.95c	3
Heat	18.10	16.30	18.00	17.00	17.35d	4
Downy mildew	5.60	6.10	4.50	4.20	5.10e	5
Northen leaf blight	4.80	5.30	5.00	3.90	4.75e	5
Phaeosphaeria leaf spot	2.50	3.10	2.30	3.80	2.93e	5
Soil fertility	0.60	1.20	1.10	0.80	0.93e	5
Mean	24.75	22.86	24.08	23.06	23.69	
P-value	<.001					
LSD (0.05)	5.25					
CV (%)	17.4					

Table 2.16. Important biotic and abiotic constraints to sorghum production indicated by farmers across four municipalities of Limpopo Province

¹Means followed by the same letter do not differ significantly according to Fischer's least significant difference test ($P \le 0.05$).

2.5 Conclusions

Participatory plant breeding is important to bridge the knowledge gap between breeders and farmers. It provides an accurate picture of farmers' production systems and seed management. The most important production constraints to sorghum production in the study areas were bird damage, storage pests (weevils) parasitic weeds, drought and postharvest diseases, respectively. Respondent farmers indicated that their ideal varieties should have high yields and good taste, early maturity, resistance to insect pests (weevils), and diseases, plus drought and heat tolerance. Incorporating farmer's preferred traits in sorghum breeding programs may enhance adoption of improved cultivars in the study areas.

2.6 References

- Abebe, G., T. Assefa, H. Harrun, T. Mesfine and A.M. Al-Tawaha. 2005. Participatory selection of drought tolerant maize varieties using mother baby methodology: A case study in the semi-arid zones of the Central Rift Valley of Ethiopia. World Journal of Agricultural Sciences 1:22-27.
- Achieng, J., D. Friesen, O. Odongo and M. Odendo. 2001. Sustainability of fertiliser use on maize in western Kenya through provision of credit. Pp 428-431. *In*: Proceedings of 7th eastern and Southern Africa Regional Maize Conference, 11th 15th February, 2001, Lilongwe.
- Aird, R., and E. Archer. 2004. Sekhukhune Background Document. FIVIMS-ZA report. Development Services and Climate Systems Analysis Group. University of Cape Town, Kayamandi. p. 42.
- Ashiono, G.B., S. Gatuiku, P. Mwangi, and T.E. Akuja. 2005. Effect of nitrogen and phosphorus application on growth and yield of dual purpose sorghum in the dry highlands of Kenya. Asian Journal of Plant Sciences 4:368-371.
- Bekuretsion, H. 2005. A survey of agricultural and horticultural production in Zoba Gash-Barka, Maekel, Debub, Anseba and Northern Red Sea. Ministry of Agriculture. Asmara, Eritrea.
- Blaney, S., and M. Thibault. 2003. Adapting PRA to protected area management in Central Africa. PLA Notes 47:33-47.
- Borrell, A.K., L.G. Hammer and R.G. Henzell. 2000. Does maintaining green leaf area in sorghum improve yield under drought? II. Dry matter production and yield. Crop Science 40: 1037-1048.
- Cecarralli, S., S. Grando, M. Michel, A. Shiko, M.A. Issa, A.A. Saleh, G. Kaleonjy, S.M. Al ghanem, A.L. Hasan, H. Dala, S. Basha, and T. Basha. 2003. A methodological study on participatory barley breeding. II Response to selection. Euphytica 133:185-200.
- Chambers, R. 1997. Whose Reality Counts? Putting the First Last. Intermediate Technology Publications, Boston, Massachusetts, USA.
- Chikuta, S., T. Odong, F. Kabi, M. Mwala and P. Rubaihayo. 2014. Farmers perceptions on dual-purpose sorghum and its potential in Zambia. International Journal of Agricultural Research and Innovation and Technology 4 (2):76-81.
- Cornwall, A., S. Musyoki, and G. Pratt. 2001. In search of a new impetus: Practitioners' reflections on PRA and participation in Kenya. Institute of Development Studies: Pathways to participation.

- DAFF. 2010. Sorghum Production Guideline. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Republic of South Africa.
- Danial, D., J. Parlvliet, C. Almekinders, and G. Thiele. 2007. Farmers' participation and breeding for durable disease resistance in the Andean region. Euphytica 153:385-396.
- Danial, D.L. 2003. Aprendiendo de la investigacion participativa con agricultores: Caso Preduza. p. 86-96 *In*: D. L. Danial (ed.) Agrobiodiversidad y Produccion de Semilla con el Sector Informal a Traves del Mejoramiento Participativo an la Zona Andina. Lima, Peru.
- Diale, N.R. 2011. Socio-economic indicators influencing the adoption of hybrid sorghum: The Sekhukhune District perspective. South African Journal of Agricultural Extension 39:75-85
- Gerda, M.B., and D.V. Christopher. 2007. Can GM sorghum impact Africa? Trends in Biotechnology 26:64-69.
- Habindavyi, E. 2009. Morphological Characterization of Sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) Diversity in Burundi. CBM Swedish Biodiversity Centre, Uppsala University.
- Haussmann, B.I.G., A.B.Obilana, P.O. Ayiecho, A. Blum, W. Schipprack, and H.H. Geiger.
 1999. Quantitative-genetic parameters of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench) grown in Semi-Arid Areas of Kenya. Euphytica 105: 109-118.
- Heisey, P.W., M.L. Morris, D. Byerlee and M.A. Lopez-Pereira. 1998. Economics of hybrid maize adoption. In: Morris, M.A. (ed.) Maize seed industries in developing countries. Boulder, Colorado, Lynne Rienner.
- Kudadjie, C.Y., P.C. Struik, P. Richards, and S.K. Offei. 2004. Assessing production constraints, management and use of sorghum diversity in north-east Ghana: A diagnostic study. Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science 52(3):371-391.
- Ludlow, M.M., J. Basnayake, M. Cooper, Y. Tao, R.G. Henzell, J.M. Manners, I.D. Godwin and S.M.C. Duncan. 1994. A physiological-genetic analysis of osmotic adjustment to water stress in grain sorghum. Pp 17-22. *In*: Witcombe, J.R. and R.R. Duncan (eds.). Use of molecular markers in sorghum and pearl millet breeding for developing countries. Proceedings of an ODAS Plant Sciences Research Programme Conference, 29th March 1st April 1993. Norwich, UK.
- Mafuru, J.M., D.W. Norman, and J.S. Fox. 2007. Consumer Perception of Sorghum Variety Attributes in the Lake Zone Tanzania. African Association of Agricultural Economists. Advancing Technical Change in Agriculture 173, Accra, Ghana. p. 171-176.
- Magwede, K., M.P. Tshisikhawe, D. Luseba and R.B. Bhat. 2014. Ethnobotanical survey of medicinal plants used in treatment of ticks. Phyton (Buenos Aires) 83:155-165.

- Makanda, I. 2009. Combining Ability and Heterosis for Stem Sugar Traits and Grain Yield components in dual-purpose sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench) germplasm. PhD thesis. University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg. South Africa.
- Marsalis, M.A., S.V. Angadi, and F.E. Contreras-Govea. 2010. Dry matter yield and nutritive value of corn, forage sorghum, and BMR forage sorghum at different plant populations and nitrogen rates. Field Crops Research 116:52-57.
- Marsalis, M.A. 2011. Advantages of forage sorghum for silage in limited input systems. In: Proceedings, Western Alfalfa and Forage Conference, Las Vegas. UC Cooperative Extension, Plant Sciences Department, University of California, Davis, CA 95616.
- Mativavarira, M., J. Dimes, P. Masikati, A. Van Rooyen, E. Mwenje, J.L.N. Sikosana, and S.H.K.Tui. 2011. Evaluation of water productivity, stover feed quality and farmers' preferences on sweet sorghum cultivar types in the semi-arid regions of Zimbabwe. Journal of SAT Agricultural Research 9:1-9.
- Mekbib, F. 2007. Infra-specific folk taxonomy in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) in Ethiopia: folk nomenclature, classification, and criteria. Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine 3:38.
- Mmbengeni, M.E. and M.S. Mokoka. 2002. Provincial Report on Education and Training for Agriculture and Rural Development in Limpopo province. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries. Polokwane. South Africa
- Mwadalu, R., and M. Mwangi 2013. The potential role of sorghum in enhancing food security in semi-arid eastern Kenya: A review. Journal of Applied Biosciences 71:5786-5799.
- Nkgodi, D.R. 2005. Socio-economic factors determining adoption of hybrid sorghum in Sekhukhune district. MSc thesis. University of Limpopo. Polokwane.
- Nkongolo, K.K., L. Chinthu, M. Malusi, and Z. Vokhiwa. 2008. Participatory variety selection and characterisation of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) elite accessions from Malawian genepool using farmer and breeder knowledge. African Journal of Agricultural Research 3:273-283.
- Rana, B.S., S.L. Kaul, C. Appaji, Prabhakar, K. Shetty, B.V.S. Reddy, J. R. Witcombe, and D.S. Virk. 2000. Participatory varietal selection in rabi sorghum in India. The International conference on participatory plant breeding and plant genetic research, Pokhara, Nepal.
- Reddy, B.V.S., A.A. Kumar, S. Ramesh, and P.S. Reddy. 2011. Breeding sorghum for coping with climate change. pp. 326-339. *In*: Yadav, S.S., R. Redden, J. L. Hatfield and H. Lotze- Campen, Eds. Crop Adaptation to Climate Change, John Wiley and Sons Inc., Iowa.
- Shargie, N.G. 2015. In the spotlight: Sorghum seed production by smallholder farmers. Seed Special Focus.Grain SA 17(3):53.
- Sibiya J. 2009. Breeding investigations for resistance to Phaeosphaeria Leaf Spot (PLS) and other important foliar diseases and a study of yield stability in African maize germplasm. PhD Thesis. University of KwaZulu-Natal. Pietermaritzburg. South Africa.
- SPSS, 2013. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- Taylor, J. R. N. 2003. Overview: importance of sorghum in Africa. Paper 1 *In*: P. S. Belton and J. R. N. Taylor Eds. AFRIPRO, Pretoria. Workshop on the Proteins of Sorghum and Millets: Enhancing Nutritional and Functional Properties for Africa. http://www.afripro.org.uk/papers/Paper01Taylor.pdf
- Tesfamichael, A., A.B. Nyende, S.M. Githiri, R.W. Kasili and A. Woldeamlak. 2013. Documentation of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench) landraces: production, utilization and challenges in Eritrea. ARPN Journal of Agricultural and Biological Science 8:498-508.
- WOMIWU Rural Development. 2005. Agricultural development strategy of Waterberg municipality. Report 1: Status quo, policy analysis and opportunity identification.
 Polokwane, Limpopo Province, SA.

CHAPTER 3

Assessment of genetic relatedness among South African sorghum genotypes using agro-morphological traits

3.1 Abstract

Sorghum is an important cereal crop providing food, feed and bioenergy worldwide. Knowledge of genetic diversity among sorghum genotypes is essential for current and future breeding. The objective of this study was to assess the level of genetic diversity present among South African sorghum genotypes using agro-morphological traits. Ninety eight sorghum accessions collected from the Department of Agriculture Forestry and Fisheries, African Centre for Crop Improvement and Agricultural Research Council-Grain Crops Institute were phenotyped at two sites: Makhathini flats in KwaZulu-Natal and Burgershall in Mpumalanga during 2012. Experiments were laid out using an alpha lattice design with three replications. Data on eight quantitative and six qualitative traits were collected and subjected to principal component (PC), hierarchal cluster, and multivariate analyses and a dendrogram constructed using the Unweighted Pair Group Method with Arithmetic Mean. The principal component analysis revealed three important PCs that contributed to the total variation of 88.9% observed among genotypes across locations. PC1, PC2 and PC3 contributed to 46.69, 30.74, and 11.45% of the total variation. A dendrogram revealed three main clusters of genotypes. The grouping of the sorghum genotypes was not based on source of collection. The most diverse accessions identified were MP 4277, EC 2934, KZ 5097, FS 4909, and LP 4303 which are useful for breeding.

Keywords: Agro-morphology, genetic diversity, Sorghum bicolor, South Africa

3.2 Introduction

Genetic variation in crop plants is essential for crop improvement. Maintenance of genetic diversity within and among crop species is crucial for sustainable agriculture, especially under low-input production conditions of marginal environments (Worede, 1993). It is estimated that by 2050 the global population will rise by 8.9 billion due to population growth (FAO, 2006). Hence it is vital to boost agricultural production and productivity to ensure food security to the growing population. Availability of diverse and resilient genetic resources determines the current and future plant breeding and sustainability of agricultural productivity (Huang et al., 2007; Van de Wouw et al., 2010). A wide range of genetic diversity provides security for farmers against pests, diseases, environmental and other random stresses.

Morphological or phenotypic descriptors are useful to characterize crop genotypes (Ngugi and Maswili, 2010). Morphological traits provide descriptive information of ideotypes and aid in understanding the similarities and differences between genotypes (IBPGR and ICRISAT, 1993). Unlike DNA markers, morphological markers are influenced by the environment. Various studies used phenotypic traits to effectively distinguish sorghum genotypes (Abdi et al., 2002; Geleta and Labuschagne, 2005).

Sorghum is the most important cereal crop worldwide after maize, wheat, rice and barley (FAO, 2011). It ranks second after maize in sub-Saharan Africa in terms of production, providing food for millions of people (Gerda and Christopher, 2007). It is classified into two groups: wild and the cultivated types (Smith and Frederiksen, 2000; Ayana et al., 2002). The wild sorghum species include *Sorghum halepense*, S. *propinquum*, *S. bicolor* subspecies d*rummond*ii and *S. bicolor* subspecies *verticilliflorum*. The cultivated sorghum has been classified into five major races: *bicolor*, *caudatum*, *durra*, *guinea* and *kafir*, and 10 intermediate races based on panicle and spikelet characteristics (Dogget, 1988; Assar et al., 2005).

In South Africa both wild and domesticated sorghum species are present. Mann et al. (1983) reported that the South African sorghum race 'Kafir' might have arisen from introgression between domesticated and wild sorghum. In South Africa sorghum is cultivated by smalland large-scale commercial farmers in various provinces including Mpumalanga, North West, Northern Cape, Eastern Cape, KwaZulu-Natal, and the Free State. The Free State Province is the main commercial sorghum production area (DAFF, 2010). Sorghum is a foundation crop in the food and beverage industries in the country (Taylor, 2000; Taylor, 2003). In addition, sorghum crop residues are a good sources of animal feed and fodder (Rooney and Waniska, 2001; Chakauya et al., 2006).

Phenotypic characterization and evaluation of sorghum genotypes are dependent on records of qualitative or quantitative morphological traits (Upadhyaya et al., 2010). Geleta et al. (2005) used qualitative traits including leaf midrib colour, grain colour, glume colour, endosperm texture, awns and panicle compactness. Quantitative traits include plant height, maturity period, leaf area, leaf width, leaf length, number of leaves, panicle length, grain yield per plant, grain size, 1000 grain weight, grain number per panicle, panicle width, number of primary branches per panicle, and panicle weight (Punitha et al., 2010). However, some of the aforementioned traits may have limited agronomic importance for growers. Previous studies demonstrated that sorghum is genetically diverse with cultivated sorghums exhibiting great phenotypic variability (Rao et al., 1996; Aruna and Audilakshmi, 2008). A wide range of genetic diversity was observed among sorghum landraces in Cameroon (Barnaud et al., 2007). Ganesamurthy et al. (2010) observed a great phenotypic variability among sorghum landraces collected in Tamil Nadu. In Kenya, Muraya et al. (2011) reported a wide range of morphological and structural diversity among the wild sorghums. Gerrano (2011) reported a wide range of morphological diversity among 22 sorghum genotypes from Ethiopia and South Africa using qualitative and quantitative descriptors. Among the 11 South African sorghum genotypes studied by Gerrano (2011) only two were landraces. Morphological diversity analysis of South African sorghum germplasm is required using a relatively greater number of samples, representing the diverse sorghum growing provinces. This will allow gathering adequate information on the phenotypic performance and relatedness among the sorghum germplasm originating from South Africa for effective use of the sorghum genetic resources and future conservation strategies. The objective of the study was to assess the level of genetic diversity present among South African sorghum genotypes using agro-morphological traits.

3.3 Materials and methods

3.3.1 Plant material

A total of 98 South African sorghum genotypes were used for the study. The genotypes were obtained from the Department of Agriculture Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF)-Plant Genetic Resources, the Agricultural Research Council-Grain Crops Research Institute (ARC-GCRI), and the African Centre for Crop Improvement (ACCI) (Table 3.1). The genotypes from DAFF

were originally collected from the following provinces: KwaZulu-Natal, Limpopo, Free State, Eastern Cape, North West and Mpumalanga.

3.3.2 Description of study sites and experimental design

Experiments were conducted at two localities: Makhathini Flats and Burgershall. The experiment at Makhathini Flats was established at the research sub-station of the ARC situated in KwaZulu-Natal Province at 27° 24' S and 32° 11' 48"E with an altitude of 72 meter above sea level (masl) dominated by the Hutton soil. The second site was Burgershall (25° 06' S 31° 05' E) which is the research sub-station of ARC situated in Mpumalanga Province. The site has an elevation of 697 masl and receives a total annual rainfall of above 950 mm with mean minimum and maximum temperatures of 18°C and 40°C in summer and 8°C to 25°C in winter, respectively. This site also has a Hutton soil. The experiment was laid out in an alpha lattice design replicated three times.

3.3.4 Data collection

Data was collected according to the Standard Key Descriptor Lists for Characterizations for sorghum (IBPGR/ICRISAT, 1984).

Quantitative data:

The quantitative characters measured were: plant height (PTH) measured from the ground to the tip of the panicle at maturity and expressed in cm; Panicle length (PAL) measured from the lower panicle branch to the tip of the panicle at maturity (cm); Panicle width (PAW) measured as width of panicle in natural position at the widest part (cm); grain weight (TSW) measured by weighing 1000 grains at 12% moisture content; seed yield per panicle (SWT) measured as weight of grain per panicle (g); Weight of head (panicle) (PWT) was recorded before threshing. Rachis number (RCN) measured as number of rachis per panicle. Panicle exsertion (PEX) measured as length of peduncle from flag leaf to the base of inflorescence (cm) as 1 = < 2 cm, Slightly exserted; 2 = 2-10 cm, Exserted; 3 = >10, Well exserted; 4 = Peduncle recurved.

Qualitative data:

Grain color was recorded using the Munsell Color Chart for Soil Scientists as 1 = White, 2 = Reddish white, 3 = Brown, 4 = Reddish yellow, 5 = Strong brown, 6 = blackish brown, 7 = dark red, 8 = dark reddish brown, and 9 = yellow, 10 = black, 11 = blackish strong brown, 12 = yellow red, 13 = yellowish brown, 14 = greyish brown, 15 = reddish brown, 16 = light brown, 17 = reddish black, 18 = light grey, 19 = red. Glume colour labelled as 1 = White, 2 =

Reddish white, 3 = Brown, 4 = Reddish yellow, 5 = Strong brown, 6 = blackish brown, 7 = dark red, 8 = dark reddish brown, and 9 = yellow, 10 = black, 11 = blackish strong brown, 12 = yellow red, 13 = yellowish brown, 14 = greyish brown, 15 = reddish brown, 16 = light brown, 17 = reddish black, 18 = light grey, 19 = red, 20 = dark grey, 21 = reddish dark grey, 22 = dusky red, 23 = dark brown, 24 = light green, 25 = grey, and 26 = dark yellow. Data were collected from the inner rows. Midrib color measured as 1 = Colorless, 2 = Pale green, 3 = Green, 4 = Purple, and 5 = White.

Inflorescence shape and compactness were recorded as 1 = Very lax; 2 = Very loose erect primary branches; 3 = Very loose drooping primary branches; 4 = Loose erect primary branches; 5 = Loose drooping primary branches; 6 = Semi-loose erect primary branches; 7 = Semi-loose drooping primary branches; 8 = Semi-compact elliptic; 9 = Compact elliptic; 10 = Compact oval; 11 = Half broom corn; 12 = Broom corn. Glum covering recorded as the amount of grain covered glume as 1 = 25%; 3 = 50%; 5 = 75%; 7 = 100% or grain fully covered; and 9 = Glumes longer than grain. Awns were recorded as either present or absent at maturity.

3.3.5 Data analysis

Data was subjected to correlations and Principal Component Analysis (Jackson, 1991) of the Multivariate analysis program in Genstat (GenStat, 2011). The quantitative data was analysed in GenStat 14.1 (GenStat, 2011) using the general linear model procedure. The dendrogram was constructed using the Unweighted Pair Group Method with Arithmetic Mean in the Agglomerative Hierarchical clustering in XLSTAT. The qualitative data was analysed using the Kruskal-Wallis test procedure.

Serial	Accession	Place of	Serial	Accession name	Place of
number	name	collection/	number		collection/
		Origin			origin
1	5405	North-West	54	5281	KwaZulu-Natal
2	5333	North-West	55	4547	KwaZulu-Natal
3	5464	North-West	50	5097	
4	5436	North-West	57	5245	
5	5454	North-West	58	4952	Free State
0	5430	North-West	59	4909	Free State
7	5393	North-West	60	4905	Free State
8	5337	North-West	61	4891 Motlerene	Free State
9	2107	Eastern Cape	62	Momentane	
10	3410	Eastern Cape	63	Manmopane	
11	3414	Eastern Cape	04 05		
12	3202	Eastern Cape	00	1VI 103 05 Datab 151	
13	2022	Eastern Cape	00 67	US POICH-151	
14	2922	Eastern Cape	07 69	Maseka-a-swere	
10	3304	Eastern Cape	00		
10	3403	Eastern Cape	09	00- POLCH-130	
17	2970	Eastern Cape	70	IVI40 OF Datab 115	
10	2024	Eastern Cape	71	05 Policii-115 05 Dotob 167	
19	2934	Eastern Cape	12	05 POICH-107	
20	2900	Eastern Cape	73		
21	3217	Eastern Cape	74 75	AS 02	ACCI
22	4270	Mpumalanga	75	AS 13	ACCI
23	1265	Mpumalanga	70		ACCI
24	4205	Mpumalanga	70	AG 4 AG 19	
20	2055	Mpumalanga	80	AS 10 AS 10	
20	5518	Mpumalanga	81	AG 13 AG 17	
28	4259	Mpumalanga	82	AS 16	
20	5502	Mpumalanga	83		
30	5541	Mpumalanga	84		
31	1990	Mpumalanga	85	AS 1 Ma Ctrl	ACCI
32	4277	Mpumalanga	86	AS 16 M2 Ctrl	ACCI
33	2048	Mpumalanga	87	AS 21	ACCI
34	4161	Mpumalanga	88	AS 8	ACCI
35	1450	Limpopo	89	4942	Free state
36	4312		90	4403	
37	1948	Limpopo	91	3281	Eastern Cape
38	1390	Limpopo	92	3439	Eastern Cape
39	5258	KwaZulu-Natal	93	3281	Eastern Cape
40	AS66	ACCI	94	5542	Mpumalanga
41	1413	Limpopo	95	1417	Limpopo
42	1394	Limpopo	96	AS1ems	ACCI
43	1481	Limpopo	97	4442	Limpopo
44	4303	Limpopo	98	4052	Mpumalanga
45	5088	KwaZulu-Natal			
46	5287	KwaZulu-Natal			
47	5233	KwaZulu-Natal			
48	5237	KwaZulu-Natal			
49	4722	KwaZulu-Natal			
50	5246	KwaZulu-Natal			
51	4606	KwaZulu-Natal			
52	4531	KwaZulu-Natal			
53	5274	KwaZulu-Natal			

Table 3.1 List of sorghum accessions used in the study

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Meteorological data of the study sites over an eight year period (2005-2012)

The meteorological data of the study sites including relative humidity, temperature, rainfall, solar radiation and total relative evapo-transpiration over an eight year period are presented in Tables 3.2 and 3.3. The present studies were conducted during 2012.

At Makhathini (Table 3.2), the mean minimum temperatures ranged from 16.82 to 18.00°C with the mean of 17.31°C and a mean maximum temperatures varied between 28.51 to 29.86°C with a mean maximum temperature of 29.13°C. The mean minimum relative humidity ranged between 40.86 to 44.68% with a mean of 42.59% and the mean maximum relative humidity varied between 53.98 to 90.62% with a mean of 85.40%. The mean total rainfall varied between 267.21 to 813.40 mm with a mean of 541.38 mm. In 2006 the mean total rainfall was high (813.40 mm) followed by the years 2010 at 684.28 mm and 2012 at 611.12 mm. The lowest rainfall was recorded in 2008 at 332.87 mm. The solar radiation varied between 12.06 and 17.52 MJ/m² with a mean of 14.53 MJ/m². The highest solar radiation was recorded in 2006 at 17.52 MJ/m² followed by the year 2011 at 15.04 MJ/m². The lowest radiation was observed in 2009 at 12.06 MJ/m². The total relative evapo-transpiration ranged from 71.21 to 109.07 mm with a mean of 93.57 mm. The highest total relative evapo-transpiration of 109.07 mm was recorded in 2006 followed by 101.50 mm in 2011 and 99.30 mm in 2010. The lowest total relative evapotranspiration was observed in 2012. There was minimal variation among mean minimum and maximum temperatures, mean minimum relative humidity, and solar radiation (Table 3.2).

Year	Mean Min temp (°C)	Mean Max Temp (°C)	Mean Min Rel. Humidity (%)	Mean Max. Rel. humidity (%)	Mean Total Rainfall (mm)	Solar radiation (MJ/m²)	Total relative evapo- transpiration (mm)
2005	18.00	29.86	44.65	53.98	477.60	14.34	93.22
2006	17.42	29.17	41.46	88.10	813.40	17.52	109.07
2007	17.07	29.18	41.67	90.29	547.90	14.44	93.21
2008	17.22	29.17	41.73	89.83	332.87	13.72	91.77
2009	17.16	28.51	44.68	90.62	267.21	12.06	71.21
2010	17.70	29.24	43.42	90.22	684.28	14.63	99.30
2011	17.07	28.93	42.23	90.29	596.65	15.04	101.50
2012	16.82	28.96	40.86	89.85	611.12	14.51	89.29
Min	16.82	28.51	40.86	53.98	267.21	12.06	71.21
Max	18.00	29.86	44.68	90.62	813.40	17.52	109.07
Mean	17.31	29.13	42.59	85.40	541.38	14.53	93.57
Variance	0.15	0.14	2.18	161.75	32155.68	2.29	122.54
Stdev	0.38	0.38	1.48	12.72	179.32	1.51	11.07

Table 3.2 Meteorological data of Makhathini from 2005 to 2012.

Mean Min temp = Mean minimum temperature, Mean Max Temp = mean maximum temperature, Mean Min Rel. Humidity = Mean minimum relative humidity, Mean Max. Rel. humidity = Mean maximum relative humidity.

At Burgershall (Table 3.3), the mean minimum temperatures ranged from 13.27 to 14.90°C with the mean of 14.24°C and the mean maximum temperatures varied between 25.68 and 26.78°C with the mean maximum temperature of 26.22°C. The minimum and maximum temperatures were almost similar over the eight years. The total rainfall varied between 692.90 and 1330.88 mm with the mean of 908.39 mm. The highest maximum rainfall of 1330.88 mm was recorded in 2011 followed by rainfall of about 1296.50 mm in 2006. The highest minimum rainfall of 14.90 mm was also experienced in 2005. The mean minimum relative humidity ranged from 40.95 to 54.79% with a mean of 46.82%. The mean maximum relative humidity ranged between 92.03 to 97.30 % with a mean of 94.00%. The highest mean relative minimum and maximum humidities of 54.79% and 97.30% were recorded in 2006, respectively. The solar radiation varied between 15.87 and 19.13 MJ/m^2 with a mean of 17.29 MJ/m^2 . The highest radiation was experienced in 2007. The total relative evapo-transpiration ranged between 84.89 and 108.63 mm with a mean of 97.78 mm. The highest evapo-transpiration was recorded in 2007 followed by 2005 at the evapo-transpiration of 103.42 mm.

Immense variation was observed among the mean maximum humidity, mean total rainfall and total relative evapo-transpiration over the eight year period at Makhathini.

Moreover, great variation was observed among total rainfall, and total relative evapotranspiration. A slight variance was observed for mean minimum relative humidity. Furthermore, there was minimal variance for mean minimum and maximum temperatures, mean maximum relative humidity and solar radiation among the years.

When comparing and contrasting the meteorological data of the two locations, the mean total rainfall in Burgershall (908.39 mm) was higher than in Makhathini (541.38 mm). The mean minimum and maximum temperatures of the Makhathini (17.31 and 29.13°C) were higher than the Burgershall temperatures (14.24 and 26.22°C). The Burgershall had high minimum and maximum humidity (46.82 and 94.00%), solar radiation (17.29 MJ/m²) and total relative evapo-transpiration (97.78 mm) than the Makhathini with 42.59 and 85.40% minimum and maximum relative humidity, 14.53 MJ/m² solar radiation and 93.57 mm total relative evapo-transpiration (Tables 3.2 and 3.3). The two locations had mean minimum and maximum temperatures, solar radiation and total relative evapo-transpiration in a decreasing trend over the eight years.

Year	Mean min temp (°C)	Mean max temp. (°C)	Total rainfall (mm)	Mean min relative humidity (%)	Mean max relative humidity (%)	Solar radiation (MJ/m ²)	Total relative evapo- transpiration (mm)
2005	14.90	26.78	692.90	50.11	97.06	17.96	103.42
2006	14.38	25.69	1296.50	54.79	97.30	18.37	101.33
2007	14.09	26.72	744.50	48.49	96.40	19.13	108.63
2008	14.34	26.57	703.50	42.64	92.37	17.68	102.34
2009	14.32	25.68	755.50	46.20	92.32	16.87	94.02
2010	14.70	26.15	914.30	46.29	92.05	15.90	93.33
2011	13.91	25.82	1330.88	45.08	92.43	16.53	94.28
2012	13.27	26.34	829.06	40.95	92.03	15.87	84.89
Min	13.27	25.68	692.90	40.95	92.03	15.87	84.89
Max	14.90	26.78	1330.88	54.79	97.30	19.13	108.63
Mean	14.24	26.22	908.39	46.82	94.00	17.29	97.78
Variance	0.25	0.21	67729.50	18.97	5.95	1.41	56.47
STDEV	0.50	0.45	260.25	4.35	2.44	1.19	7.51

Table 3.3. Meteorological data of Burgershall from 2005 to 2012.

Mean Min temp = mean minimum temperature, Mean Max Temp = mean maximum temperature, Mean Min Rel. Humidity = Mean minimum relative humidity, Mean Max. Rel. humidity = Mean maximum relative humidity.

3.4.2 Quantitative responses of sorghum genotypes tested at two locations

3.4.2.1 Mean response of sorghum genotypes in two locations

The data of the eight quantitative traits was analysed using linear mixed models. The results are indicated in Table 3.4. Highly significant ($P \le 0.001$) differences were observed for all traits measured in both locations except for panicle length at Makhathini which was significant at $P \le 0.05$.

Plant height

There were highly significant differences (P < 0.001) among the sorghum genotypes for plant height in Makhathini experiment (Table 3.4). Plant height ranged from 18.30 to 259.30 cm. The genotypes that showed high plant height were AS 8, KZ 5246, LP 4403, AS 16, EC 3439, KZ 4606, EC 3319, KZ 5233, KZ 4547, Maseka-a-swere and KZ 5258. The lowest were AS 21, MP 4276, EC 2985, AS1 M₂ Ctrl, AS 18, AS 19, and 05-Potch-151, AS 17, LP 1417, and LP 1450. In Burgershall the plant height ranged from 67.89 cm to 160.90 cm. The genotypes that had the tallest plants were AS 82 and NW 5436 followed by AS 6, EC 2167, EC 3416, NW 5436, MP 5542 and LP 4303. The genotypes that had short plants were Motlerane, and LP 4442.

Panicle width

There were highly significant differences among the genotypes based on panicle width (Table 3.4). The panicle with ranged from 3.33 to 17.67 cm for Makhathini experiment. The genotypes with the broad panicles were FS 4891, MP 4276, KZ 4606, EC 3364, and Motlerane. The genotypes with the narrow panicles were AS 1 M₂ Ctrl, 05-Potch-138, NW 5405, AS 17 and AS 8. In Burgershall, the panicle width varied between 2.83 and 15.63 cm. The NW 5405, LP 1450, AS 1 M₂ Ctrl, 05-Poth-167 and EC 2985 genotypes had broad panicles and Mammolokwane, NW 5430, EC 3403, and Maseka-a-swere had narrow panicles.

Panicle length

There were significant differences observed among the genotypes based on panicle length (Table 3.4). The length varied between 6.67 and 27.67 cm for Makhathini trial. The genotypes that had long panicles were KZ 4722, LP 1413, 05-Potch-167, LP 4403, MP 5518, KZ 5258. The genotypes with short panicles were AS 21, LP 1417, Mammolokwane, AS 17 and AS 19. In Burgershall, the panicle length varied between 9.86 cm and 45.60 cm.

The EC 3217, LP 4312, 05-Potch-115, and MP 2048 had long panicles. LP 4442, MP 5542, and EC 3403 exhibited short panicles.

Number of rachis

Highly significant differences were recorded among the sorghum genotypes based on rachis number (Table 3.4). The rachis number ranged from 11.00 to 55.00. The genotypes that showed high number of rachis were Mammolokwane, LP 4312, KZ 5245, MP 4161, Manthate, KZ 5287 and Mammopane. The genotypes with low number of rachis were LP 1417, MP 2055, MP 4052, MP 5476, EC 3217, MP 5542, MP 4259 and 05-Potch-151. The number of rachis ranged from 21.33 to 74.00 in Burgershall. LP 4312 showed high number of rachis followed by EC 2167, EC 2922, NW 5333, AS 82, NW 5464 and AS 19. The genotypes MP 2055, Mammolokwane, KZ 4606, LP 1390 and Motlerane had low number of rachis.

Panicle exsertion

There were highly significant differences among the sorghum genotypes based on panicle exsertion (Table 3.4). The panicle exsertion varied between 6.00 and 68.33 cm. The genotypes KZ 4722, KZ 5281, LP 1417, MP 4052, and KZ 5233 were exserted. The LP 1394, MP 2048, EC 3281, FS 4909, LP 4312, EC 3319, KZ 4606, LP 4403, and KZ 4531 had maximum values and were well exerted together with the remainder. In Burgershall, the panicle exsertion varied between 2.69 to 40.33. Only Motlerane was exserted. The genotypes LP 1394, EC 3184, KZ 5237, LP 4403, KZ 5274, M153, AS 8, and AS 1_{ems} had maximum values and together with the remainder were well exserted.

Panicle weight

There were highly significant differences among the sorghum genotypes based on panicle weight (Table 3.4). The panicle weight ranged from 6.27 to 135.67 g. The genotypes that exhibited high panicle weight were NW 5430, NW 5393, Mammolokwane, LP 1450, 05-Potch-138 and LP 4442. The genotypes that had low panicle weights were EC 3281, EC 3416, LP 4403, AS 17, AS 6, and AS 66. In Burgershall, the panicle weight ranged from 5.67 g to 84.67 g. The genotype EC 2975 had a high panicle weight followed by 05-Potch-138, LP 1948, NW 5464 and LP 4403. The genotypes that exhibited low panicle weight were LP 1450, NW 5430, and Motlerane.

Thousand seed weight

There were highly significant differences recorded among the genotypes based on thousand seed weight (Table 3.4). The seed weight varied between 0.81 g and 13.50 g. The

genotypes that had a high thousand seed weight were MP 4277 followed by FS 4909, NW 5393, 05-Potch-138, and LP 1417. The lowest were MP 4052, EC 2985, NW 5436 and EC 3416. In Burgershall the thousand seed weight varied between 1.33 g and 48.00 g. The EC 3281 followed by FS 4942, LP 1450, EC 3281, EC 3184 and MP 4161 had high thousand seed weight whereas Macia-SA and AS 82 were low.

Grain yield

There were significant differences among the genotypes based on grain yield (Table 3.4). The grain yield varied between 1.00 and 180.40 g for Makhathini trial. The genotypes 05-Potch-151, LP 1413, KZ 5245 and AS 1_{ems} showed high grain yield, and NW 5436, 05-Potch-167 and AS 82 had low grain yield. In Burgershall, the grain yield varied between 30.30 and 217.30 g. The highest grain yields were observed in MP 4265, NW 5464, LP 4303, 05-Potch-167 and AS 17. The genotypes that had low grain yield were EC 2985, MP 4052, EC 3319, NW 5430 and KZ 5258.

3.4.2.2 Combined analysis of variance of eight morphological traits across two locations

Table 3.5 summarizes the mean squares of sites, genotypes and genotype by site interaction from a combined analysis of variance. The two sites showed significant differences ($P \le 0.001$) in all of the quantitative traits measured. Highly significant differences ($P \le 0.001$) were also observed among the genotypes on panicle length, rachis number, thousand seed weight and weight per panicle. Furthermore, genotype effects were significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) for panicle weight. Grain yield, plant height, panicle width, and panicle exsertion were non-significant. On the other hand, highly significant differences were observed on the genotype by site interaction on panicle length, rachis number, and thousand seed weight. The significant differences in genotype by environment could be attributed to the different reaction of the genotypes to sites or due to differences between the sites.

3.4.2.3 Mean response of ninety eight sorghum genotypes planted across two sites

There were highly significant differences ($P \le 0.001$) observed for variety and the interaction of variety within the site in all traits measured. For site, plant height, panicle exsertion, panicle width, panicle weight, rachis number and thousand seed weight were highly significant. Panicle length and seed yield were non-significant.

Plant height

There were highly significant differences ($P \le 0.001$) observed for plant height across the sites (Table 3.6). The mean plant height ranged from 47.5 cm to 174.7 cm. The genotypes that exhibited tall plants were AS 8, AS 16, KZ 5246, LP 4403 and EC 3439. The genotypes AS21, AS 18, AS 1ems, 05.Potch-151 and LP 4442 and MP 4276 had shortest plants.

Panicle exsertion

The panicle exsertion varied between 7.74 cm and 48.23 cm (Table 3.6). Only Motlerane was exserted (7.74 cm). The other genotypes were well exserted (above 10 cm).

Panicle width

Panicle width ranged from 3.44 cm to 15.83 cm among the genotypes (Table 3.6). Genotypes LP 4312, 05.Potch-167, AS $1M_2$ Ctrl and MP 4276 showed broad panicles while genotypes FS 4905, MP 5542, MP 5476, NW 5337 and NW 5436 had narrow panicles.

Panicle weight

Panicle weight ranged from 8.08 g to 92.02 g (Table 3.6). The genotypes that had higher panicle weight were 05-Potch-138, Mammolokwane, AS 18, NW 5430 and NW 5393. The genotypes with smaller panicle weight were LP 4312, AS 8, EC 3281, AS 6, MP 5541, AS 11 and EC 3439.

Thousand seed weight

Thousand seed weight ranged between 2 g and 43 g (Table 3.6). The genotypes EC 3281, EC 2934, KZ 4547, KZ 5097 and LP 4312 had the highest thousand seed weight and AS 6, MP 2048 and AS 82 had low seed weights.

Var				Makha	athini							Burger	shall			
	PHT	PAL	PAW	PEX	RCN	PWT	SWP	TSW	PHT	PAL	PAW	PEX	RCN	PWT	SWT	TSW
1	126.7	11.67	7	12	22.33	24.01	65.7	3.67	126.97	16	15.63	31.67	37	44.1	149.3	26.33
2	183	13	15	19.33	34	37.81	114.7	3.67	111.48	17.07	5.6	21.67	58	46.17	78.2	28
3	127	17.83	15	33	25.5	55.01	72.5	4	83.23	21.67	4.93	33.33	38.33	65.1	61.3	38
4	156	22.67	15.67	15	25.33	23.01	1.50	1	98.89	15.8	6.2	10.67	57.33	47.83	190.7	28
5	117	17.33	17	68.33	33	42.67	64	5	148.11	15	3.73	25	26	15	66.7	34.67
6	110.4	15.67	16	10.33	30	129.67	78.3	5	72.17	19	3.9	27	38	13.9	75	33
7	133.7	14.67	14.93	34.4	23.33	135.67	112.7	6.34	78.78	13.07	2.96	35	36	7.63	44.9	41.33
8	184.7	17	15.67	35.75	18	95.01	114	5	94.61	17	3.4	32.67	35.5	22.25	70	38
9	167.7	15	13.67	16.67	26.67	77.67	83.3	3	102.8	14.8	3.88	24.17	41.17	36.33	141.6	31.33
10	181.7	18.33	16	31.33	34	10.27	84.7	1	68.01	17.87	4.53	27.33	67.33	40.67	116.5	28
11	120	14	13.33	31.67	27	60.01	128.7	4.67	132.93	17	5.05	27.67	35.33	30.3	121.7	38
12	155.7	10	14	12	23.33	83.34	93	4.67	133.59	14.53	3.93	33.33	24.67	27	127.3	28
13	227	19.33	15.33	11.33	30.33	63.67	152	2.34	79.29	17.2	5.33	33	35	11.17	79.3	28
14	182	15.33	16	15.67	21	31.34	41.7	2	99.55	16.65	3.4	36	32.33	30.51	136.5	35
15	140	18.33	17.33	12.33	19.67	77.34	143.3	3	85.76	18.73	3.13	36.67	24.67	18.67	43	31.33
16	111.3	12.67	16.33	30	30	67.01	36.3	6	87.07	13.99	4.23	36	58.33	37.83	74.6	28
17	154	18.67	15.67	25.67	24.33	24.34	69.5	3	87.41	15.36	3.67	29.67	33.5	50.17	80.8	36.33
18	131	18	17	35.33	33	50.26	23.5	2	81.1	10.84	3	33	30	59.07	75.3	33
19	146.3	15.33	15.33	33.67	20	23.01	72.3	5.23	81.1	18	3.6	28.67	37.5	84.67	102.8	38
20	30	14.67	16.33	36.33	28	33.34	26.3	1	84.77	16.57	5.1	40	47	43	132.7	43
21	148.6	16.33	15.67	31.33	14.67	44.01	173.5	3.67	100.22	19.33	6.4	25	54	23.17	135.1	28
22	24.7	15	17.67	16.67	22.33	20.67	62	3.34	122.45	15.78	12.7	35.67	24.67	27.17	30.3	28
23	84.7	17.33	13	28.67	14	92.51	31.5	3	105.98	45.6	3.82	34.67	30.33	13.43	119.7	31.33
24	155.1	14.67	17	16.33	26.67	77.01	141.3	4.34	95.06	19.4	5.13	24.33	24.67	15.67	78.8	34.67
25	158.3	12.67	15.67	10.67	14	17.01	127	5.34	81.63	19.8	5.8	34.33	41.33	43.5	162.7	31.33
26	123.3	11.67	15	13	12.67	15.17	122	3.34	77.75	15.33	5.6	33.67	42.33	58.83	217.3	31.33
27	134.3	23.33	16.33	15.33	34	39.67	120.3	4.34	125.26	16.46	3.4	30	27.5	10.27	39.2	32
28	164.5	16.67	15.33	9.33	14.67	45.34	122.7	5.67	101.49	17.13	3.93	31.33	21.33	32.5	53.3	34.67
29	118.3	13.67	13.33	17.33	30	79.34	153	4.67	104.77	12.2	3.33	20	35	24.83	85.3	31.33
30	163.3	13.67	15	15.33	26	14.01	141	3	83.79	15.6	5.33	23.67	43.67	23.25	102.8	38
31	181.7	15.33	15.67	15.67	26	80.67	154	4.34	80.69	14.4	4.33	24.33	37	15.5	57.2	38.67
32	173	15	15	13.33	24.5	15.01	162.5	13.5	72.77	13.6	4.6	34	35.5	38.25	86	33
33	147.7	12	14	32.67	28.5	87.34	76	5	91.94	16.23	4.94	30.35	37.62	30.16	102.8	34.13
34	126.7	14.67	15.33	12.33	43	20.67	47	3.67	99	23.77	6.37	22	45.33	32.97	177.3	41.1
35	46	16.67	16.67	8.33	33.17	123.14	128	4	104.75	13.13	4.1	37	34	11.25	156	43
36	178	21	14.33	34.33	44	14.67	161.7	4.34	100.51	16.82	15.35	25	42.33	5.67	87.8	44.67
37	53	11	15	31.67	27	59.67	155	4.67	96.19	24	6.4	27	74	34	78.9	28
38	105.6	13.33	15.33	12.33	34.67	49.67	127	5.34	94.32	14	4.67	25	27	66.5	108	31.33

Table 3.4. Mean of eight quantitative traits of 98 sorghum genotypes evaluated at Makhathini and Burgershall

39	192	23.33	15.67	33.33	35	35.34	41.7	5.34	74.38	16.42	4.56	35.67	22.33	25.83	87	39.67
40	111.2	14.67	16.33	19.33	37.33	13.34	136.8	2	86.38	14.73	3.33	33.67	31	43.5	46.8	31.33
41	140.3	26	13.67	32.33	31.67	42.67	180.3	6.67	79.5	18.13	5.6	25	50	37	83.3	28
42	115.7	16	15	35.33	19.67	93.67	78	4.67	107.76	15.6	4.33	27.67	49	17.67	94	34.67
43	48	12.33	16	10.67	24.33	77.67	167.7	5	112.71	11.47	3.09	40.33	25	14.83	74.6	40.33
44	70	17.67	16.33	30.33	32.67	23.34	32.7	3.34	130.41	15.73	4.13	20	41	17	183.9	31.33
45	111.7	22.33	15	32.67	37.67	90.01	92	4.34	118.61	14.53	4.93	34.33	43.67	32.5	167	41.33
46	66	16.67	16.33	6	40.33	47.67	147.7	5.34	127.35	21.67	4.87	35.67	41.33	44.83	49.1	34.67
47	210.5	14.67	14	8.67	32.33	25.34	149.3	3.34	79.04	17.93	6.53	34.33	33	34.67	119.3	31.33
48	132	12.67	15.33	32	38.33	40.34	41.7	4	118.39	15.07	6.67	39.33	40.5	15.33	130	28
49	146.1	27.67	12.5	34	29.67	32.01	55	4.67	98.54	16.06	5.66	34	36.33	14.17	157.3	31.33
50	251.7	14.67	15	22	26	82.34	166.7	3.34	83.11	16.2	5.07	31.33	52.5	27.5	73.3	28
51	229.3	16.67	17.33	34.33	32	66.67	66.7	6	90.15	13.73	3.53	23	22.33	27.17	98.2	28
52	151.7	15.33	14	15.33	25.67	52.01	40.7	2.34	99.77	14.95	4.37	23.67	33.33	44.33	100.3	31.33
53	107.7	16	15.33	21.33	17	27.67	48.3	5	76.09	17.6	4.67	39	25	18.1	121	31.33
54	144.3	12.67	16.33	14.33	31.33	59.67	117	5.34	110.93	16.2	4.33	20	41.67	25.17	162.8	38
55	207.2	13.67	17	32	31.67	23.34	42.5	5.31	86.64	16.8	6.2	36	35.67	13.2	79.3	38
56	138.3	16	15.33	35	32.67	50.67	148.8	5.46	117.01	14.27	4	27	47.67	27.83	147.3	38
57	151	12.33	16.33	11.33	43.33	91.34	180	5.34	115.95	14.8	3.73	35.67	37	35.47	61.7	34.67
58	155.4	22	16.67	18.67	21.67	78.67	154.7	5.34	96.57	17.13	3.63	35.67	24.67	39.53	73.3	41.33
59	142	14.67	15	26.67	22.33	66.67	32.7	6.34	114.43	16.55	3.38	36	39	22.8	99.5	31.33
60	89.3	18.33	14.67	24.33	26.83	75.01	130.2	6	115.73	17.26	3.32	32.67	30.33	24.67	73.2	34.67
61	63	14	17.67	14.33	22.33	45.01	35.7	3.67	106.92	15.93	4.73	34	41.33	37.17	92	34.67
62	72.3	17.67	17.33	13.67	23.33	79.34	89.3	5	67.89	17.8	5.13	2.69	23	8.67	68.7	28.15
63	160	15.67	15	13.67	39.33	46.34	42.3	2.34	100.01	13.41	3.83	26.33	45.33	13	51	31.33
64	159.3	15	14.33	30	21.67	44.67	130.3	4.34	74.42	15.27	4.2	25.67	36.33	29.5	90	1.33
65	136.7	18	15.67	33	23	54.34	149.3	4.34	86.78	15.2	3.47	39	31.33	25	71.7	38
66	37	21.33	14.67	35.33	14.67	57.67	180.4	4.34	80.5	12.01	3.1	36.67	35	12	71.4	38
67	204.3	20	14.67	32.67	27.33	29.34	68.7	5.34	115.53	11.68	3	30	38.67	45.5	143.7	28
68	141.3	7.72	14	16.67	55	126.01	136	4.67	80.13	11.72	2.83	30	21.67	33.83	79.7	34.67
69	130.5	14	4	8.67	15.67	119.01	85.7	6.34	83.47	15.67	3.68	30	36.17	67.25	137	36.33
70	177.9	17	15.67	19.33	28.67	64.67	84.4	4.67	103.91	13.97	4.11	30	26.67	58.33	138.9	28
71	72	15.33	13.67	14.33	30.33	28.34	163.7	3	117.88	24	5.6	30.33	42.5	27.33	109.3	41.33
72	80	23.67	15.67	22.33	30.67	23.34	111	2	73.45	15.76	13.45	36.67	53.33	27.75	176.3	31.33
73	87.8	13	15.67	35.33	41	37.51	121	5	128.66	14.09	4.25	32.67	37.62	14	71.1	28
74	110.5	14.67	15.67	13.67	23.67	39.01	12.3	2.67	160.9	19.9	5.23	35	57.33	14.42	168	18.9
75	115	15.67	14	13.67	25.33	28.67	117.7	5.67	83.67	13.44	3.38	30.67	34.67	25.33	89.8	34.67
76	175	14.67	13.67	14.33	29.67	84.51	159	4.67	78.93	15.73	4.2	33	31	30.33	83.7	31.33
77	79.7	14.67	15.33	17	22.67	77.51	50.7	5.34	121.6	15.15	3.88	27.67	35.33	6.17	129.7	33.26
78	115.6	15	14.33	11	33.67	78.67	138.7	3	79.07	13.39	4.54	36	34.17	28.83	90.2	33.15
79	35.3	10	14.67	27	15.67	99.01	50.3	5.67	80.75	14.1	4	33	30	58.43	132	38
80	36.7	9.33	16.33	33.33	33	57.01	74.7	5.34	128.39	16.12	5.57	34.67	56	35.25	93.5	41.33
81	43.7	8	8.33	23.33	30.67	11.51	113.8	2	95.86	12.67	4.4	25.33	37	45.5	176	38

82	247	21	16 67	26	38 33	66 67	131	4 67	96 19	17 53	3 87	35	26	30 17	85 7	33 26
83	52.2	11	15.33	35.33	34	16.34	59.2	3.34	108 79	16.37	5 53	33	36.33	17 75	78.7	32.5
84	166	16.33	14 67	14 67	38 67	12 01	102.3	2	131.4	20.5	6.83	31 67	37 62	20	102.8	34 13
85	34 7	16.67	3 33	31 33	31	59.01	73	3 67	91 43	14 07	13 93	30	50	36.83	174 7	33
86	181 3	15.67	16	17	33	34.67	30	2 34	110.03	15.03	3 57	24 67	53 67	11 5	154.3	31 33
87	18 3	6.67	16 33	18	28	20.17	74 7	4	90.21	11.88	3 93	20	42 67	56	120	37 59
88	250.3	12 33	10.00	23.67	20	14 01	135 3	367	08 13	15.2	4 87	38.67	24 67	14 5	60	31 33
80	137	12.55	15.67	15.67	33 33	14.01	55	3.67	118 3	17.03	4.07	35 33	24.07	33.83	151	44.67
00	240.7	23 33	17	25	25	10.67	135	1 34	00 18	18.87	4.0 5 1	30.00	47.67	63 33	78.3	38
90 01	02 /	25.55	16.67	20 67	27 02	6.27	39.5	4.04	99.10	14.27	1.22	30.33 29	25.22	22.55	00.0	43.26
02	92. 4 236.3	13.05	13.67	16 67	26.33	16.01	22	4.20	110 /	15.03	4.23	20	35.67	22.07	30 72 7	34 67
92	230.3	16 67	14.67	0.07	16	10.01 53.67	20 156 3	2.54	112.07	10.90	4.4J 5	20	21 22	20.07	12.1	J4.07 19
90	170 7	16.67	14.07	15.67	14 67	30.34	165.7	3 3 1	121 17	10.12	J 4 47	22.67	35.33	10.0 50.17	00.0	40
94 05	170.7	7	15.07	15.07	14.07	50.54 62.24	100.7	5.51	131.17	10.75	4.47	23.07	30.33 22.23	16.6	99.7	34.07 20.15
95	44.7	10.00	10.07	1/	11	03.34 50.04	123	0.34	75.40	17.47	4.07	20	32.33	10.0	90	20.10
96	53.7	12.33	15.33	34.33	23.07	56.01	180	4.34	75.19	14.67	3.33	38.33	41.33	12.17	91.8	41.33
97	56.7	14.67	13.33	12.67	31	113.67	82.7	5	69.48	9.86	3.35	30	31	22.67	83.1	33
98	78.2	14.45	14.33	27.33	29.69	79.82	108.6	0.81	94.41	13.33	4.47	30	35.33	16.67	65.3	41.33
CV	18.7	19.9	14.2	19.5	30.3	27.8	20.3	37.5	11.2	37.3	36.2	8.6	14.5	39.7	18.5	15.8
(%)																
SE	24.2	3.12	2.12	4.37	8.47	14.59	20.15	1.58	11.109	6.06	1.79	2.61	5.47	11.98	18.97	5.39
LSD	43.58	5.61	3.82	7.88	15.24	26.27	36.28	2.85	17.891	9.76	2.88	4.2	8.82	19.29	30.55	8.69
(5%)																
R ²	0.89	0.7	0.64	0.89	0.58	0.87	0.9	0.65	0.82	0.41	0.73	0.9	0.84	0.74	0.87	0.57
F pr.	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	0.043	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001

CV = coefficient of variation; SE = Standard error; LSD = Least significance Difference; R² = R square value; F pr. = F probability; Var = variety; PTH = plant height, PAL = panicle length, PAW = panicle width, PEX = panicle exsertion, RCN = rachis number, PWT = panicle weight, SWP = grain weight per panicle, TSW = thousand seed weight

Source of variation	DF	PTH	PAL	PAW	PEX	RCN	PWT	SWP	TSW
Site	1	819.01**	15.43**	807.07**	366.65**	248.24**	316.54**	247.28**	6585.49**
Genotype	97	109.59	281.43**	111.4	119.55	283.41**	139.54*	123.75	171.26**
Gen*Site	95	96.99	177.13**	97.45	117.79	206.83**	116.01	103.01	158.78**
Residual		2786	12.33	12.97	60.17	73.97	692.2	2082	20.99

Table 3.5 Combined analysis of variance of eight quantitative traits in two locations, Makhathini and Burgershall..

DF = Degrees of freedom, Gen*Site = Genotype and site interaction, PTH = plant height; PAL = panicle length, PAW = panicle width; PEX = panicle exsertion; RCN = rachis number; PWT = panicle weight; SWP = grain weight per panicle, and TSW = thousand seed weight.

Variety	Plant	Panicle	Panicle	Panicle	Rachis	Panicle	Grain	Thousand
(Accession)	Height	length	width	exsetion	No	weight	yield	Seed weight
	(cm)	(cm)	(cm)	(cm)		(g)	(g)	(g
1	130.6	14.43	15.83	32.12	30.1	34.05	100.8	14.84
2	151.9	15.45	10.34	26.65	45.66	42.29	94.3	15.66
3	114.3	20.35	10.29	29.22	32.14	59.93	64.4	20.76
4	156.7	19.66	6.8	17.15	40.94	35.71	91.7	14.31
5	97.6	16.63	8.64	19.98	29.8	29.28	64.3	19.62
6	101.3	17.8	9.64	23.35	33.52	72.66	72.8	18.8
7	120.8	14.34	8.5	25.33	29.15	72.54	75.5	23.58
8	150.5	17.47	6.55	28.35	26.21	59.46	88.5	21.26
9	157	15.37	8.63	29.47	33.39	57.81	108.1	16.96
10	160.7	18.56	9.21	20.48	50.72	25.87	99.3	14.31
11	106.3	15.9	9.6	20.64	30.86	45.83	121.1	21.09
12	133.8	12.65	8.44	25.07	23.35	55.41	106.1	16.16
13	163.2	18.74	9.86	34.37	32.2	38.24	112.4	14.98
14	138.1	16.46	8.91	23.69	27.24	31.8	86.9	18.26
15	118	19.38	9.29	27.43	22.39	48.09	92.5	16.96
16	100.5	14.24	10.45	26.3	44.07	52.6	53.9	16.84
17	121.9	17.86	9.06	21.1	29.11	37.26	73.6	19.43
18	109.1	15.41	8.64	24.04	32.49	55.04	50.5	17.28
19	128	17.67	9.01	31.38	29.02	54.63		24.83
20	78.8	16.5	10.17	35.32	38.09	38.31	78.5	21.7
21	124.6	17.39	11.36	28.41	34.14	31.63	153.8	15.66
22	59.7	16.3	13.91	28.27	25.04	22.29	43.9	15.49
23	81.5	31.76	5.04	22.93	22.98	51.58	72.8	16.96
24	113.6	17.26	10.1	24.59	26.59	43.58	107.5	19.28

Table 3.6. Means and sources of variance of eight quantitative traits of 98 sorghum genotypes evaluated across two sites.

25	140.6	16.39	9.66	21.01	28.2	28.09	143.2	18.15
26	112.5	13.73	10.17	27.09	27.99	36.17	168.6	17.13
27	116.4	19.61	8.07	22.12	31.04	23.71	78.9	17.97
28	119.8	16.53	8.57	22.39	18.22	36.29	86	19.96
29	94.1	12.82	9.54	25.38	33.11	50.14	116.5	17.81
30	119.4	13.47	9.72	19.44	34.27	17.66		20.25
31	123.4	13.63	10.45	19.71	30.99	45.83	102.4	21.25
32	131.2	13.71	8.86	33.53	28.57	25.17	123.8	23.11
33	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	5
34	116.3	18.44	11.4	19.13	43.39	25.09	108.5	22.12
35	71	13.58	10.23	34.86	32.92	65.64	139.5	23.22
36	134.1	18.39	15.75	29.74	42.05	8.08	122.4	24.21
37	70.5	16.97	10.95	22.71	49.09	44.76	114.6	16.16
38	89.4	12.95	10.61	18.68	30.88	56.25	114.9	18.15
39	136.9	19.24	10.83	24.86	28.94	28.11	59.4	22.25
40	92.7	13.54	9.56	32.61	33.75	27.43	89.6	16.46
41	121.2	21.42	10.85	20.25	40.6	39.5	131.3	17.18
42	113.4	15.66	10.82	48.23	34.34	57.24	87.7	19.45
43	65.2	11.54	8.55	35.89	24.79	47.82	128	22.41
44	100.2	16.28	10.06	25.62	37.47	22.01	112.4	17.13
45	116	18.09	9.8	31.79	41.07	62.22	133.6	22.57
46	97.5	18.88	11.38	24.46	41.08	47.3	104.3	19.79
47	144.9	15.87	11.1	21.73	33.35	31.83	140	17.13
48	126	13.52	11	26.08	39.84	28.78	89.8	15.83
49	123.2	21.53	11.17	19.58	33.39	24.02	110	17.81
50	170.1	15.25	10.2	21.45	39.85	56	124.5	15.49
51	161.9	14.94	10.38	28.74	27.79	47.41	85.9	16.84
52	125.9	14.79	9.96	29.16	29.96	50.14	75.7	16.62
53	93.2	16.53	9.39	26.85	21.58	24.39	88.7	17.98

54	130.2	14.18	9.55	13.76	37.38	43.36	142.9	21.43
55	147.1	14.87	11.04	34.3	34.14	20.24	66.3	24.74
56	127.7	14.71	9.66	29.95	40.76	41.11	153.5	24.56
57	136.7	13.81	9.54	35.21	41.09	64.6	122.7	19.79
58	129.2	19.75	10.05	34.84	24.22	60.16	115.3	23.08
59	129	15.61	9.2	36.16	31.38	46.73	68.1	18.65
60	103.3	17.87	3.44	32.36	29.19	51.96	105	20.13
61	84.2	15.31	10.11	32.54	30.53	39.66	62.1	18.94
62	70.8	17.83	11.23	7.74	24.66	41.86	74.8	14.06
63	129.3	14.88	8.83	28.72	41.11	28.26	45.4	16.62
64	118	15.4	10.24	21	27.5	36.33	111.2	17.64
65	115.5	16.7	9.9	24.53	28.37	39.5	109.7	20.93
66	58	17.02	9.63	27.68	23.52	33.44	125.6	20.93
67	163.7	15.95	10.67	31.59	34.18	37.21	104	16.5
68	110.8	9.94	9.29	27.88	38.67	78.18	105.6	19.45
69	108.8	14.98	10.61	27.51	25.73	92.02	109.9	21.12
70	142	15.74	10.48	29.8	27	60.02	108.3	16.16
71	97.1	20.06	10.32	26.94	37.38	26.96	135	21.89
72	78.7	20.08	15.4	26.16	41.33	24.37	92.7	16.46
73	109.7	14.06	10.86	22.24	-	25.28	96	16.33
74	136.4	18	10.33	25.89	38.57	26.87	89.7	6.45
75	100.6	15.04	8.58	23.5	28.09	26.22	106	19.96
76	127.3	15.64	10.23	21.52	30.02	55.63	120.6	17.81
77	102.6	15.27	10.46	22.85	28.42	40.72	89.9	16.22
78	98.8	14.65	9.55	23.36	33.8	53.18	114.2	14.82
79	57.5	12.61	8.66	25.03	21.12	77.3	90.6	21.6
80	85	13.28	11.46	24.05	42.49	46.71	86.9	23.08
81	65.1	10.26	9.39	26.96	33.71	29.91	146.9	19.74
 82	172.1	19.16	9.76	25.67	31.88	48.37	109	15.82

83	75.8	13.61	10.29	28.1	35.06	18.48	71.3	17.71
84	144.1	18.34	10.44	22.42	-	17.43	-	2
85	61.3	14.97	13.95	22.73	39.89	47.95	122.8	18.12
86	139	14.99	8.97	29.53	42.99	24.64	97.8	16.62
87	47.5	8.91	9.66	27.2	35.03	39.59	99.1	17.32
88	174.7	13.39	10.78	25.67	28.53	15.03	99.4	17.3
89	121.1	16.78	8.88	33.07	33.73	40.59	108.4	23.87
90	167.8	20.75	10.24	38.01	35.98	38.49	109.3	20.93
91	86.2	14.43	10.45	35.63	31.12	15.98	65.6	43
92	166.8	14.11	9.74	24.36	35.79	19.87	49.6	18.78
93	79.6	17.03	9.36	23.64	23.36	36.65	122.6	25.18
94	144.2	13.35	4.42	16.99	24.66	46.26	135.4	21.95
95	70.7	11.87	10.96	14.99	21.32	41.54	108.9	14.87
96	57.8	13.23	8.83	28.42	32.48	36.26	140.8	22.57
97	58	11.47	9.86	20.88	30.94	68.27	85.4	18.8
98	81.7	13.38	10.06	32.69	32.96	48.92	86.7	20.88
Variety	201**	50**	19**	196**	245**	1430**	3782**	40.24**
Site	131379**	43.24	14299**	9516**	13966**	72196**	1387.7	127628.63**
Variety x Site	5405**	41**	14**	228**	229**	2087**	2241**	40.33**
Mean	114.2	15.9	9.9	26.4	32.6	41.3	101.1	18.77
CV (%)	16.4	30.27	19.46	14.02	21.79	32.35	19.25	20.73
SE	18.72	4.82	1.93	3.7	7.13	13.46	19.48	3.941
R ²	0.9	0.53	0.93	0.91	0.77	0.87	0.89	0.959
LSD (5%)	31.5	5.898	2.363	4.527	8.736	16.46	23.86	4.608

CV = coefficient of variation, SE = standard error, R² = R square value, LSD = least significance difference and Rachis No = rachis number.

3.4.2.3 Correlation analysis among phenotypic traits

Grain yield and related traits were analysed using pair-wise rank correlations coefficients. The results and association of the quantitative traits were reported based on the significance levels of 5% (P< 0.05) and 1% (P< 0.01), respectively (Table 3.7). Plant height significantly and positively correlated with weight per panicle, and negatively with thousand seed weight. It was further positively and significantly correlated with panicle length and seed yield, and negative and significantly correlated with panicle exsertion. Panicle length was significant and negatively associated with panicle width, and panicle weight. It was also significant and positively correlated to rachis number. Panicle width had significant and negative correlation with panicle exsertion, and significant and positively correlated with grain yield. Panicle width was also highly significant and positively correlated with panicle weight, and negative for rachis number and thousand seed yield. Panicle exsertion was significantly correlated with rachis number, and thousand seed yield. It was further, negatively and significantly correlated with panicle weight and seed yield. Rachis number positively correlated with thousand seed weight and a negative correlation was observed for panicle weight. It was further positively and significantly associated with thousand seed weight. Grain weight was significant and positively correlated with panicle weight. Thousand seed weight was positively correlated to panicle weight and was highly significant.

	PTH	PAL	PAW	PEX	RCN	SWP	TSW	PWT
PTH	1							
PAL	0.1213*	1						
PAW	0.0481	-0.0827*	1					
PEX	-0.1034*	0.0267	-0.1095*	1				
RCN	0.0012	0.0594*	-0.167**	0.1445**	1			
SWP	0.103*	0.0034	0.1204*	-0.0651*	0.1126*	1		
TSW	-0.3063**	0.0288	-0.3752**	0.4221**	0.36**	0.0391	1	
PWT	0.0481	-0.0827*	1.0000**	-0.1095*	-0.167**	0.1204*	-0.3752**	1

Table 3.7. Pairwise correlation coefficients of eight quantitative traits of 98 sorghum genotypes evaluated at two locations.

* P = 0.05; ** P ≤ 0.01; PTH = plant height, PAL = panicle length, PAW = panicle width, PEX = panicle exsertion, RCN = rachis number, SWP = seed yield, TSW = thousand seed weight, PWT = panicle weight

3.4.3 Principal component analysis

The quantitative data of the two locations, Makhathini and Burgershall were subjected to principal component analysis (PCA) in a Multivariate analysis. The principal component analysis revealed three most important PC's each contributing 38.9%, 30.96% and 18.13% (Table 3.8). This shows great variation among the genotypic traits under investigation. The factor loadings from the principal component analysis ranged from -0.10884 to 0.76384 for PC1, -0.55215 to 0.81235 for PC2, and -0.68285 to 0.2985 for PC3. Plant height, grain yield and panicle weight were the traits that contributed most to the variation in the first PC. Seed weight and plant height were the traits that contributed most to the variation in the second PC, and panicle weight, plant height, and thousand seed weight were the most contributors to the variation observed in the third PC.

Factor loading				
Trait	PC1	PC2	PC3	
Plant height	0.76	-0.55	0.3	
Panice length	0.01	-0.01	0.02	
Panicle width	0.04	-0.03	-0.08	
Panicle Exsertion	-0.03	0.01	0.06	
Rachis number	0	0.04	0.11	
Panicle weight	0.14	0.02	-0.68	
Seed yield	0.57	0.81	0.07	
Thousand seed	-0.11	0.11	0.25	
weight				
% variation	38.91	30.96	18.13	
Latent Roots	2644	2103	1232	
Cumulative variation	38.91	69.87	88	

Table 3.8. A factor loading of the eight morphological traits in 98 sorghum genotypes evaluated across two locations showing most important PCs.

3.4.3 Cluster analysis

The quantitative and qualitative traits were analysed using Agglomerative Hierarchical clustering to construct a dendrogram (Figure 3.1). Three major clusters were formed among the sorghum accessions. Cluster I was composed of thirty one genotypes and it was further sub-divided into two sub-clusters, Ia and Ib. The Sub-cluster Ia was composed of twenty two sorghum accessions, and sub-cluster Ib consisted of nine sorghum accessions. In sub-cluster Ia, entries KZ 5097 (56) and EC 2985 (20) were similar but distantly related with the other accessions in the same sub- cluster. In sub-cluster Ib, the genotypes KZ 5274 (53) and NW 5464 (3) were similar and also distantly related with the rest of the accessions in the same cluster.

Cluster II was composed of thirty three accessions which were classified into two subclusters, IIc and IIb. The sub-clusters formed two sub-groups in each sub-cluster. In subcluster IIc, the following genotypes: LP 1481 (43), Manthate (73), AS16 (82), MP 2048 (33), KZ 4722 (49), and FS4909 (59) were genetically similar but distantly related with other accessions in the same sub-cluster.

In sub-cluster IId, entries formed three sub-sub clusters. MP 4259 (28) and MP 5502 (29) were distant from the other genotypes but closely related with AS 82 (74), FS 4891 (61), and FS 4942 (89). EC 3217 (21) and KZ 4722 (49) were closely related by allocated far apart from the group of MP 5476 (23), LP 1948 (37), AS 18 (79) and FS 4952 (58).

Cluster III consisted of thirty four accessions and was categorized into sub-cluster IIIe and IIIf. Sub-cluster IIIe was further divided into two groups where KZ 5258 (39), EC 2975 (17), and LP 4303 (44) KZ 5245 (57) were similar and formed a group, but distantly related with the other accessions in the second group in the same sub-cluster. The accessions in the sub-cluster IIIf grouped themselves into two groups, where LP 1450 (35), EC 3414 (11), AS66 (40), MP 4276 (22), and EC 2934 (19) were closely related. The genotype MP 4052 (98) was different from the other accessions in the second group consisting of accessions AS1 M_2 Ctrl, NW 5337 (8), AS1 (76), EC 3403 (16), and M48 (70). The most diverse sorghum accessions identified were MP 4277 (32), EC 2934 (19), KZ 5097 (56), FS 4909 (59), and LP 4303 (44).



Figure 3.1. A dendrogram of ninety eight sorghum lines based on morphological traits using Agglomerative Hierarchical clustering.

3.4.4 Response of sorghum genotypes to six qualitative traits

3.4.4.1 Spearman's rank correlation analysis of six qualitative traits

Six agronomically important qualitative traits were analysed using Spearman's rank correlation coefficients (Table 3.8). The qualitative traits were grain and midrib colors, inflorescence shape and compactness, glume covering, glume color and either presence or absence of awns. The glume coverage was significant and positively correlated with the awns. The glume color was significant at P <0.001 and positively correlated with the midrib color. The midrib color was further correlated negatively with seed color and was highly significant. The glume coverage was significantly and negatively correlated with seed color. The head shape and head compactness was highly significant and negatively correlated with seed color. The midrib color. The correlations of the other traits were non-significant when correlated with one another.

Table 3.9	. Spearman's	correlation	coefficients	of six	qualitative	traits of	98 s	orghum
genotype	s evaluated a	t two locatio	ons.					-

	Awns	Glume color	Glume coverage	Head shape	Midrib color	Seed color
Awns	1					
Glume color	-0.012	1				
Glume coverage	0.004	-0.059	1			
Head shape	-0.002	0.172**	0.002	1		
Midrib color	0.049	-0.017	-0.005	-0.177**	1	
Seed color	0.102*	0.029	-0.101*	-0.012	-0.073	1

*= significant at P \leq 0.05, ** = highly significant at P \leq 0.001

3.4.4.2 Kruskal-Wallis analysis

The six qualitative traits were analysed using Kruskal Wallis test procedure with one way analysis of variance. The qualitative traits analysed are shown in Table 3.9. There were significant differences (P < 0.001) observed among the sorghum genotypes based on midrib color (Table 3.10). All other qualitative traits measured were non-significant at both P< 0.05 and P < 0.00 significance levels.

Table 3.9. Kruskal-Wallis analysis, and significant tests of six qualitative traits in sorghum.

Trait	X ²
Awns	0.110
Glume color	0.947
Glume coverage	0.471
Head shape and compactness	0.496
Midrib color	< 0.001
Grain color	0.968

3.5 Discussion

Principal component analysis

Principal Component analysis revealed the traits that contributed the most to the variation observed among the sorghum lines. The traits included plant height, rachis number, and panicle weight. The yield related traits can be useful in selection for the purpose of yield improvement. Yield is a complex trait which has many components contributing to its totality. Improving some of the yield components contributes to the yield improvement. It is important for researchers to consider the association among the pairs of the yield related traits; hence correlation studies are essential for assessing the association between them. In this study, there were significant correlations observed among the yield related traits. The genotypes with the traits that are highly significant and have low coefficient of variation can be used as a selection criteria for use of genetic material for handling and improvement.

Analysis of quantitative and qualitative traits

Information on significant correlation among the characters is important for initiation of breeding programmes as it gives a chance for selection of desirable genotypes with desirable traits concurrently. Various studies reported correlations among yield and yield components in their crop of interest. In sorghum, Tesso et al. (2011) reported significant positive correlation between leaf traits and yield components excluding the thousand seed weight and panicle length. In their study, the authors indicated that yield components were positively correlated with each other excluding panicle length and thousand seed weight. Nabin et al. (2013) also observed significant correlations among the fodder yield per plant with thousand grain weight and plant height. In other studies, grain yield has been reported to have significant positive correlations with harvest index, ear head dry matter, total dry

matter, head length, and width, leaf area index, and duration (Kadam et al., 2001). In many studies grain yield per panicle was also reported to have a positive significant correlation with plant height, panicle length, panicle weight, and number of seeds per panicle (Prasuna et al., 2012). Grain yield was also reported elsewhere that it was found to be positively correlated with plant height, panicle length and number of seeds per head (Chavan et al., 2011; Mahajan et al., 2011).

El-Din et al. (2012) reported a positive and highly significant correlation between number of grain/head and grain yield and positive significant correlation between panicle length and grain yield. Moreover, non-significant negative correlation was observed between panicle width and grain yield/panicle. Jankovic et al. (2012) also reported presence of very strong to almost complete, statistically very significant positive correlations among the morphological productive indicators per species. Plant height, leaf length, leaf width, stem diameter, and other quality traits were significantly and positively correlated with fodder yield per plant (Prakash et al., 2010). In sorghum, grain yield was significantly and positive correlation among days to flowering, plant height, leaf number and panicle width (Mallinath et al., 2004). Ramesh et al. (2012) reported positive and highly significant association between yield and other quality components at two sites.

There was enormous variation among the quantitative and qualitative traits measured in the study. The variation in qualitative traits was also observed and reported in Ethiopian and South African sorghum accessions by Gerrano et al. (2014). Updhyaya et al. (2010) reported variation on the qualitative and quantitative traits and identified specific traits as new sources in sorghum germplasm. The traits included early flowering, short plant height, medium panicle exsertion and medium sized seeds. Shegro et al. (2013) further reported highly significant differences among the quantitative traits in sorghum accessions under study and the qualitative diversity index values ranged from 31% for panicle shape and compactness to 84% of the glume color. Lekgari and Dweikat (2014) reported genetic diversity based on the plant height, days to anthesis and moisture content in sweet sorghum. Knowledge of patterns of diversity of genetic material is of great importance and is key component in crop improvement and breeding (Warburton et al., 2008).

Analysis of genetic diversity (clustering and genetic distance)

Studies on analysis of genetic diversity using qualitative and quantitative phenotypic traits in sorghum were reported (Ayana and Bekele, 2002; Abdi et al., 2002; Agrama and Tuinstra, 2003; Geleta and Labuschagne, 2005; Torkpo et al., 2006; Bucheyeki et al., 2009;

Ganesamurthy et al., 2010; Ngugi and Maswili, 2010; Abdel-Fatah et al., 2013). Shegro et al. (2013) further reported genetic diversity among the sorghum lines from Ethiopia using morphological descriptors. In addition, Suliman and Abdelbagi (2010) further reported the presence of genetic diversity among the sorghum accessions for Sudan.

Characterization of the accessions gives an overview of the traits and helps to understand similarities and differences among the accessions under investigation (IBPGR and ICRISAT, 1993). Based on the dendrogram, some accessions among the clusters and the sub-clusters were distantly related. The closely related accessions are those that are grouped within the same subgroup and share the same ancestral history. The DAFF collections were found in almost all of the clusters and were mixed in terms of the provincial collection. The grouping of accessions was not based on the source of collection, hence were mixed. This shows the presence of genetic diversity among the accession within and among the South African provinces. It may also be due to gene flow from the neighboring areas/provinces and sharing of seeds by farmers amongst themselves (Manzelli et al., 2005). Moreover, farmers share seeds and name the same accessions differently in various areas or regions (Chakauya et al., 2006). Farmer's practices may also influence the handling and conservation of the genetic material on their fields.

The results in this study concur with the study of Uptmoor et al. (2003) where the authors reported genetic diversity among the sorghum accessions, and the clustering of accessions was not based on the place of origin or source. The presence of vast diversity among the genotypes in this study was clearly shown by the distant relationships among the genotypes. The diverse genotypes could be useful for selections in plant breeding programmes and for further genetic improvement (Upadhyaya et al., 2010). They can also serve as potential parents for hybridization and for development of hybrids in line x tester analysis (Ngugi and Maswili, 2010; Ngugi and Onyango, 2012; Shehzad and Okuno, 2014). The presence of genetic diversity in the genetic pool allows breeders to make selections of the distantly related genotypes based on the phenotypic traits of interest, more especially the traits that may be appealing to researchers, farmers and end-users. Furthermore, for evaluation of inheritance of some of the specific traits are excellent indicators of presence of genetic variability among the genotypes under investigation, local differentiation and conservation, and can be employed to categorize morphological diversity (Grenieret et al., 2001).

3.6 Conclusions

Phenotypic evaluation of germplasm can be useful for characterisation, conservation and maintenance of genetic resource. The study revealed three most important principal components among the sorghum accessions evaluated in the two locations. Traits that were highly significant, and had positive correlation were observed among the yield related traits and could be selected for strategic improvement in breeding programmes. There was morphological diversity present among the sorghum accessions studied and the following lines, MP 4277, EC 2934, KZ5097, FS4909, and LP 4303, were identified as the most diverse. The phenotypic diversity based on quantitative and qualitative traits is imperative for germplasm conservation, classification and identification, and for strategic selection and isolation of novel genes based on specific traits. The best lines with quantitative and qualitative traits were MP 4276, NW 5430, 05-Potch-167 and EC 3217 across locations. They have intermediate plant height, well exserted, broad panicles, intermediate panicle weight, high weight per panicle and medium seed size (Intermediate thousand seed weight). The geotypes can be selected for further breeding based on the morphological traits.

3.6 References

- Abdel-Fatah, B.E., E.A. Ali, A.A.T, El-Din and E.M. Hessein. 2013. Genetic diversity among Egyptian sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench) landraces in agro-morphological traits and molecular markers. Asian Journal of Crop Science 5(2):106-124.
- Abdi, A., E. Bekele, Z. Asfaw, and A. Teshome. 2002. Patterns of morphological variation of sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] landraces in qualitative characters in North Shewa and South WeloEthiopia. Hereditas 137:161-172.
- Agrahama, H. A., and M. R. Tuinstra. 2003. Phylogenetic diversity and relationships among sorghum accessions using SSRs and RAPDs. African Journal of Biotechnology 2: 334-340.
- Aruna, C., and S. Audilakshmi. 2008. A strategy to identify potential germplasm for improving yield attributes using diversity analysis in sorghum. Plant Genetic Resources 6:187-194.
- Assar, A.A.H., R. Uptmoor, A.A. Abdelmula, M. Salin, F. Ordon, and W. Friedt. 2005. Genetic variation in sorghum germplasm for Sudan, ICRISAT, and USA assessment by simple sequence repeat (SSRs). Crop Science 45.
- Ayana, A., E. Bekele, and T. Bryngelsson. 2002. Genetic variation in wild sorghum (Sorghum bicolor) Ssp. Verticilliflorum (L.) Moench) germplasm from Ethiopia

assessed by Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA (RAPD). Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution 45:499-510.

- Barnaud , A. , M. Deu , E. Garine , D. McKey , and H. I. Joly. 2007. Local genetic diversity of sorghum in a village in northern Cameroon: Structure and dynamics of landraces. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 114:237-248.
- Bucheyekei, T.L.; C. Gwanama, M. Mgonja, M. Chisi, R. Folkertsma, and R. Mutegi. 2009. Genetic variability characterisation of Tanzania sorghum landraces based on Simple Sequence Repeats (SSRs) molecular and morphological markers. Journal African Crop Science 17:71-86.
- Chakauya, E., P. Tongoona, E.A. Matibiri, and M. Grum. 2006. Genetic diversity assessment of sorghum landraces in Zimbabwe using microsatellites and indigenous local names. International Journal of Botany 2:29-35.
- Chavan, S.K., R.C. Mahajan, and S.U. Fatak. 2011. Correlation and path analysis studies in sorghum. Crop Research 42:246-250.
- DAFF. 2010. Sorghum production guideline. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Republic of South Africa.
- Dogget, H.D. 1988. Sorghum. 2nd ed. Longman Group UK, Green and Co. Ltd, London, Harlow, England.
- El-Din, A.A.T., E.M. Hessein, and E.A. Ali. 2012. Path coefficient and correlation assessment of yield and yield associated traits in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L.). American-Eurasian Journal f Agricultural and Environmental Sciences 12:815-819.
- FAO. 2006. World agriculture: Towards 2030/2050. Interim Report. Global Perspective Studies Unit. FAO, Rome.

FAO. 2011. FAOSTAT.

- Ganesamurthy, K., D. Punitha, and M. Elangovan. 2010. Genetic diversity among the land races of sorghum collected in Tamil Nadu. Electronic Journal of Plant Breeding 1:1375-1379.
- Geleta, N., and M.T. Labuschagne. 2005. Qualitative traits variation in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) germplasm from eastern highlands of Ethiopia. Biodiversity and Conservation 14:3055-3064.
- Geleta L.F., M.T. Labuschagne, and C.D. Viljoen. 2005. Genetic variability in pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.) estimated by morphological data and amplified fragment length polymorphism markers. Biodiversity and Conservation 14:2361-2375.
- GenStat. 2011. (PC/Windows XP). VSN International Ltd.
- Gerda, M.B., and D.V. Christopher. 2007. Can GM sorghum impact Africa? Trends in Biotechnology 26:64-69.

- Gerrano, A.S. 2011. Biodiversity in plant, grain and nutritional characteristics of sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] accession from Ethiopia and South Africa Department of Plant Sciences (Plant Breeding). University of the Free State, Bloemfontein, South Africa.
- Gerrano, A.S., M.T. Labuschagne, A. Van Biljon, and N.G. Shargie. 2014. Genetic diversity assessment in sorghum accessions using qualitative morphological and amplified fragment length polymorphism markers. Scientia Agricola 71:345-355.
- Grenieret, C., P. Hamon, and P.J. Bramel-Cox. 2001. Core collection of sorghum: ii. Comparison of three random sampling strategies. Crop Science 41(1):241-246.
- Huang, X.Q., M. Wolf, M.W. Ganal, S. Orford, R.M.D. Koebner, and M.S. Roder. 2007. Did modern plant breeding lead genetic erosion in European winter wheat varieties? Crop Science 47:343-349.
- IBPGR, and ICRISAT. 1993. Descriptors for Sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L) Moench]. International Board for Plant Genetic Resources. Rome, Italy. International Crop Research Institute for the Semi- Arid Tropics, Patancheru, India.
- IBPGR/ICRISAT. 1984. Sorghum descriptors. IBPGR, Rome, Italy.
- Jackson, J.E. 1991. Frontmatter, in A user's guide to Principal Components. John Wiley and Sons, Inc. Hoboken. NJ, USA.
- Jankovic, S., S. Rakic, J. Ikanovic, J. Kuzevski, and Z.L. Lj. Zivanovic. 2012. Correlation coefficient of morphological-productive traits of species of *Sorghum* genus. Biotchnology in Animal Husbandry 28:585-593.
- Kadam, G.N., S.R. Gadash, and V.R. Awari. 2001. Physiological analysis of rabi sorghum genotypes for shallow soil. Annals of Plant Physiology 15:16-20.
- Lekgari, A., and I. Dweikat. 2014. Assessment of genetic variability of 142 sweet sorghum germplasm of diverse origin with molecular and morphological markers. Open Journal of Ecology 4:371-393.
- Mahajan, R.C., P.B. Wadikar, S.P. pole, and M.V. Dhuppe. 2011. Variability, correlation and path analysis studies in sorghum Research Journal of Agricultural Sciences 2:101-103.
- Mallinath, V., B.D. Biradar, B.M. Chittapur, P.M. Salimath, N. Yenagi, and S.S. Patil. 2004. Varibaility and correlation studies in pop sorghum. Karnataka Journal of Agricultural Sciences. 17(3):463-467.
- Mann, J.A., C.T. Kimber, and F.R. Miller. 1983. The origin and early cultivation of sorghums in Africa. Texas Agriculture Experiment Station, Texas, USA.
- Manzelli, M., S. Benedettelli, and V. Vecchio. 2005. Agricultural biodiversity in Northwest Somalia–an assessment among selected Somali sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) germplasm. Biodiversity and Conservation 14:3381-3392.

- Muraya, M.M., S. de Villiers, H.K. Parzies, E. Mutegi, F. Sagnard, B.M. Kanyenji, D. Kiambi, and H.H. Geiger. 2011. Genetic structure and diversity of wild sorghum populations (*Sorghum spp.*) from different eco-geographical regions of Kenya. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 123:571-583.
- Nabin, B., S.K. Pahujah, and Dharmveer. 2013. Correlation and path coefficient analysis for some DUS traits in forage sorghum [*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench]. Annals of Biology 29:127-131.
- Ngugi, K., and R. Maswili. 2010. Phenotypic diversity in sorghum landraces from Kenya. African Crop Science Journal 18:165-173.
- Ngugi, K., and C.M. Onyango. 2012. Analysis of the molecular diversity of Kenyan sorghum germplasm using microsatellites. Journal of Crop Science and Biotechnology 15:189-194.
- Prakash, R., K. Ganesamurthy, A. Nirmalakumari, and P. Nagarajan. 2010. Correlation and path analysis in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench). Electron Journal of Plant Breeding 1:315-318.
- Prasuna, C.H., J. Farzana, and C. Aruna. 2012. Association of grain yield and component traits in sorghum The Journal of Research Angrau 40:66-69.
- Punitha, D., K. Ganesamurthy, and S. Rajarathinam. 2010. Metrogly analysis of morphological variations in sorghum germplasm collections. Electronic Journal of Plant Breeding 1:536-541.
- Ramesh, C., J.Y.P. Kewalanand, and S. Singh. 2012. Correlation studies in multicut forage sorghum grown under different environments. Forage Research 37:263-265.
- Rao, S.A., K.E. P. Rao, M.H. Mengesha, and V.G. Reddy. 1996. Morphological diversity in sorghum from India. Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution 43:559-567.
- Rooney, L.W., and R.D. Waniska. 2001. Sorghum food and industrial utilization. p. 751-765.*In*: a. R. A. F. C.W. Smith (ed.) Sorghum: Origin, history, technology and production.John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- Shegro, A., M.T. Labuschagne, N. Geleta, and A.v. Biljon. 2013. Assessment of genetic diversity in sorghum using phenotypic markers. Cereal Research Communications 41:509-518.
- Shehzad, T., and K. Okuno.2014. Diversity assessment of sorghum germplasm and its utilization in genetic analysis of quantitative traits-A review. Australian Journal of Crop Science 8(6):937-944.
- Smith, C.W., and R.A. Frederiksen. 2000. Sorghum:origin, history, technology, and production. John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- Suliman, S., and M.A. Abdelbagi. 2010. Characterisation of genetic diversity among Sudanese sorghum accessions using molecular markers and phenotypic

characteristics. Second RUFORUM Biennial Meeting 20 - 24 September, Entebbe, Uganda.

- Taylor, J., and J. Dewar. 2000. Fermented products: Beverages and porridges. Pp. 751-795.*In*: a. R. A. F. C.W. Smith (ed.) Sorghum: Origin, history, technology and production.John Wiley and Sons. , New York.
- Taylor, J.R.N. 2003. Overview: Importance of sorghum in Africa. Department of Food Science. University of Pretoria, Pretoria.
- Tesso, T., T. Alemu, and M. Hussein. 2011. Association between morphological traits and yield components. Hereditas 148:98-109.
- Torkpo, S. K., E.Y. Danquah, S.K. Offei, and E.T. Blay. 2006. Esterase, total protein and seed storage protein diversity in okra (*Abelmoschus esculentus* I. Moench). West Africa Journal of Applied Ecology 9:1-7.
- Upadhyaya, H.D., S. Sharma, B. Ramulu, R. Bhattacharjee, C.L.L. Gowda, V. G. Reddy, and S. Singh. 2010. Variation for qualitative and quantitative traits and identification of trait-specific sources in new sorghum germplasm. Crop and Pasture Science 61:609-618.
- Uptmoor, R., W. Wenzel, W. Friedt, G. Donaldson, K. Ayisi, and F. Ordon. 2003. Comparative analysis on the genetic relatedness of *Sorghum bicolor* accessions from Southern Africa by RAPDs, AFLPs and SSRs. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 106:1316-1325.
- Van de Wouw, M., T. van Hintum, C. Kik, R. Van Treuren, and B. Visser. 2010. Genetic diversity trends in twentieth century crop cultivars: A Meta analysis. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 102:1241-1252.
- Warburton, M.L., J.C. Peif, M. Frisch, M. Bohn, C. Bedoya, X.C. Xia, J. Crossa, J. Franco, D. Hoisington, K. Pixley, S. Taba, and A.E. Melchinger. 2008 Genetic diversity in CIMMYT nontemperate maize germplasm: landraces, open pollinated varieties, and inbred lines. Crop Science 48:617-624.
CHAPTER 4

Comparison between random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers with high resolution melt analyses in genetic variation analysis among selected sorghum genotypes

4.1 Abstract

Understanding the genetic diversity of germplasm is essential in plant breeding programmes and germplasm management. Molecular markers are efficient and effective tools widely used for assessing genetic diversity among crop genotypes. Recently, high resolution melt analysis (HRM) has been reported for detecting genetic variability. However, there is limited information on the use of HRM in conjunction with other molecular marker techniques for assessing genetic variation in sorghum. This study was conducted to compare RAPD and SSR markers with HRM analyses to determine genetic variation among selected sorghum genotypes. Eight diverse sorghum accessions obtained from the plant genetic resources, Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries/South Africa were subjected for both analyses. DNA was extracted from fresh leaves of the eight accessions and amplified using three RAPD and three SSR primers. The HRM analysis was performed and temperature normalised melting curves and difference plots were created and results compared. Both the molecular markers, the SSR and RAPD and HRM revealed variations among the accessions. The HRM melting profiles fairly well correlated with results from the RAPD and SSR analysis. The clustering of sorghum accessions using SSR marker highly corresponded with the HRM analysis. Therefore, the HRM can be a useful tool in genetic diversity and classification of sorghum genotypes without post-PCR analysis or processing.

Keywords: Genetic diversity, HRM, high resolution melt analysis, RAPD, SSR, sorghum

4.2 Introduction

Sorghum [Sorghum bicolor L. (Moench)] is one of the most important food security crops worldwide after wheat, rice, maize, and barley (FAO, 2011). It is grown by small and large scale farmers for food and livestock feed including environments considered to be marginal for other cereal crops such as maize and wheat. In spite of its economic potential, there has been limited research and extension in sorghum compared to other cereal crops such as maize and wheat in South Africa (Wenzel et al., 2001). Characterisation of sorghum germplasm is an important aspect in plant breeding programs to find new sources of genetic variation. Exploitation of diversity at the genotypic level requires an efficient system such as molecular marker technology (Iqbal et al., 2010). This technology allows estimation of genetic resource diversity more efficiently and reliably than phenotypic markers which are subject to genotype by environment interaction (Staub et al., 1997). The use of molecular markers aid the conventional breeding in many aspects including selection of parents for hybridization through genotypic diversity analysis studies (Jain and Kharkwal, 2004).

The DNA-based fingerprinting techniques are important tools for genetic variation studies in plant breeding and germplasm management and gene identification (McGregor et al., 2000; Simionic et al., 2002). Various marker techniques have been used for analysis of genetic diversity in sorghum including randomised amplified polymorphism (RAPD) (Prakash et al., 2008; Iqbal et al., 2010; Shivjee and Khanna, 2010) and simple sequence repeat (SSR) (Shehaz et al., 2009; Rajput et al., 2012; Reddy et al., 2012). These marker techniques are discrete, co-dominant or dominant, and free from epistatic gene action (Tanksley et al., 1989). In contrast to morphological or biochemical marker techniques, DNA-based methods are independent of environmental factors and results to a high level of polymorphism (Karp et al., 1997).

The high resolution melt (HRM) analysis is helpful for discriminating genotypes in combination with other molecular marker techniques. This technique has been reported in various studies and is advantageous due to lack of post-PCR sample processing and/or separation (Montgomery et al., 2007). The HRM can be used for genotyping in various ways including the use of amplicon melt with temperature controls (Seipp et al., 2007), unlabelled probes with the 3'-end to prevent extension by *Taq* polymerase (Zhou et al., 2004), and fluorescently labeled primers. The most common approach is the use of fluorescently labeled primers binds the genomic DNA in the presence of a dye. The

fluorescence is captured while samples are melting, following the PCR. The melting profiles are determined by GC content, length and the homozygosity and/or heterozygosity status of the sample genotypes (Reed et al., 2007). The melting profiles can be evaluated by normalized fluorescence curves, derivative plots, or difference plots to detect variation (Vaugn and Elenitoba-Johnson, 2004). This takes a very short time which is more beneficial to marker assisted selection in plant breeding programmes. The HRM has been reported in various studies including maize (Naidoo, 2010), potato (De Koeyer et al., 2010), almond (Wu et al., 2009), apple (Chagne et al., 2008), white lupin (Croxford et al., 2008), and perennial rye grass (Studer et al., 2009). The objective of the study was to compare RAPD and SSR marker and high resolution melt (HRM) analyses to determine genetic variation among selected sorghum genotypes.

4.3 Materials and methods

Plant materials

Eight sorghum genotypes were used for this study supplied by the plant genetic resources unit of the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (South Africa). Lines were coded as KZ87 (KZ 5287), EC67 (EC 2167), NW93 (NW 5393), LP48 (LP 1948), FS52 (FS 4952), EC3217 (EC 3217), FS489 (FS 4891) and MP65 (MP 4265) and originally collected from KwaZulu-Natal, Eastern Cape, North West, Limpopo, Free State, and Mpumalanga provinces as prefixed in the codes. The sorghum genotypes were planted in the African Centre for Crop Improvement (ACCI) tunnel at the University of KwaZulu-Natal. Two sorghum seeds of each accession were planted in 40 cm diameter plastic pots filled with seedling mix in five replicates. Each line was planted in 5 pots. Cultural practices were applied as necessary and water supplied as drip irrigation.

DNA extraction and quantification

The DNA was extracted using the CTAB extraction method (Kang et al., 1998; Saghai-Maroof et al., 1984). Young fresh leaves of each sorghum genotype were sampled via a lid of 1.5 ml microfuge tubes where a disc of leaf material was punched out into a tube. Four hundred µl of 2% CTAB extraction buffer [2% (w/v) CTAB 100 mM of Tris-HCI (pH 8.0), 1.4 M of NaCl, 20 mM of EDTA (pH 8.0) and 1% (w/v) PVP] was added to each tube. Samples were treated with a bead beater. The leaf material was then incubated in a waterbath at 66°C for an hour. Four hundred µl of chloroform:isoamyl alcohol (24:1 v/v) was added and then centrifuged at 4°C for 10 minutes at 12 000 g. The top aqueous part was transferred into fresh 1.5 ml microfuge tubes and 0.62 volumes of ice-cold isopropanol was added,

mixed gently and incubated at room temperature to precipitate the DNA. The precipitated product was centrifuged for 5 minutes at 12 000 g and the supernatant were removed. The DNA pellet was washed by adding 1 ml 70% (v/v) ethanol followed by centrifugation at 12000 g. The supernatant was discarded and following a quick spin the pellet was aspirated and then air dried at room temperature overnight. The DNA was suspended in 25 μ l TE buffer. The genomic DNA concentrations were quantified using a NanoDrop spectrophotometer ND-1000 (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, Delaware, USA) with absorbance 260/280 nm wavelengths. The DNA was diluted to a working concentration of 25 ng/µl TE buffer.

PCR and HRM conditions

The HRM analysis followed previous studies of Wu et al. (2008). The stock solution of the template DNA for each sample was diluted to a final concentration of 25 ng/µl in 0.1× TE buffer. A total of 15 µl per reaction mixture was prepared for PCR amplification. The reaction mixture contained 4.5 µl water, 7.5 µl KAPA (2×) Universal (KAPA SYBR^(R) FAST qPCR Kit) master mix, 1.5 µl of 500 nM RAPD primers (Table 4.1) and the 1.5 µl of 25 ng/µl template DNA. Negative and positive controls were included in each PCR setup to ensure non-contamination of the reagents. The reaction mixtures were amplified using a Rotor-Gene 6000 real-time rotary analyser. The machine was also used for HRM analysis. The PCR was performed as follows: an initial step of 95°C 2 minutes followed by 40 cycles of 95°C 10 seconds, 37°C 20 seconds, 72°C for 20 seconds. The HRM was performed after the PCR analysis with the ramp temperature of 70°C-90°C with each step rising with 0.2°C, the premelt conditioning for 90 seconds on the initial step, and 2 seconds equilibration after each step. The melting curves were created and the Rotor-Gene software was used to distinguish sorghum accessions by normalisation and difference plots.

A total of 15 µl reaction mixture of each accession was prepared as described for the previous method but using the forwards and reverse SSR primers at 200 nM (Table 4.1). The PCR setup was 95°C for 2 minutes for the initial denaturation temperature, followed by 95°C for 10 seconds, 72°C for 20 seconds for 40 cycles. The HRM was performed at ramp 75-85 degrees with each step rising with 0.1 degrees, and the pre-melt conditioning for 90 seconds on the initial step, and 2 seconds interval after each step. The melting curves were normalised and the Rotor-Gene software was used to distinguish sorghum accessions by difference plots.

Marker	Primer		Sequence
	GWKZN43	Xtxp335	Forward: 5' TATTTCCTCTTGAAAGAATCAGGG
			3′
	GWKZN44	Xtxp335	Reverse: 5' TATTCATCGAGCAAAAGGCA 3'
SSR	GWKZN45	Xtxp258	Forward: 5' CACCAAGTGTCGCGAACTGAA 3'
	GWKZN46	Xtxp258	Reverse: 5' GCTTAGTGTGAGCGCTGACCAG 3'
	GWKZN47	Xtxp145	Reverse: 5' GTTCCTCCTGCCATTACT 3'
	GWKZN48	Xtxp145	Reverse: 5' CTTCCGCACATCCAC 3'
		OPA-12	5´ TCGGCGATAG 3´
RAPD		OPA-16	5´ AGCCAGCGAA 3´
		OPA-18	5' AGGTCACCGT 3'

Table 4.1. List of SSR and RAPD primers used for the experiment.

Gel electrophoresis, data collection and analysis

About 2 µl of the amplified PCR products, 3 µl of water and 1 µl of loading buffer were mixed and loaded onto an agarose gel. A low molecular weight DNA ladder (6x) [1× Gel loading dye, blue: 2.5% Ficoll-400, 11 mM EDTA, 3.3 mM Tris-HCL (pH 8.0 at 25°C), 0.017% SDS, and 0.015% bromophenol blue] was also included in the reaction. For RAPD analysis, the samples were electrophoresed on a two and half percent (w/v) agarose gel in a 1× TBE buffer for 1 hour 40 minutes with the current of 150 voltage. For the SSR analysis, the samples were electrophoresed on a 2% (w/v) agarose gel in a 1× TBE buffer for 1 and half hours with the current of 150 voltage. Bands were visualized by staining the gel in an ethidium bromide 0.5 µg/ml for 25 minutes and destained in water. The destained gel was then photographed under UV light. Bands were scored as either present (1) or absent (0). Dendrograms were constructed using a Dice Coefficient analysis (Dice, 1984) in NTSYS v2.1 software (Numerical Taxonomy and Multivariate Analysis) Computer Programme.

4.4 Results

RAPD analysis

Agarose gel analysis of RAPD marker

Polymorphisms were observed in all primer sets used for RAPD marker analysis. The fragment sizes ranged from 200 bp to more than 700 bp for the RAPDs (Figure 4.1). A high molecular weight DNA ladder could have been used for estimating the fragment sizes. Different banding patterns were observed among the genotypes. OPA 12 did not amplify very well and the bands associated with OPA 18 were difficult to score although some levels of polymorphism were observed, hence were not considered. The OPA 18 primer seemed to amplify the same region in all genotypes except for the MP65 accession. However, problems with data scoring and the reproducibility in amplification of RAPD markers have been reported (Jones et al., 1998).



M 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27:

Figure 4.1. Agarose gel electrophoregrams of three RAPD primers (OPA-12, OPA-16, and OPA-18 from left to right); where: M = molecular weight ladder, 1= KZ87, 2= FS52, 3=NW93, 4= EC67, 5=MP65, 6= LP48, 7= FS489, 8= EC3217, and the same lines were replicated in that order from 9-16 and 17-24 across the remaining two markers. Number 25 represents the no temperate control; 26-27 represent the control (human DNA).

The numbers of bands scored are shown in Table 4.3. When comparing the RAPD and the SSR, the RAPD marker system revealed more polymorphic bands than the SSR. The number of polymorphic bands for RAPD was up to 12 whereas for SSR marker was 5.

High Resolution Melt analysis for RAPD marker

The melting profiles were created and normalised for three RAPD primers (Figure 4.2). The temperature normalised melting curves displayed the change in the fluorescence to 100% with the temperature of 76°C and 0% fluorescence at about 86°C. Variation was observed in

all the three RAPD primers. OPA12 showed differences among the sorghum genotypes studied.



Figure 4.2. The temperature normalised HRM melting curves of sorghum genotypes using RAPD OPA 12 primer.

Genotypes EC67, FS489 and EC3217 had similar melting curves. The NW93 had a different curve compared to other genotypes followed by LP48. This could be due to early maturity, and short stature of the accession itself. Genotypes FS52 and EC3217 had similar normalised melting profiles. Also NW93 and LP48 had similar normalised melting profiles. The genotypes that had similar melting profiles are closely related. These genotypes with unique profiles from others can be selected and used in breeding programmes as sources of valuable genes. Although some variations were observed among the melting curves, the curves created were difficult to interpret for OPA 16 and OPA 18 RAPD primers.

Similar results were observed in the difference plots. Genotype MP65 was used as a baseline with a threshold confidence level set at 90% in a difference plot analysis. The

results are shown in Table 4.2. Genotypes EC67, and FS489 were very closely related with the baseline entry, MP65. NW93 was not related to MP65 and the rest of the genotypes. LP48 distantly related with MP65 and other accessions. Although different from the baseline and other genotypes, FS52, EC3217 and KZ87 appeared to be closely related.

Table 4.2. Similarity of sorghum genotypes from difference plot of HRM analysis.

Genotype	KZ87	FS52	NW93	EC67	MP65	LP48	FS489	EC3217
Confidence %	66.56	80.41	19.98	93.07	100	41.31	97.09	77.01

Analysis using the SSR

Gel electrophoresis

Polymorphisms were observed among sorghum genotypes studied using three SSR primer pairs. The sizes of the SSR fragments ranged from 150 bp to 300 bp (Figure 4.3). The Xtxp 258 primer showed monomorphic banding pattern with only EC67 showing a small difference in fragment size.



Figure 4.3. Agarose gel electrophoregrams of three SSR primers (Xtxp335, Xtxp145, and Xtxp258- from left to right); where: M = molecular weight ladder, 1= KZ87, 2= FS52, 3= NW93, 4= EC67, 5= MP65, 6= LP48, 7= FS489, 8= EC3217, and the same lines were replicated in that order from 10-17 and 20-27 across the remaining two markers. Numbers 9, 18, and 27 represent the no template control.

	Number of bands scored for each sample								
Marker/primer		KZ87	FS52	NW93	EC67	MP65	LP48	FS489	EC3217
SSR	Xtxp335	1	1	2	2	2	2	1	1
	Xtxp258	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	1
RAPD	OPA12	6	4	4	5	5	5	5	6
	OPA16	3	1	1	0	2	2	3	4
	OPA18	4	5	5	4	1	4	5	4

Table 4.3. Number of bands scored for five primers showing polymorphism.

Polymorphic bands were scored for both SSR and RAPD marker analyses. The numbers of bands scored are shown in Table 4.3. The RAPD marker system revealed more polymorphic bands than the SSR. The number of polymorphic bands for RAPD was up to 12 whereas for SSR marker analysis was 5. Xtxp 145 did not form any bands suggesting its non-polymorphism to the template DNA.

High resolution Melt analysis for SSR marker

The normalised temperature melting profiles were created in the HRM analysis. Differences were observed among normalised melting profiles in all three SSR primer pairs. In this study, only data on one SSR primer, Xtxp 335 is interpreted. The Xtxp 335 primer showed clear variation among the genotypes tested (Figure 4.4). KZ87 showed a different melting curve from the entire set of sorghum accessions. Genotypes FS52, FS489 and EC3217 had very similar melting pattern. Similar melting profiles were also observed for genotypes EC67 with MP65, and NW93 with LP48. These genotypes melting profiles were different from the EC3217, FS52 and FS489.



Figure 4.4. The temperature normalised HRM curve analysis of sorghum genotypes using SSR primer, Xtxp335.

The genotype FS489 was used as a reference genotype in the difference plot analysis with the threshold confidence level set at 90%. The results are presented in Table 4.4 and are similar to the normalised melting curves (Figure 4.4). Accessions FS52, and EC3217 were closely related to the reference genotype, FS489. KZ87 followed by MP65, EC67, LP48 and NW93 accessions were distantly related to all other sorghum accessions. These genotypes can be grouped together and the FS52 and EC3217 can also fall into the same group with the baseline genotype, FS489.

Table 4.4. Similarity of sorghum genotypes from difference plot of HRM analysis using Xtxp 335 primer.

Genotype	KZ87	FS52	NW93	EC67	MP65	LP48	FS489	EC3217
Confidence %	0.21	94.79	33.24	2.03	1.9	14.62	100	94.64

Melting profiles were also created for the two SSR primer pairs, Xtxp 258 and Xtxp 145. Differences were observed among the sorghum genotypes when using Xtxp 258 and Xtxp

145 primer sets although most seemed to have similar melting profiles (Figure 4.5). This suggests that either the marker had been monomorphic for that particular locus and hence incapable of discriminating the melt peaks or may not be possible to see the polymorphism at the given resolution.

Clustering of eight accessions by RAPD and SSR analysis

RAPD

The RAPD markers grouped the sorghum genotypes into two clusters, cluster I and cluster II (Figure 4.5). The first cluster (cluster I) was divided into two groups where KZ87, FS489, and EC3217 were similar with genetic similarity value of 1.00, and EC67 and MP65 were also 100% similar. The second cluster (cluster II) grouped FS52, NW953 and LP48 together. FS52 and NW93 were the same and LP48 varied. LP48 could be a useful candidate as a parent in breeding programmes.



Figure 4.5. Dendrogram constructed based on RAPD marker showing genetic distance and cluster groups among eight sorghum accessions.

Genotype	KZ87	FS52	NW93	EC67	MP65	LP48	FS489	EC3217
KZ87								
FS52	0.8000	1.0000						
NW93	0.8000	1.0000	1.0000					
EC67	0.9091	0.8889	0.8889	1.0000				
MP65	0.9091	0.8889	0.8889	1.0000	1.0000			
LP48	0.7273	0.8889	0.8889	0.8000	0.8000	1.0000		
FS489	1.0000	0.8000	0.8000	0.9091	0.9091	0.7273	1.0000	
EC3217	1.0000	0.8000	0.8000	0.9091	0.9091	0.7273	1.0000	1.0000

Table 4.5. Dice similarity coefficient for RAPD analysis on eight sorghum accessions.

The RAPD analysis showed a matrix with the genetic distances ranging from 0.72 to 1.00 among genotypes under study (Table 4.5). Most of the genotypes are closely related.

SSR

Variation was observed among sorghum genotypes when using SSR markers. Dice similarity matrix was used to cluster accessions using the UPGMA algorithm. The resulting dendrogram revealed two clusters (Figure 4.6). The first cluster grouped FS489 together with FS52 and EC3217 which were closely related. The second cluster was divided into two sub-clusters; where LP48, MP65 and EC67 were the same with a genetic distance of 1.0 and were similar to NW93. Although clustered together, KZ87 was distantly related to NW96, EC67, MP65 and LP48.





Figure 4.6. Dendrogram constructed based on SSR data, showing genetic distance and cluster groups among eight sorghum accessions.

Genotype	KZ87	FS52	NW93	EC67	MP65	LP48	FS489	EC3217
KZ87	1.0000							
FS52	0.3333	1.0000						
NW93	0.4000	0.0000	1.0000					
EC67	0.6667	0.3333	0.8000	1.0000				
MP65	0.6667	0.3333	0.8000	1.0000	1.0000			
LP48	0.6667	0.3333	0.8000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000		
FS489	0.3333	0.3333	0.4000	0.3333	0.3333	0.3333	1.0000	
EC3217	0.6667	0.6667	0.4000	0.6667	0.6667	0.6667	0.6667	1.0000

Table 4.6. Dice similarity coefficient for SSR analysis on eight sorghum accessions.

The SSR analysis showed genetic similarity values ranging from 0.33 to 1.00 among the genotypes tested (Table 4.6).

4.4 Discussion

Gel electrophoresis

Variation was observed among the genotypes studied when using SSR and RAPD analyses. In SSR analysis, monomorphic banding pattern observed implied that the primer amplified the same region in the genome. Further, an alternative gel such as acrylamide could be useful due to its good resolution power compared to agarose. The heterozygotes were observed among the genotypes which concurred with the ability of this technique to distinguish among homozygosity and heterozygosity status of the genotypes. In RAPD analysis, a large number of bands were revealed due to the random priming nature and potential confounding effects associated with co-migration with other markers (Tessier et al., 1999). Several studies compared various molecular marker systems in sorghum and the SSR was highly correlated with the morphological markers in contrast to AFLP (Geleta and Labuschagne, 2005). Panwar et al. (2010) compared the efficiency and effectiveness of RAPD and the SSR markers in finger millet. Similar studies for comparison of marker systems were also reported by Agrahama and Tuinstra (2003).

High resolution melt analysis

The HRM analysis showed existence of genetic variation among the sorghum genotypes when using SSR and RAPD primers. The melting profiles and difference plots grouped genotypes for SSR and RAPD similarly. The genotypes denoted in various groups can be selected for crosses as potential parents to undertake selection. Similar studies were performed in sweet cherry where HRM was used together with SSR to distinguish sweet cherry cultivars (Ganopoulos et al., 2011). Olive cultivar genotyping was performed using HRM and SSR (Muleo et al., 2009). Mackay et al. (2008) reported microsatellite high resolution melt analysis as useful tool for variety identification and verification in olive and grapevine plants. The use of HRM in conjunction with RAPD has been reported in parasitological studies thus far (Tulsiani et al. 2010). However, in other studies, the use of the HRM analysis was reported effective and efficient when used with other molecular markers (De Koeyer et al., 2010; Naidoo, 2010). For instance, Hofinger et al. (2009) reported the accuracy and sensitivity of the HRM analysis for predicting wide range of nucleotide polymorphisms in barley.

Clustering of the genotypes

In the RAPD analysis, the genetic distances ranged from 0.72 to 1.00. The results concur with Grenier et al. (2000) who reported diversity range of 0.71 to 0.93. The RAPD marker analysis showed some distinction among the genotypes and most of them were very similar. Ayana et al. (2000) also reported weak differentiation of Ethiopian and Eritrean sorghum accessions. The results of the RAPD clustering appear to correspond fairly with the melting profiles of the HRM analysis (Figure 4.2). On the other hand, the SSR analysis showed genetic similarity values ranging from 0.33 to 1.00. When comparing SSR and RAPD analysis, similarity matrices constructed based on shared allele analysis revealed the lowest average genetic similarity between genotypes when estimated using SSR markers (0.33) and was higher among entries when determined using RAPD markers (0.72). These results indicated that RAPD markers provide less resolving power than SSR markers.

The accessions that are distantly related can be selected and used for crossings as parents for use in a breeding programme, estimation of genetic advance as well as further improvement of sorghum cultivars. The results appear to show a wide diversity among the sorghum genotypes. Dje *et al.* (2000) estimated a wide genetic diversity when analysing 25 sorghum landraces derived from a restricted area of North Western Morocco with three SSR markers.

4.5 Conclusions

The SSR and RAPD markers as well as HRM analysis revealed genetic variation among the sorghum genotypes. The HRM was useful in detecting variation among the sorghum genotypes using melting profiles and corresponded well with the SSR clustering of sorghum genotypes. Hence, the HRM can be useful for genetic diversity analysis and assigning sorghum genotypes into heterotic groupings without post-PCR analysis or processing. It can be useful in accelerating selections in plant breeding programmes as is timely, efficient and effective and can be extended with other molecular marker techniques.

4.6 References

Agrahama, H.A., and M.R.Tuinstra. 2003. Phylogenetic diversity and relationships among sorghum accessions using SSRs and RAPDs. African Journal of Biotechnology 2(10):334-340.

- Ayana, A., T. Bryngelsson, and E. Bekele. 2000. Geographic and altitudinal allozyme variation in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) landraces from Ethiopia and Eritrea. Hereditas 135(1):1-12.
- Chagne, D., K. Gasic, R.N. Crowhurst, Y. Han, H.C. Bassett, D.R. Bowatte, T.J. Lawrence,
 E.H.A. Rikkerink, S.E. Gardiner, and S.S.Korban. 2008. Development of a set of SNP
 markers present in expressed genes of the apple. Genomics 92(5):353-358.
- Croxford, A.E, T. Rogers, P.D.S. Caligari, and M.J. Wilkinson. 2008. High-resolution melt analysis to identify and map sequence-tagged site anchor points onto linkage maps: a white lupin (*Lupinus albus*) map as an exemplar. New Phytologist 180(3):594-607.
- De Koeyer, D., K. Douglass, A. Murphy, S. Whitney, L. Nolan, Y. Song, and W. De Jong. 2010. Application of high-resolution DNA melting for genotyping and variant scanning of diploid and autotetraploid potato. Molecular Breeding 25(1):67-90.
- Dice, L.R. 1984. Measures of the amount of ecological association between species. Ecology 26(3):297-302.
- Dje, Y., M. Heuertz, C. Lefèbvre, and X. Vekemans. 2000. Assessment of genetic diversity within and among germplasm accessions in cultivated sorghum using microsatellite markers. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 100(6):918-925.
- FAO. 2011. FAOSTAT. http:/faostat.fao.org.
- Ganopoulos, I., A. Argiriou, and A. Tsaftaris. 2011. Microsatellite high resolution melting (SSR-HRM) analysis for authenticity testing of protected designation of origin (PDO) sweet cherry products. Food Control 22(3-4):532-541
- Geleta, N., and M.T. Labuschagne. 2005. Qualitative traits variation in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) germplasm from eastern highlands of Ethiopia. Biodiversity and Conservation 14(13):3055-3064.
- Grenier, C., Deu, M., S. Kresovich, 'P.J. Bramel-Cox, and P. Hamon. 2000. Assessment of genetic diversity in three subsets constituted from ICRISAT sorghum collection using random vs non-random sampling procedures. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 101 (1 - 2):197-202.
- Hofinger, B.J., H.C.Jing, K.E. Hammond-Kosack, and K. Kanyuka. 2009. High-resolution melt analysis of cDNA-derived PCR amplicons for rapid and cost-effective identification of novel allels in barley. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 119(9):851-865.

- Iqbal, A., B. Sadia, A.I. Khan, F.S. Awan, R.A. Kainth, and H.A. Sadaqat. 2010. Biodiversity in the sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench) germplasm of Pakistan. Genetics and Molecular Ressearch 9(2):756-764.
- Jain, H.K., and M.C. Kharkwal. 2004. Plant breeding: Mendelian to molecular approaches. Narosa Publishing House, New Delhi.
- Jones, C.J., K.J. Edwards, S. Castiglione, M.O. Winfield, F. Sala, C. Van-der-Weil, B.L. Vosman, M. Matthes, A. Daly, R. Brettschneider, P. Bettini, M. Buiatti, E. Maestri, N. Marmiroli, R.L. Aert, G. Volckaert, J. Rueda, A. Vazquez, and A. Karp. 1998. Reproducibility testing of RAPDs by a network of European laboratories. p. 176-179. *In*: A. Karp, et al. (ed.) Molecular tools for screening biodiversity. Chapman & Hall, London, UK.
- Kang, H.W., Y.G. Cho, U.H. Yoon, and M.Y. Eun. 1998. A rapid DNA extraction method for RFLP and PCR analysis from a single seed. Plant Molecular Biology Report. 16:1-9.
- Karp, A., S. Kresovich, K.V. Bhatt, W.G. Ayad, and T. Hodgkin. 1997. Molecular tools in plant genetic resources conservation: a guide to the technologies. IPGR technical bulletins. International Plant Genetics Resources Institute, Rome, Italy.
- Mackay, J.F., C.D. Wright, and I.R.G. Bonfigliol. 2008. A new approach to varietal identification in plants by microsatellite high resolution melting analysis: application to the verification of grapevine and olive cultivars. Plant Methods 4:8-17.
- McGregor, C.E., C.A. Lambert, M.N. Greyling, J.H. Louw, and L. Warnich. 2000. A comparative assessment of DNA fingerprinting techniques (RAPD, ISSR, AFLP and SSR) in tetraploid potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) germplasm. Euphytica 113(2):135-144.
- Montgomery, J., C.T. Wittwer, R. Palais, and L. Zhou. 2007. Simultenous mutation scanning and genotyping by high resolution DNA melting analysis. Nature Protocols 2(1):59-66.
- Muleo, R., M.C. Colao, D. Miano, M. Cirilli, M.C. Intrieri, L. Baldoni, and E. Rugini. 2009. Mutation scanning and genotyping by high resolution DNA melting analysis in olive germplasm. Genome 52(3):252-260.
- Naidoo, R. 2010. Development and application of SNP marker for low phytic acid gene (*Ipa1*-1) with studies on the effect of low phytic acid on seed germination, vigour and yield in maize. PhD thesis. University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa.

- Panwar, P., M. Nath, V.K. Yadav, and A. Kumar. 2010. Comparative evaluation of genetic diversity using RAPD, SSR and cytochrome P450 gene based markers with respect to calcium content in finger millet (*Eleusine coracana* L. Gaertn.). Journal of Genetics 89(2):121-132.
- Prakash, S.P.J., K.R. Biji, S.M.Gomez, K.G. Murthy, and R.C. Babu. 2008. Genetic diversity analysis of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench) accessions using RAPD markers. Indian Journal Crop Science 1(1-2):109-112.
- Rajput, C.B., S.P. Mehtre, D.N. Dames, B.P. Kadam. 2012. Assessment of genetic diversity of sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] using SSR. Advances Plant Science 25(1):95-102.
- Reddy, D.C., S. Audilakshmi, R. Madhusudhana, and N. Seetharama. 2012. Comparative analysis of genetic similarity among sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) lines as revealed by morphological and molecular markers. Plant Genetic Resources 10(1):49-58.
- Reed, G.H., J.O. Kent, and C.T. Wittwer. 2007. High-resolution DNA melting analysis for simple and efficient molecular diagnostics. Pharmacogenomics 8(6):597-608.
- Saghai-Maroof, M.A., K.M. Soliman, R.A. Jorgensen, and R.W. Allard. 1984. Ribosomal DNA spacer-length polymorphism in barley: Mendelian inheritance, chromosomal location, and population dynamics. Proceedings of National Academy of Science USA 81:8014-8019.
- Seipp, M.T., J.D. Durtschi, M.A. Liew, J. Williams, K. Damjanovich, G. Pont-Kingdon, E. Lyon, K.V. Voelkerding, and C.T. Wittwer. 2007. Unlabeled oligonucleotides as internal temperature controls for genotyping by amplicon melting. Journal of Molecular Diagnostics 9(3):284-289.
- Shehaz, T., H. Okuizumi, M. Kawase, and K. Okuno. 2009. Development of SSR-based sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) diversity research set of germplasm and its evaluation by morphological traits. Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution 56(6):809-827.
- Shivjee S., and V.K. Khanna. 2010. Detection of diversity in germplasm of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) using RAPD analysis. Pantnagar Journal of Research 8(2):170-174.
- Simionic, D., R. Uptmoor, W. Friedt, and F. Ordon. 2002. Genetic diversity and relationships among pea cultivars (*Pisum sativum* L.) revealed by RAPDs and AFLPs. Plant Breeding 121(5):429-435.

- Staub, J.C., F.C. Serquen, and J.A. Mccreight. 1997. Genetic diversity in cucumber (*Cucumis sativus* L.). An evaluation of Indian germplasm. Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution 44 (4):315-326.
- Studer, B., L. Jensen, A. Fiil, and T. Asp. 2009. "Blind" mapping of genic DNA sequence polymorphisms in *Lolium perenne* L. by high resolution melting curve analysis. Molecular Breeding 24:191-199.
- Tanksley, S.D., N.D. Young, A.H. Paterson, and M.W. Bonierbale. 1989. RFLP mapping in plant breeding: New tool for an old science. Biotechnology 7:257-264.
- Tessier, C., J. David, P. This, J.M. Boursiqot, and A. Charrier. 1999. Optimization of the choice of molecular markers for varietal identification in *Vitis vinfera* L. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 98(1):171- 177.
- Tulsiani, S.M., S.B. Craig, G.C. Graham, R.C. Cobbold, M.F. Dohnt, M.A. Burns, C.C. Jansen, L.K.P. Leung, H.E. Field, and L.D. Smythe. 2010. High-resolution melt-curve analysis of random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD-HRM) for the characterisation of pathogenic leptospires: intra-serovar divergence, interserovar convergence, and evidence of attenuation in Leptospira reference collections. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology 104(5):427-437.
- Vaugn, C.P., and K.S.J. Elenitoba-Johnson. 2004. High-Resolution Melting analysis for detection of internal tandem duplications. Journal of Molecular Diagnostics. 6(3):211-216.
- Wenzel, W.G., M. van Loggerenberg, and F. Ordon. 2001. Quick screening methods for sorghum quality traits. Journal of Applied Botany 73(1-2):43-45.
- Wu, S.B., M.G. Wirthensohn, P. Hunt, J.P. Gibson, and M. Sedgley. 2008. High resolution melting analysis of almond SNPs derived from ESTs. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 118:1-14.
- Wu, S.B., I. Tavassolia, G. Rabiei, P. Hunt, M. Wirthensohn, J. Gibson, C. Ford, M. Sedgley 2009. Mapping SNP anchored genes using high-resolution melting analysis in almond. Molecular Genetics and Genomics. 282(3):273-281.
- Zhou, L., A.N. Myers, J.G. Vandersteen, L. Wang, and C.T. Wittwer. 2004. Closed-tube genotyping with unlabeled oligonucleotide probes and a saturating DNA dye. Clinical Chemistry 50(8):1328-1335.

CHAPTER 5

A genetic diversity analysis of South African sorghum genotypes using SSR markers

5.1 Abstract

Diverse landraces of sorghum are widely grown by small-holder farmers in South Africa. The objective of the study was to assess the genetic diversity present in the South African sorghum genotypes using genetic distances as measured by SSR markers. In total 103 diverse landraces and breeding lines were genotyped using 30 SSR primers. A wide genetic diversity was observed with the allele sizes ranging from 90 to 294 bp. The numbers of alleles ranged from 2 to 15 with an average of 6.4 per locus. The polymorphic information content ranged from 0.0192 to 0.8351 (average of 0.5031) with heterozygosity values of 0.0194 to 0.8524 (average 0.5483). The Euclidian genetic distances varied from 0 to 8.4 with average of 5.67. Genotypes Macia-SA and AS4 had the lowest dissimilarity index, whereas 05-POTCH-115 and MP2048 exhibited the highest value. The study established the existence of considerable genetic diversity among South African sorghum germplasm. This may enable breeders to exploit the potential of transgressive segregation and for strategic conservation.

Keywords: genetic diversity, landrace, Sorghum bicolor, South Africa, SSR markers

5.2 Introduction

Genetic diversity analysis of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench; 2n = 2x = 20) germplasm is fundamental for breeding and conservation strategies. Genetic advancement during selection depends on the availability of genotypes possessing favourable alleles for desired traits, which relies on the available genetic diversity. Genetic diversity analysis can be carried out using phenotypic or molecular markers. DNA based molecular markers are more efficient to analyse a greater number of genotypes (Reif et al., 2003). Furthermore, molecular markers detect the presence of favourable alleles among germplasm and allow estimation of genetic diversity more reliably and efficiently than phenotypic markers, which are subject to genotype by environment interaction. Summarily, the molecular marker technology aid conventional breeding in various aspects such as to 1) assess genetic diversity and establish heterotic patterns, 2) screen for useful single gene traits, 3) accelerate backcross breeding programs via selection of gene(s) of interest and 4) identify and protect commercial cultivars through fingerprinting (Xiao et al., 1996).

Several DNA based marker systems have been successfully used for assessing genetic diversity in sorghum (Nguni et al., 2011). Simple sequence repeats are reportedly the marker of choice for diversity analysis because of their ability to produce informative multiallelic loci and greater genotypic differentiations. SSRs are highly polymorphic (Anas and Yoshida, 2004) and provide wider genome coverage than amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP), restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) and random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers. Moreover, compared to single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), SSR markers with moderate density are more informative than SNPs for assessment of genetic diversity in crops (Yang et al., 2011).

The sorghum genome sequence project identified 71 000 SSRs in the genome (Paterson et al., 2009). The availability of this large number of SSR markers provides a more costeffective and rapid method for DNA profiling (Smith et al., 1997).

Sorghum is one of the most important crops worldwide after wheat, rice, maize, and barley, providing food, fodder and bio-energy feedstock (FAO, 2006). In sub-Saharan Africa sorghum ranks second after maize for preference and importance, and it remains a critical food security crop for the livelihoods of more than 100 million people. Sorghum grows in low-rainfall, arid to semi-arid environments considered to be marginal for other cereal crops such as maize and wheat. It has exceptional tolerance to drought, high temperature stresses and low soil fertility making it the crop of choice by millions of farmers in marginal agro-ecologies.

119

In South Africa sorghum is grown by both small- and large-scale commercial farmers. Further, sorghum has increasingly become a foundation crop in the food and beverage industries (Wenzel et al., 2001; Taylor, 2003). Several landraces of sorghum are widely grown by small-scale farmers across different provinces in the country. Despite low yielding potential, the landraces are preferred by the small-scale farmers because of broad adaptation, tolerance to abiotic and biotic stresses, and suitable quality and agronomic attributes (DAFF, 2010). In South Africa both wild and domesticated sorghum species and their hybrids are present. Mann et al. (1983) reported that the South African sorghum race 'Kafir' might have arisen from introgression between domesticated and wild sorghum. Sorghum productivity in small-scale producing regions of South Africa could be enhanced through effective breeding using locally adapted and well-characterised germplasm.

Previous genetic diversity studies using the SSR markers from east and southern Africa (Nkongolo and Nsapato, 2003) demonstrated the prevalence of wide genetic variation in sorghum collections. Uptmoor et al. (2003) indicated the existence of high genetic diversity among Southern African sorghum accessions. The authors used 46 sorghum accessions and subjected them to SSR, RAPD and AFLP markers. Of the accessions 23 were landrace collections from four Southern Africa Development Cooperation countries including Botswana, Lesotho, Malawi, and South Africa. Only five of the landraces were sampled from the RSA each representing the North West, Mpumalanga, Gauteng, KwaZulu-Natal, or Limpopo provinces. The remaining 23 accessions in this study were modern breeding lines acquired from Lesotho, Zimbabwe, Zambia, South Africa and International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT). The previous reports did not fully cover the landraces collected from various provinces in South Africa. An exhaustive assessment of the genetic diversity present in the South African sorghum germplasm is required using relatively greater number of samples, representing the diverse sorghum growing provinces with suitable and sufficient number of SSR markers. This may provide adequate information on the genetic relationship among the sorghum germplasm originating from South Africa for effective use of national sorghum genetic resources and future conservation strategies. Thus, the objective of the study was to assess the genetic diversity present among 103 South African sorghum genotypes using genetic distances as measured by 30 selected SSR markers.

5.3 Materials and methods

5.3.1 Plant materials and study sites

The study used 103 sorghum genotypes obtained from the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF), the African Centre for Crop Improvement (ACCI) and Agricultural Research Council-Grain Crops Institute (ARC-GCI) in South Africa (Table 5.1). Sixty nine genotypes from the DAFF were landraces collected from North West, Eastern Cape, Mpumalanga, Limpopo, KwaZulu-Natal, and Free State Provinces in South Africa. Twelve genotypes were obtained from the ARC-GCI and twenty two were from the ACCI. For DNA sampling, the genotypes were planted in the field under the alpha lattice design replicated twice at Ukulinga (29°37′S, 30°22 E), the Research Farm of the University of KwaZulu-Natal. Recommended cultural practices were followed to grow healthy and vigorous sorghum plants.

No.		Genotype	Source/origin	No.		Genotype	Source/origin
	Code	name/pedigree			Code	name/pedigree	
1	SA-1	5405	North-West	66	SA-66	4952	Free State
2	SA-2	5451	North-West	67	SA-67	4909	Free State
3	SA-3	5333	North-West	68	SA-68	4905	Free State
4	SA-4	5464	North-West	69 70	SA-69	4891 Matterana	Free State
5	5A-5	5430	North-West	70	SA-70	Mommonono	
7	SA-0	5430	North West	72	SA-71 SA 72	Macia SA	
8	SA-8	5303	North-West	72	SA-72 SA-73	Macia-SA M153	
9	SA-0	5337	North-West	74	SA-73	05 Potch-151	ARC-GCI
10	SA-10	2167	Fastern Cape	75	SA-75	Maseka-a-swere	ARC-GCI
11	SA-11	3416	Eastern Cape	76	SA-76	Mammolokwane	ARC-GCI
12	SA-12	3414	Eastern Cape	77	AR-2	05 Potch-138	ARC-GCI
13	SA-13	3262	Eastern Cape	78	AR-3	M48	ARC-GCI
14	SA-14	3319	Eastern Cape	79	AR-4	05 Potch-115	ARC-GCI
15	SA-15	2922	Eastern Cape	80	AR-5	05 Potch-167	ARC-GCI
16	SA-16	3364	Eastern Cape	81	AR-6	Manthate	ARC-GCI
17	SA-17	3403	Eastern Cape	82	AR-7	AS 82	ACCI
18	SA-18	2975	Eastern Cape	83	AR-8	AS13	ACCI
19	SA-19	3184	Eastern Cape	84	AR-9	AS 1	ACCI
20	SA-20	2934	Eastern Cape	85	AR-10	AS 4	ACCI
21	SA-21	2985	Eastern Cape	86	AR-11	AS 18	ACCI
22	SA-22	3217	Eastern Cape	87	AR-12	AS 19	
23	SA-23	4154	Mpumalanga	80	AC-1	AS 17 AS 16	
24	SA-24 SA-25	4270 5476	Moumalanga	09	AC-2	AS 16 Cycl	
26	SA-25	4265	Mnumalanga	90 91	AC-3 AC-4	AS 10 Cycl AS 11	ACCI
27	SA-27	4052	Mpumalanga	92	AC-5	AS 6	ACCI
28	SA-28	2055	Mpumalanga	93	AC-6	AS 1 M2 Ctrl	ACCI
29	SA-29	5518	Mpumalanga	94	AC-7	AS 16 M2 Ctrl	ACCI
30	SA-30	4259	Mpumalanga	95	AC-8	AS 21	ACCI
31	SA-31	5502	Mpumalanga	96	AC-9	AS 8	ACCI
32	SA-32	5541	Mpumalanga	97	AC-10	AS 2	ACCI
33	SA-33	1990	Mpumalanga	98	AC-11	N13 Striga resistant	ACCI
34	SA-34	4277	Mpumalanga	99	AC-12	#32 2384443	ACCI
35	SA-35	2048	Mpumalanga	100	AC-13	#14 235929	ACCI
30	SA-36	4161	Mpumalanga	101	AC-14	SRN39 FRAMIDA	ACCI
3/ 29	SA-37	1455	Limpopo	102	AC-16	HURIMA I #21237280	
39	SA-30	4312	Limpopo	105	AC-10	#21237289	ACCI
40	SA-40	1948	Limpopo				
41	SA-41	1390	Limpopo				
42	SA-42	4441	Limpopo				
43	SA-43	3132	Limpopo				
44	SA-44	4442	Limpopo				
45	SA-45	1413	Limpopo				
46	SA-46	1394	Limpopo				
47	SA-47	1481	Limpopo				
48	SA-48	14/3	Limpopo				
49 50	5A-49 SA EO	43U3 1311	Limpopo				
50	SA-50 SA-51	5088	Limpopu KwaZulu_Natal				
52	SA-51 SA-52	5287	KwaZulu-Natal				
53	SA-53	5233	KwaZulu-Natal				
54	SA-54	5258	KwaZulu-Natal				
55	SA-55	AS66	ACCI				
56	SA-56	5237	KwaZulu-Natal				
57	SA-57	4722	KwaZulu-Natal				
58	SA-58	5246	KwaZulu-Natal				
59	SA-59	4606	KwaZulu-Natal				
60	SA-60	4531	KwaZulu-Natal				
61	SA-61	5274	KwaZulu-Natal				
62	SA-62	5281	KwaZulu-Natal				
63	SA-63	454/	Kwa∠ulu-Natal				
64 65	5A-64	5097	Kwa∠ulu-Natal				
60	SA-65	JZ4J	r∖wa∠uiu-Natal				

Table 5.1. List of sorghum genotypes used in the study^a.

^a North West, Eastern Cape, Mpumalanga, Limpopo, KwaZulu-Natal, and Free State are administrative provinces in South Africa; ARC-GCI, Agricultural Research Council-Grain Crops Institute; ACCI-African Centre for Crop Improvement.

5.3.2 DNA extraction, purification and quantification

Young fresh leaves were harvested from ten plants of each genotype four weeks after planting. The leaf samples were bulked per genotype and placed in a 1.5 ml eppendorf tubes containing silica gel (Rogstad, 2003). Samples were sent to the Biosciences east and central Africa (BecA) of the International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Kenya for SSR analysis. Accordingly, the DNA was extracted using a solvent extraction method and the quality of the extracted DNA was evaluated on a 1% agarose gel.

5.3.3 PCR and SSR analysis

PCR reactions were performed using GeneAmp PCR system 9700 thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). The DNA concentrations of sorghum samples were diluted to a final concentration of 50 ng/µl TE buffer. Thirty SSR primers provided by the Generation Challenge Program-Genotyping Support Service were used for analysis of reactions (Table 5.2). The markers used in this study were selected from the SSR kit (<u>http://sat.cirad.fr/sat/sorghum SSR kit</u>) from all the linkage groups of sorghum (Table 5.2). Genotyping was conducted at BecA-ILRI/Kenya using ABI-3730 genetic analyser (Applied Biosystems).

Data analysis

Data were captured using the Genscan®software (Applied Biosystems) and the resulting fragments were analyzed and the alleles scored using the GeneMapper®software version 4.1 (Applied Biosystems). PCR was done for all the 30 primers (Table 5.2). A dissimilarity matrix was generated using DARwin 5.0 software (Perrier and Jacquemoud-Collect, 2006). The data matrices of the genetic distances were used to create the dendrogram using the unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA) algorithym. The assay efficiency index referred to as polymorphism information content (PIC) was calculated using the following: PIC = $1-\Sigma$ fi, where fi is the frequency of the ith allele (Smith *et al.* 1997).

No.	Marker	Chromosome	Motif	Forward primer	Reverse primer	Annealing Tm	Min allele	Max allele
1	gpsb067	8	(GT)10	TAGTCCATACACCTTTCA	TCTCTCACACACATTCTTC	49	160	190
2	gpsb123	8	(CA)7+(GA)5	ATAGATGTTGACGAAGCA	GTGGTATGGGACTGGA	50	284	304
3	Isep0107	3	(TGG)4	GCCGTAACAGAGAAGGATGG	TTTCCGCTACCTCAAAAACC	59	199	206
4	Isep0310	2	(CCAAT)4	TGCCTTGTGCCTTGTTTATCT	GGATCGATGCCTATCTCGTC	60	159	214
5	mSbCIR223	2	(AC)6	CGTTCCAATGACTTTTCTTC	GCCAATGTGGTGTGATAAAT	55	104	124
6	mSbCIR240	8	(TG)9	GTTCTTGGCCCTACTGAAT	TCACCTGTAACCCTGTCTTC	55	104	180
7	mSbCIR246	5	(CA)7+(GA)5	TTTTGTTGCACTTTTGAGC	GATGATAGCGACCACAAATC	55	86	114
8	mSbCIR248	10	(GT)7	GTTGGTCAGTGGTGGATAAA	ACTCCCATGTGCTGAATCT	56	81	121
9	mSbCIR262	7	(CATG)3	GCACCAAAATCAGCGTCT	CCATTTACCCGTGGATTAGT	57	208	446
10	mSbCIR276	3	(AC)9	CCCCAATCTAACTATTTGGT	GAGGCTGAGATGCTCTGT	53	222	252
11	mSbCIR283	7	(CT)8(GT)8	TCCCTTCTGAGCTTGTAAAT	CAAGTCACTACCAAATGCAC	54	111	157
12	mSbCIR286	1	(AC)9	GCTTCTATACTCCCCTCCAC	TTTATGGTAGGATGCTCTGC	55	110	150
13	mSbCIR300	5	(GT)9	TTGAGAGCGGCGAGGTAA	AAAAGCCCAAGTCTCAGTGCTA	61	74	118
14	mSbCIR306	1	(GT)7	ATACTCTCGTACTCGGCTCA	GCCACTCTTTACTTTTCTTCTG	55	118	126
15	mSbCIR329	10	(AC)8	GCAGAACATCACTCAAAGAA	TACCTAAGGCAGGGATTG	54	73	121
16	SbAGB02	5	(AG)35	CTCTGATATGTCGTTGTGCT	ATAGAGAGGATAGCTTATAGCTCA	55	96	160
17	Xcup02	6	(GCA)6	GACGCAGCTTTGCTCCTATC	GTCCAACCAACCCACGTATC	54	189	207
18	Xcup53	1	(TTTA)5	GCAGGAGTATAGGCAGAGGC	CGACATGACAAGCTCAAACG	54	182	198
19	Xgap206	6	(AC)13+(AG)20	ATTCATCATCCTCATCCTCGTAGAA	AAAAACCAACCCGACCCACTC	55	100	162
20	Xgap72	9	(AG)16	TGCCACCACTCTGGAAAAGGCTA	CTGAGGACTGCCCCAAATGTAGG	55	175	211
21	Xgap84	2	(AG)14	CGCTCTCGGGATGAATGA	TAACGGACCACTAACAAATGATT	55	171	227
22	Xtxp012	4	(CT)22	AGATCTGGCGGCAACG	AGTCACCCATCGATCATC	55	143	213
23	Xtxp015	10	(TC)16	CACAAACACTAGTGCCTTATC	CATAGACACCTAGGCCATC	55	199	235
24	Xtxp021	4	(AG)18	GAGCTGCCATAGATTTGGTCG	ACCTCGTCCCACCTTTGTTG	60	163	223
25	Xtxp057	9	(GT)21	GGAACTTTTGACGGGTAGTGC	CGATCGTGATGTCCCAATC	55	213	285
26	Xtxp136	10	(GCA)5	GCGAATAGCATCTTACAACA	ACTGATCATTGGCAGGAC	55	240	246
27	Xtxp141	7	(GA)23	TGTATGGCCTAGCTTATCT	CAACAAGCCAACCTAAA	55	127	175
28	Xtxp265	9	(GAA)19	GTCTACAGGCGTGCAAATAAAA	TTACCATGCTACCCCTAAAAGTGG	55	168	246
29	Xtxp320	1	(AAG)20	TAAACTAGACCATATACTGCCATGA TAA	GTGCAAATAAGGGCTAGAGTGTT	54	251	329
30	Xtxp321	8	(GT)4+(AT)6+(CT)21	TAACCCAAGCCTGAGCATAAGA	CCCATTCACACATGAGACGAG	55	182	240

Table 5.2. Descriptions of thirty SSR markers used in the study.

5.4 Results and discussion

5.4.1 Polymorphism and allelic diversity of SSR markers

The number of alleles and size ranges, heterozygosity, and PIC values are summarised in Table 5.3. The SSR markers generated a total of 306 putative alleles (different fragment sizes) among the 103 sorghum genotypes. Most of the markers generated 2-7 alleles but nine markers generated 9-15 alleles each. The current analysis found heterozygosity values ranging from 0.02 to 0.85 with an average of 0.55.Marker Xisep0310 had the lowest, and Xtxp320 the highest, range of heterozygosity. The PIC values ranged from 0.02 for the marker Xisep0310 to 0.84 for Xtxp320 with an average of 0.50.

Marker	Allele	Allele size ranges	Heterozygosity	PIC value
	number	in base pairs		
gpsb123	5	284.79 - 293.88	0.64	0.58
gpsb067	4	172.53 - 183.07	0.31	0.29
mSbCIR246	4	93.33 - 100.00	0.27	0.25
mSbCIR262	5	214.26 - 224.37	0.59	0.54
Xtxp321	14	187.85 - 223.94	0.77	0.74
Xtxp320	10	253.92 - 283.17	0.85	0.84
Xtxp141	9	143.56 - 165.99	0.82	0.80
Xtxp136	3	236.48 - 239.58	0.60	0.53
Xtxp057	10	234.38 - 263.28	0.70	0.67
Xtxp021	10	159.46 - 196.19	0.60	0.58
Xtxp015	5	175.50 - 203.45	0.52	0.48
Xtxp012	15	162.28 - 210.23	0.75	0.72
Xisep0310	2	175.75 - 203.45	0.02	0.02
Xgap265	10	174.75 - 218.61	0.80	0.78
Xgap84	7	185.01 - 202.98	0.74	0.70
Xgap72	7	182.11 - 192.39	0.54	0.51
Xcup53	4	182.57 - 199.11	0.08	0.07
Xcup02	4	191.41 - 199.92	0.43	0.36
mSbCIR329	4	108.27 - 114.26	0.54	0.44
mSbCIR306	3	119.92 - 124.17	0.52	0.40
mSbCIR300	3	102.16 - 108.60	0.41	0.35
mSbCIR286	7	103.94 - 125.15	0.67	0.62
SbAGB02	11	97.87 - 157.55	0.50	0.48
mSbCIR283	6	115.47 - 145.52	0.50	0.45
mSbCIR276	3	229.26 - 233.20	0.54	0.45
mSbCIR240	6	104.95 - 104.95	0.34	0.32
mSbCIR248	3	90.09 - 100.78	0.65	0.58
mSbCIR223	3	104.55 - 113.09	0.57	0.49
Xgap206	13	105.40 - 147.45	0.74	0.71
lsep107	2	220.82 - 227.15	0.44	0.34
Average	6.4	163.755 - 183.516	0.55	0.50

Table 5.3. Genetic information generated by thirty SSR markers on 103 sorghum genotypes.

PIC = Polymorphic information content

5.4.2 Genetic distance and dissimilarity analysis

The Euclidean dissimilarity matrix estimates as measures of genetic distances ranged from 0 to 8.4 with an average value of 5.67 (data not shown). This shows a wide diversity among the sorghum genotypes investigated. Among the 103 genotypes studied, SA-72 and AR-10 had the lowest dissimilarity index (0.00) whereas AR-4 and SA-35 exhibited the highest dissimilarity (8.4). SA-55 (AS66), SA-72 (Macia-SA) and SA-73 (M15) were distantly related to most genotypes tested. AS66 was sourced from ACCI and the other two are breeding

lines from ARC-GCI. Among the landraces, SA-28, SA-42, and SA-59 were the most dissimilar among the tested genotypes. These landraces were sourced from Mpumalanga, Limpopo and KwaZulu-Natal Provinces, respectively. The breeding lines such as AR-2, AR-3, AR-4, AC-1 AC-6, AC-18 and SA-73, displayed high genetic dissimilarity in spite of continued selection of such genotypes that would result in narrow genetic diversity and low allelic richness when compared to the tested landraces (data not shown).

5.4.3 Cluster analysis

The Euclidean dissimilarity matrix was used to cluster genotypes using the Unweighted Pair Group Method with Arithmetic mean algorithm (UPGMA). The resulting dendrogram revealed two major distinct clusters of sorghum genotypes, cluster I with 0.25, and cluster II with 0.48 Euclidian distances (Figure 5.1). The genotypes in cluster I comprised 35 genotypes that formed subgroups Ia and Ib. The genotypes were breeding lines obtained from the ARC-GCI and ACCI except for SA-61, SA-57, SA-37, SA-13 and SA-5. Genotypes in subgroup Ia (SA-61 and AC-9) were distantly related, whereas AC-12 and AC-16 were distinct from the remainder of the genotypes.

Cluster II was composed of two subgroups (IIa and IIb), which consisted of 68 sorghum genotypes mainly landrace collections from the DAFF and 5 breeding lines. Among the the breeding lines, four breeding lines (AR-6, SA-70, SA-71 and SA-75) from the ARC-GCI and line AC-4 from the ACCI were grouped in this cluster. The subgroup IIa consisted of 31 genotypes and subgroup IIb of 37 genotypes SA-47, SA-63, SA-60, SA-40, SA-10, SA-30, SA-31, SA-23, SA-41 and SA-48 were distantly related to the other genotypes. Interestingly, the genotypes in cluster II subgroup IIa were closely related with the widely cultivated South African landraces AR-6 (Manthate), SA-70 (Motlerane), SA-71 (Mammopane) and SA-75 (Maseka-a-swere) sourced from the ARC-GCI.



Figure 5.1. Dendrogram revealing genetic relationships among 103 sorghum genotypes from South Africa based on SSR analysis. Euclidian's similarity coefficients and UPGMA clustering. Ia, Ib, IIa, and IIb are sub-groups within the clusters.

5.5 Discussion

In the current study, the average number of alleles was 6.4 per locus, which was similar to 6.5 alleles per locus reported by Reedy et al. (2010) but higher than 4.9 alleles per locus reported by Pei et al. (2010). In sorghum genetic diversity studies a greater number of alleles (27) were reported by Muraya et al. (2011) and 7.6 by Wang et al. (2009). Greater number of alleles generated by SSR markers suggests allelic richness, a useful indicator of worthiness for subsequent selection and conservation strategies. The average heterozygosity observed in this study was fairly similar to that previously reported by Uptmoor et al. (2003) at 0.60 in Southern Africa, who used 25 SSR markers and compared 46 sorghum accessions of diverse geographical collections. Low levels of heterozygosity (0.04) were recorded among Zambian sorghum genotypes (Nguni et al. 2011) and a comparatively high value (0.8) was reported by Thudi and Frakrudin (2011) among rabi sorghum genotypes. The higher value of allelic diversity of SSR loci found in this study was probably associated with the wide ranged of genetic diversity represented in the germplasm of South African sorghum tested. Increased levels of heterozygosity indicate significantly greater proportion of genetic diversity, which will enhance selection response in breeding programs. The high level of heterozygosity observed among the genotypes signified the fact that genotypes used in this study were collected from a wide range of geographic areas with different levels of selection pressure. Increased allelic number in the present study is probably attributed to significant genetic variation among the sampled sorghum gene pool. Farmers maintain a large number of landraces on a single plot to cope with the diverse environmental conditions, resulting in a continuous exchange of genes through pollen flow (Manzelli et al., 2007; Baurnard et al., 2008). In addition, farmers exchange seeds through gifts and via markets to renew old seed stocks or to acquire new varieties. Consequently, there may be a continuous exchange of genes among the genotypes.

The SSR markers revealed marked genetic diversity among the sorghum genotypes. The PIC values ranged from 0.02 for the marker Xisep0310 to 0.84 for Xtxp320 with an average of 0.50. These estimates were fairly similar to the mean PIC ranges obtained in other sorghum genetic studies by Ali et al. (2008) and Geleta et al. (2006). In sorghum genetic diversity studies, Thudi and Fakrudin (2011) reported a greater mean PIC value than the present estimates. Assar et al. (2005) found PIC values ranging from 0.46 to 0.87 among sorghum genotypes evaluated using 16 SSR markers. High PIC values suggest their informative potential to detect differences among the sorghum lines.

129

Reedy et al. (2010) reported genetic dissimilarity estimates ranging from 0.384 to 0.728 with an average dissimilarity value of 0.54 among 14 sorghum accessions studied. Kumar and Khanna (2009) reported genetic similarity values ranging from 0.261 to 0.762 among 10 diverse cultivated sorghum genotypes. The genetic dissimilarity estimates (genetic distances) assist in selection for parental lines and creation of a segregating population in order to maintain genetic diversity in crop breeding programmes. Genetic estimates are useful when assigning genotypes to heterotic groups in hybrid development from different intergroup crosses (Xiao et al., 1996). Dje et al. (2000) estimated a wide genetic diversity when analysing 25 sorghum landraces assembled from a limited area of north-western Morocco using SSR markers. SSR markers also revealed wide genetic diversity among sorghum collections in Zambia. The wide genetic diversity is important in breeding programmes for selections and inclusion of landrace/genotypes with genes of novelty (Nguni et al. 2011).

Some of the genotypes were closely related with the widely cultivated South African landraces. This may suggest that the genotypes are genetically related as in the other four widely cultivated landraces obtained from the ARC-GCI. Farmers practice mass selection, i.e. healthy and large panicles are selected based on appearance, not considering the genetic purity every year, and this seed is used in the following planting season. According to Harlan (1975), such practices exert a particular balance of selection pressure and allow for genetic variability within populations.

In general, the genotypes used in the study did not appear in the same cluster based on the source or area of collection. This suggests wide genetic variation among the germplasm. According to Barnaud et al. (2007) farmers' practices and historical factors affect patterns of genetic diversity. Despite the gene flow, farmers' practices are key to maintenance of genetic diversity of landraces with related agronomic traits and agroecologies. For instance, Tukeswa et al. (2000) reported specific selection pressure towards the brewing trait in sorghum selected by farmers. Similar results were reported in Somalia where farmers selected and preserved landraces on the basis of the phenotypic and agronomic traits (Manzelli et al., 2007). Ganesamurthy et al. (2010) reported absence of relationship between the geographic and the genetic diversity, and concluded that the geographic location could be used as a diversity index for selection.

Nguni et al. (2011) reported that some of the sorghum genotypes from the same area of collection were grouped in different clusters, although most of them were grouped according to the area of collection. Several studies were conducted based on geographical location, either at country, regional or agroclimatic level (Nkongolo and Nsapato, 2003). The results of the present study concur with the report by Uptmoor et al. (2003) who also found the clustering of genotypes studied did not agree based on the diverse origins of the sorghum genotypes. Breeders use different methods in selecting the best parents for making crosses and for assigning lines to a particular genetic group. These methods include (1) phenotypic performance for specific traits, (2) pedigree relationships, (3) adaptability and yield stability, (4) top crosses and (5) diallel crosses. Genetic distance estimates from molecular markers have been reported as very useful tools in selecting the best parent combination for new pedigree and for assigning lines into genetic groups (Reif et al., 2003; Ali et al., 2008; Paterson et al., 2009). With complementary phenotypic traits, the genotypes showing distant genetic relationship across clusters and subclusters should be strategically selected as parental lines for subsequent crosses for genetic recombination and to improve genetic advancement in sorghum breeding programs. An understanding of genetic diversity among inbred lines can be particularly useful in planning crosses, in assigning lines to specific heterotic groups and for precise identification of plant material for strategic conservation (Deu et al., 2006; Geleta et al., 2006; Perumal et al., 2007).

The SSR markers used in the study were sampled from 10 linkage groups of the sorghum genome (Dean et al., 1999), which collectively had moderate to high PIC values that provided information to uniquely identify most of the genotypes profiled in the study. All 30 SSR markers were polymorphic, confirming that each marker would be effective and valuable for genetic analysis. The degree of precision of molecular markers in estimating genetic relatedness between genotypes is strongly dependent on the type and number of markers that are used and their genome coverage (Menz et al., 2004; Geleta et al., 2006; Perumal et al., 2007). The use of SSRs for analysis of population genetic diversity in sorghum could reduce the limitations in identifying polymoprhisms and result in more complete genomic coverage (Perumal et al., 2007).

Given the high level of gene flow among genotypes and high level of variation, farmers' traditional agricultural production system has played a vital role in maintaining and directing genetic diversity and evolution. Case et al. (2005) studied genetic diversity analysis of sorghum using 98 SSR markers and found that local landraces captured 86% of the total variation found in wild species. Similarly, Deu et al. (2006) pointed out the role of farmers in the management and preservation of genetic diversity over time. The high genetic variability

131

among landraces provide enough genetic plasticity to adapt to the diverse environmental conditions in the tropical areas (Manzelli et al., 2007), and allow circumvention of crop failure by reducing vulnerability to environmental stresses._

5.6 Conclusions

The study examined the genetic diversity present in 103 sorghum genotypes collected from six administrative provinces and two breeding programs in South Africa using 30 polymorphic SSR markers. The SSR markers revealed wide genetic diversity among the sorghum genotypes studied. The analyses formed two major distinct clusters without allocating genotypes based on the source or origin. The results showed clear separation between the breeding lines and landrace collections from diverse provinces in South Africa. Further sub-grouping showed close genetic relationship of genotypes SA-28, SA-42, SA-50, SA-39, SA-28, SA-32, SA-21, SA-42, SA-62, SA-65, SA-64, SA-38, SA-52, SA-51 SA-50, SA-39, SA-43, SA-20, SA-22, SA-19, SA67, SA-16, SA-12, AC-4 and SA-59 with the widely cultivated landraces Motlerane, Manthate, Maseka-a-swere, and Mammopane in South Africa. The distantly related sorghum genotypes, such as SA-23, SA-28, SA-42, SA-44, SA-57 and SA-59, can be useful in introducing genes of novelty into sorghum breeding programmes. Given that the collection provinces are diverse with heterogeneous agroecologies, the selected lines with high genetic diversity could serve as important sources of novel alleles for breeding and genetic conservation. Furthermore, phenotypic evaluations are needed to select suitable agronomic traits associated with the genetic markers for breeding and conservation strategies.

5.7 References

- Ali, M.L., J.F. Rajewski, P.S. Baenziger, K.S. Gill, K.M. Eskridge, and L. Dweikat. 2008. Assessment of genetic diversity and relationship among a collection of US sweet sorghum germplasm by SSR markers. Molecular Breeding 21:497-509.
- Anas, and T. Yoshida. 2004. Genetic Diversity among Japanese Cultivated Sorghum Assessed with Simple Sequence Repeats Markers. Plant Production Science 7:217-223.
- Assar, A.A.H., R. Uptmoor, A.A. Abdelmula, M. Salin, F. Ordon, and W. Friedt. 2005. Genetic variation in sorghum germplasm for Sudan, ICRISAT, and USA assessment by simple sequence repeat (SSRs). Crop Science 45.

- Barnaud, A., M. Deu, E. Garine, D. McKey, and H.I. Joly. 2008. Local genetic diversity of sorghum in a village in northern Cameroon: structure and dynamics of landraces. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 114:237-248.
- Case. A.M., S.E., Mitchell, M.T. Hamblin, H. Sun, J.E. Bowers, P.C.F. Aquardro and S. Kresovich. 2005. Diversity and selection in sorghum:simultenous analysis using simple sequence repeats. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 111:23.30.
- DAFF. 2010. Sorghum production guideline. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Republic of South Africa.
- Dean, R.E., J.A. Dahlberg, M.S. Hopkins, S.E. Mitchell, and S. Kresovich. 1999. Genetic redundancy and diversity among 'Orange' accessions in the U.S. national sorghum collection as assessed with simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers. Crop Science 39:1215-1222..
- Deu, M., F. Rattunde, and J. Chantereau. A global view of genetic diversity in cultivated sorghums using a core collection. Genome 49:168-180.
- Dje, Y., M. Heuertz, C. Lefèbvre, and X. Vekemans. 2000. Assessment of genetic diversity within and among germplasm accessions in cultivated sorghum using microsatellite markers. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 100:918-925.
- FAO. 2006. World agriculture: Towards 2030/2050. Interim Report. Global Perspective Studies Unit. FAO, Rome.
- Ganesamurthy, K., D. Punitha, and M. Elangovan. 2010. Genetic diversity among the land races of sorghum collected in Tamil Nadu. . Electronic Journal of Plant Breeding 1:1375-1379.
- Geleta, N., M.T. Labuschagne and C.D. Viljoen. 2006. Genetic diversity analysis in sorghum germplasm as estimated by AFLP, SSR and morpho-agronomical markers. Biodiversity Conservation 15:3251-3265.
- Harlan, J.R. 1975. Crops and Man. Madison, WI: The American Society of Agronomy, Inc. and the Crop Science Society of America, Inc.
- Kumar, P., and V.K. Khanna. 2009. Assessment of genetic diversity in cultivated sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench) accessions using microsattelite markers. Pantnagar Journal of Research 7:143-149.
- Mann, J.A., C.T. Kimber, and F.R. Miller. 1983. The origin and early cultivation of sorghums in Africa. Texas Agricultural Experiment Station. Bullet 1454., Texas A&M University. College Station, TX.
- Manzelli, M., L. Pileri, N. Lacerenza, S. Bendettelli and V. Vecchio. 2007. Genetic diversity assessment in Somalia sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) accessions using microsatellite markers. Biodiversity Conservation 16:1715-1730.

- Menz, M., R. Klein, N. Unruh, W. Rooney, P. Klein, and J. Mullet. 2004. Genetic diversity of public inbreds of sorghum determined by mapped AFLP and SSR markers. Crop Science 44:1236-1244.
- Muraya, M.M., S. de Villiers, H.K. Parzies, E. Mutegi, F. Sagnard, B.M. Kanyenji, D. Kiambi, and H.H. Geiger. 2011. Genetic structure and diversity of wild sorghum populations (*Sorghum spp.*) from different eco-geographical regions of Kenya. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 123:571-583.
- Nguni, D., M. Geleta, and T. Bryngelsson. 2011. Genetic diversity in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) accessions of Zambia as revealed by simple sequence repeats (SSR). Hereditas 148:52-62.
- Nkongolo, K.K., and L. Nsapato. 2003. Genetic diversity in *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench accessions from different ecogeographical regions in Malawi assessed with RAPDs. Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution 50:149-156.
- Paterson, A.H., J.E. Bowers, C.A. Maher, A Narechania, L. Zhang, D. Ware, J. Messing and D.S. Rokhsar. 2009. The *Sorghum bicolor* genome and the diversification of grasses. Nature 457:551-556.
- Pei, Z., J. Gao, Q. Chen, J. Wei, Z. Li, F. Luo, L. Shi, B. Ding, and S. Sun. 2010. Genetic diversity of elite sweet sorghum genotypes assessed by SSR markers. Biologia Plantarum 54:653-658.
- Perrier, X. and J.P. Jacquemoud-Collet. 2006. DARwin Software. http://darwin. cirad.fr/darwin
- Perumal, R., R. Krishbaramanujam, M.A. Menz, S. Katile, J. Dahlberg, C.W. Magill, and W.L. Rooney. 2007. Genetic diversity among sorghum races and working groups based on AFLP and SSRs. Crop Science 47:1375-1383.
- Reddy, S.V.R., V.K. Khanna, and G.B. Pant. 2010. Molecular fingerprinting of sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench) germplasm using simple sequence repeat markers. Pantnagar Journal of Research 8:180-186.
- Reif, J.C., A.E. Melchinger, X.C. Xia, M.L. Warburton, D.A. Hoisington, S.K. Vasal, D. Beck,
 M. Bohn, and M. Frisch. 2003. Use of SSRs for establishing heterotic groups in subtropical maize. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 107:947-957.
- Rogstad, S.H. 2003. Plant DNA extraction using silica. Plant Molecular Biology Reporter 21:463.
- Smith, J.S.C., E.C.L. Chin, H. Shu, O.H. Smith, S.J. Wall, M.L. Senior, S.E. Mitchell, S. Kresovich, and J. Ziegle. 1997. An evaluation of the utility of SSR loci as molecular markers in maize (*Zea mays* L.): comparison with data from RFLPs and pedigree. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 95:163-173.
- Taylor, J.R.N. 2003. Overview: Importance of sorghum in Africa. Department of Food Science. University of Pretoria, Pretoria.
- Thudi, M., and B. Fakrudin. 2011. Identification of unique alleles and assessment of genetic diversity of rabi sorghum accessions using simple sequence repeat markers. Journal of Plant Biochemistry and Biotechnology 20:74-83.
- Tukeswa, A.B., T.C.E. Mosha, H.S. Laswai, and E.E. Towo. 2000. Traditional alcoholic beverages of Tanzania: Production, quality and changes in quality attributes during storage. International Journal of Food Science and Nutrition 51:135-143.
- Uptmoor, R., W. Wenzel, W. Friedt, G. Donaldson, K. Ayisi, and F. Ordon. 2003. Comparative analysis on the genetic relatedness of Sorghum bicolor accessions from Southern Africa by RAPDs, AFLPs and SSRs. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 106:1316-1325.
- Wang, M.L., C. Zhu, N.A. Barkley, Z. Chen, J.E. Erpelding, S.C. Murray, M.R. Tuinstra, T. Tesso, G.A. Pederson, and J. Yu. 2009. Genetic diversity and population structure analysis of accessions in the US historic sweet sorghum collection. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 120:13-23.
- Wenzel, W.G., M. van Loggerenberg, and F. Ordon. 2001. Quick screening methods for sorghum quality traits. Journal of Applied Botany 73:43-45.
- Xiao, J., S. Grandillo, S.N. Ahn, S.R. McCouch, S.D. Tanksley, J. Li, and L. Yuan. 1996. Genes from wild rice improve yield. Nature, 384:223-224.
- Yang, X., Y. Xu, T. Shah, H. Li, Z. Han, J. Li, and J. Yan. 2011. Comparison of SSRs and SNPs in assessment of genetic relatedness in maize. Genetica 139:1045-1054

CHAPTER 6

Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein content and amino acid composition

6.1 Abstract

Malnutrition is a challenge in developing and underdeveloped countries of the world. Sorghum is an important food security crop in sub-Saharan Africa providing food and feed. However, sorghum has inadequate and variable protein content and levels of essential amino acids required for balanced human and animal diets. The objectives of this study were to determine the genetic diversity present among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein and amino acid content and to select candidate lines for breeding or direct production. Fifty nine selected South African sorghum genotypes grown at two localities (Makhathini and Ukulinga) were analysed for crude protein content using near-infrared spectroscopy (NIR). Nineteen genotypes with high crude protein content from each location were selected and analysed for amino acid profiles using protein hydrolysates. The crude protein content of the genotypes varied from 7.69 to 16.18% across the two sites with a mean of 13.07%. The genotypes that had high crude protein content at both sites were Mammopane (16.18%), AS16 M1 (15.57%), Macia-SA (15.31%), AS19 (15.22%), Maseka-aswere (15.13%), and AS4 (15.07%). The genotypes identified with superior leucine content were LP 1948 at 14.3%, FS 4905 (14.3%), MP 4154 (14.26%) and LP 1481 (14.25%). High lysine content was detected in the genotypes KZ 5246 at 2.27%, AS17 (2.25%), Manthate (2.16%) and LP 1481 (2.11%). The genotype AS16cyc was the best candidate for high phenylananine content at 5.99%. Manthate and Maseka-a-swere were best candidates for high protein values and good amino acid compositions. Overall, the studied lines had great variability in their protein and amino acid profiles. Low levels of cysteine, lysine, methionine, and histidine were measured. The presence of genetic diversity is essential for quality improvement to achieve balanced protein and amino acid levels in sorghum.

Keywords: amino acids, genetic diversity, protein content, sorghum

6.2 Introduction

Food security and malnutrition are major challenges in the world today (FAO, 2010). In South Africa there are great disparities among communities. It is estimated that 14 million people are food insecure and 1.5 million children suffer from malnutrition in South Africa (HSRC, 2004). However, in South Africa there is a coexistence of both under- and overnutrition across all age groups (Steyn et al., 2006).

Proteins are essential component of the diet needed for humans. About 63% of the world protein consumption is from grains or grain products (Hoveland, 1980). The protein's basic function in nutrition is to supply adequate amounts of required amino acids. These proteins are composed of numerous amino acids of which eight are essential for the human diet. In food plants the protein quality is a measure of the amino acid levels present in a given genotype (Waggle and Deyoe, 1966; Arun et al., 2009). The protein quality or its nutritive value depends on its amino acid content and on the physiological availability of specific amino acids after digestion, absorption and oxidation. Sorghum, the most important food security crop in sub-Saharan Africa, has poor protein digestibility and inadequate levels of some of the essential amino acids such as lysine compared to other cereals (FAO, 1995).

In countries where cereals are staple foods, protein malnutrition is a widespread problem. The low levels of some critical amino acids in African cereals contribute to hunger and malnutrition reported in sub-Saharan Africa (FAO, 2010). Furthermore, one of the challenges of sorghum production under small-scale farming system in South Africa is a lack of varieties that produce stable yields which have adequate protein and amino acid contents. Hence, it is essential to characterize sorghum collections from various provinces within South Africa. Characterization and identification of suitable sorghum genotypes and development of improved cultivars that are more suited to the marginal areas would help in food security and alleviation of malnutrition (Slabbert et al., 2001). Efforts have been made to improve levels of amino acids such as lysine in sorghum via mutation breeding (Singh and Axtell, 1973; Axtell et al., 1979). Monyo et al. (1988) reported a hybrid with improved lysine and yield derived from a genotype designated as P-721 Opaque. Other studies have also reported the high lysine sorghum mutants (Oria et al., 2000). Genetic engineering has been attempted to improve sorghum protein and amino acid levels (Zhao et al., 2002). According to Hoveland (1980) the protein content is influenced by environment and the cultivars used. Sorghum selections with improved lysine have been reported (Singh and Axtell, 1973) but most

137

released cultivars are still deficient in essential amino acids. Information on protein content and amino acid levels among sorghum landraces are important for growers, millers, endusers and breeders. However, sorghum cultivars grown by subsistence farmers are low yielders and their protein content and amino acid levels are unknown. Hence, it is essential to assess the levels of protein and the essential amino acids present in sorghum cultivars grown by farmers. Cultivars with superior levels of protein and amino acid levels could be used in breeding programmes aimed at improving the nutritional quality of sorghum.

Various methods have been employed to assess levels of proteins and amino acids in crops (Workman and Burns, 2001; Coetzee, 2003). Near-infrared spectroscopy (NIR) is one of the methods used by researchers to assess various quality traits. NIR can be quick, affordable and accurate. It is a non-destructive method for analysing quality traits including protein and amino acids, among others (Brauteseth, 2009). NIR has been used in various studies for determination of protein and other nutritional quality traits (YoungYi et al., 2010; Olesen et al., 2011). Hence, it is an important tool for use in characterization and making selections in plant breeding programmes.

In other studies, the protein fraction in cereal crops like sorghum was characterized by size exclusion, reverse phase HPLC and SDS-PAGE (Mokrane et al., 2009) and via in vitro protein digestibility of the extracted proteins (Mokrane et al., 2006). The methods used for the analysis of amino acids include ion exchange chromatography (Adeyeye, 2010), capillary electrophoresis (Waldhier et al., 2009), anion-exchange chromatography with integrated pulsed amperometric (IPA) detection equipped with a gold electrode (Rombouts et al., 2009) and high performance liquid chromatography (HLPC) (Ilisz et al., 2008), among others. Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) is the most widely used analytical technique for amino acids in food sources. The technique is effective and efficient for analysis of amino acids in food crops. It is fast with high throughput and provides precision and accuracy without requiring antibodies for the quantification of peptides. It also allows structurally and chemically similar peptides and proteins to be differentiated (Ewles et al., 2010; Ewles and Goodwin, 2011; Nowatzke et al., 2011). Developments in chromatographic methodology have reduced sample and reagent requirements and improved identification, resolution, and sensitivity of amino acid analyses of food samples (Peace and Gilani, 2005). The objectives of this study were to determine the genetic diversity present among selected South African sorghum genotypes, in particular to assess their protein and amino acid composition and to select candidate lines for breeding or direct production.

6.3 Materials and methods

6.3.1 Plant materials and growing environments

Fifty nine sorghum genotypes were selected and grown at Ukulinga Research Farm (29.67'S and 30.14"E, 812 m.a.s.l) of the University of KwaZulu-Natal, and the Makhathini Research Station (27° 24' S and 32° 11' 48"E, 697 m.a.s.l) of the Agricultural Research Council. A list of the sorghum genotypes used in the study is presented in Table 6.1. The studies were conducted in the 2011/2012 growing season and March to August 2012.

6.3.2 Analysis of crude protein

Crude protein content was analysed using Near-Infrared Spectroscopy (NIR) (VISION, 2008) using a FOSS NIR machine, NIRSystems Composite Monochomator 6500, (FOSS NIRSystems Inc., 7703 Montpelier Rd, Laurel, MD, USA) at the Department of Plant Pathology, University of KwaZulu-Natal. About 10 g of sorghum grains of each sample from the two locations, i.e., Makhathini and Ukulinga, were placed in a sample cup that was used for scanning of the whole seeds for analysis of crude protein. The whole grains were scanned, then put into envelopes and were shaken for 5 seconds before re-scanning. The grains were scanned in triplicates. The sorghum genotypes analysed for crude protein are indicated in Table 6.1

6.3.3 Analysis of amino acids

Nineteen sorghum genotypes that showed high protein content were selected for analysis of amino acids. The amino acids were analysed at the Central Analytic Facility, University of Stellenbosch, South Africa. The sorghum samples were first hydrolysed according to the AOAC (2003) method. About 0.1 g of samples were weighed using vibrator apparatus. A 6 ml of 6N HCl and 15% phenol were added into the sample inside the hydrolysis tubes.

Serial	Genotype	Source/place of	Serial	Genotype	Source/place of
Number	••	collection	Number	• •	collection
1	Mammopane	ARC	31	FS4891	Free State
2	NW5436	North West	32	KZ5246	KwaZulu-Natal
3	EC3414	Eastern Cape	33	LP1390	Limpopo
4	EC3217	Eastern Cape	34	KZ5233	KwaZulu-Natal
5	AS16 cyc	ACCI	35	KZ5245	KwaZulu-Natal
6	05-POTCH-115	ARC	36	EC3416	Eastern Cape
7	EC3319	Eastern Cape	37	NW5454	North West
8	LP4442	Limpopo	38	05-Potch- 151	ARC
9	MP4265	Mpumalanga	39	MP4277	Mpumalanga
10	EC3364	Eastern Cape	40	NW5393	North West
11	EC3403	Eastern Cape	41	MP1990	Mpumalanga
12	AS11	ACCI	42	Maseka-a-	ARC
13	AS21	ACCI	43	Macia-SA	ARC
14	Mamolokwane	ARC	44	MP4259	Mpumalanga
15	KZ5287	KwaZulu-Natal	45	Manthate	ARC
16	M153	ARC	46	LP1413	Limpopo
17	LP4303	Limpopo	47	EC2985	Eastern Cape
18	EC3184	Eastern Cape	48	FS4905	Free State
19	MP4276	Mpumalanga	49	MP4154	Mpumalanga
20	AS16 M1	ACCI	50	LP1481	Limpopo
21	AS2	ACCI	51	05-Potch- 167	ARC
22	AS16 M2	ACCI	52	MP2048	Mpumalanga
23	AS4	ACCI	53	KZ5088	KwaZulu-Natal
24	KZ5281	KwaZulu-Natal	54	NW5337	North West
25	MOTLERANE	ARC	55	NW5333	North West
26	LP1948	Limpopo	56	AS17	ACCI
27	AS19	ACCI	57	FS4909	Free State
28	AS1	ACCI	58	KZ5237	KwaZulu-Natal
29	KZ5258	KwaZulu-Natal	59	LP1473	Limpopo
30	NW5430	North West			

Table 6.1. A list of sorghum genotypes used in the study.

The hydrolysis tubes made of glass were sealed following the standard procedure for sample vacuum hydrolysis according to the manufacturer's instructions, Thermo Scientific. The hydrolysis tubes were placed inside glass beakers and put in an oven at a temperature of 110°C. After 24 hours, these were removed from the oven and allowed to cool to room temperature. The vials were transferred into two 2ml Eppendorf tubes and the remainder of each sample was discarded. One eppi was used for analysis of amino acids in the Liquid

Chromatography Mass Spectroscope. The other eppi was stored at -20°C. The eppi samples were subjected to the Water AccQ Tag Ultra Derivitization Kit (Waters Corporation, MA, USA). A 10 μ l of undiluted sample was added to the Waters AccQ Tag Kit constituents and placed in a heating block at a temperature of 55°C for ten minutes. The column was an AccQ Tag C18, 1.7 μ m, 2.1 x 100 mm, and sample injection was of 1 μ l with the ESI + source. The solvents, Eluent A2 contained 100 ml Eluent A concentrate and 900 ml water and Eluent B was supplied in the AccQ Tag Kit. The samples were run with the capillary voltage of 3.5 kilo volts (kV) and core voltage of 15 volts (V) at 120°C. The desolvation temperature, desolvation gas and core gas were 350°C, 350Lh⁻¹ and 50Lh⁻¹, respectively. The list of amino acids analysed is shown in Table 6.2.

Amino acid	Abbreviation	Amino acid	Abbreviation
Histidine	His	Lysine	Lys
Serine	Ser	Tyrosine	Tyr
Arginine	Arg	Methionine	Met
Glycine	Gly	Valine	Val
Aspartic acid	Asp	Isoleucine	lle
Glutamic acid	Glu	Leucine	Leu
Threonine	Thr	Phenylalanine	Phe
Alanine	Ala		
Proline	Pro		
Cysteine	Cys		

Table 6.2. Full names of the amino acids and abbreviations.

6.3.4 Data analysis

The spectral data of the scanned sorghum samples were entered into VISION software (VISION, 2008). The data was further analysed using Unscrambler software version 3.0 (Esbesen, 1994). The model used for protein predictions was adapted from Brauteseth (2009) for sorghum protein. The protein content and amino acid profiles of the genotypes were compared using the analysis of variance of GenStat 14th edition computer package (Payne et al., 2011).

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Protein content

Results of crude protein content of the 59 sorghum genotypes across the two sites, Makhathini and Ukulinga are presented in Table 6.3. The protein content of sorghum lines at Makhathini ranged from 5.50 to 16.95% with a mean of 12.78% (Table 6.3). There was marked variation among the sorghum genotypes where MP4259 (16.18%), Manthate (16.47%), Mammopane (16.5%), Macia-SA (16.65%) and MP4154 (16.95%). had the highest crude protein content. The genotypes KZ 5233 (5.55%), EC3416 (8.84%) and MP4265 (8.92%) had the lowest crude protein contents.

At Ukulinga, the sorghum genotypes exhibited crude protein ranging from 8.92 to 16.81% with a mean of 13.37% (Table 6.3). Genotypes that had high protein content were 05-POTCH-115, AS1, AS16 M1 at 16.06%, 16.15% and 16.81%, respectively. Genotypes LP1390, MP4259, KZ5233 had the lowest crude protein content of 8.92%, 9.75% and 9.83%, respectively.

Overall, there was higher degree of variability among the sorghum genotypes when tested at Makhathini than Ukulinga (Table 6.3). The crude protein content ranged from 7.69 to 16.18% averaged across the two sites with a grand mean of 13.07%. The genotypes that showed high protein across the two sites were AS4, followed by Maseka-a-swere, AS19, Macia-SA, AS16 M1 and Mammopane at 15.07%, 15.13%, 15.22%, 15.31%, 15.57%, and 16.18%, respectively. The lowest crude protein contents were noted in the genotype KZ 5233 LP 1390 at 7.69% and 9.65%, respectively.

Number	Genotype	Makhathini	Ukulinga	Overall mean
1	Mammopane	16.5	15.85	16.18
2	NW5436	11.28	15.44	13.36
3	EC3414	11.79	11.66	11.73
4	EC3217	14.73	14.12	14.43
5	AS16 cyc	15.15	13.01	14.08
6	05-POTCH-115	12.27	16.06	14.17
7	EC3319	12.29	12.83	12.56
8	LP4442	12.54	12.7	12.62
9	MP4265	8.92	11.81	10.37
10	EC3364	11.99	12.52	12.26
11	EC3403	12.65	13.13	12.89
12	AS11	12.52	14.96	13.74
13	AS21	14.47	12.31	13.39
14	Mamolokwane	12.53	14.28	13.41
15	KZ5287	9.54	12.14	10.84
16	M153	12.72	15.96	14.34
17	LP4303	11.03	13.4	12.22
18	EC3184	11.46	12.44	11.95
19	MP4276	12.43	13.19	12.81
20	AS16 M1	14.32	16.81	15.57
21	AS2	12.25	15.01	13.63
22	AS16 M2	12.73	15.33	14.03
23	AS4	14.24	15.9	15.07
24	KZ5281	11.56	13.49	12.53
25	MOTLERANE	12.88	15.29	14.09
26	LP1948	13.74	11.14	12.44
27	AS19	14.68	15.75	15.22
28	AS1	12.07	16.15	14.11
29	KZ5258	13.53	12.79	13.16
30	NW5430	12.12	14.36	13.24
31	FS4891	12.55	12.6	12.58
32	KZ5246	10.65	11.15	10.90
33	LP1390	9.38	8.92	9.15
34	KZ5233	5.55	9.83	7.69
35	KZ5245	12.5	13.15	12.83
36	EC3416	8.84	14.58	11.71
37	NW5454	12.34	13.03	12.69
38	05-Potch-151	11.58	14.79	13.19
39	MP4277	11.81	12.74	12.28
40	NW5393	10.88	10.8	10.84
41	MP1990	11.73	13.91	12.82
42	Maseka-a- swere	15.88	14.38	15.13

Table 6.3. Protein content (%) of 59 sorghum genotypes when grown at Makhathini and Ukulinga, 2011/2012.

43	Macia-SA	16.65	13.97	15.31
44	MP4259	16.18	9.75	12.97
45	Manthate	16.47	13.19	14.83
46	LP1413	14.94	14.8	14.87
47	EC2985	15.56	14.42	14.99
48	FS4905	13.05	12.07	12.56
49	MP4154	16.95	11.62	14.29
50	LP1481	15.83	12.67	14.25
51	05-Potch-167	12.53	11.7	12.12
52	MP2048	15.8	13.48	14.64
53	KZ5088	13.7	11.36	12.53
54	NW5337	13.73	12.42	13.08
55	NW5333	10.09	10.26	10.18
56	AS17	13.24	13.33	13.29
57	FS4909	11.82	14.96	13.39
58	KZ5237	13.1	14.53	13.82
59	LP1473	9.49	14.77	12.13
	Min	5.55	8.92	7.69
	Max	16.95	16.81	16.18
	Mean	12.78	13.37	13.07
	Variance	4.89	3.14	2.51
	SD	2.21	1.77	1.58
	SE	0.31	0.27	
	F-probability	< 0.001	< 0.001	

6.4.2 Amino acid composition of sorghum genotypes at Makhatini

The selected 19 genotypes were grown and their seed samples were profiled for 17 amino acids (Table 6.2). All genotypes were assessed for amino acid composition except for Macia-SA due to financial constraint. The levels of amino acids were expressed as percent of the total protein (Tables 6.4).

Percent amino acids showed significant differences among tested genotypes. Levels of all amino acids in different cultivars were highly significantly different at P < 0.001 (Table 6.4). The essential amino acids include: histidine, isoleucine, leucine, lysine, methionine, phenylalanine, threonine, and valine. Histidine content ranged between 1.81 and 2.32% with a mean of 2.10%. The genotypes: AS17, MP 2048 and MP 4276 had high histidine content at 2.32, 2.26 and 2.26%, respectively. Low histidine values were recorded in the genotypes 05-Potch-115, 05-Potch-167 and AS16cyc at 1.97, 1.91 and 1.81%, respectively. Lysine ranged from 1.09 to 2.17% with a mean of 1.80%. The genotypes that had high lysine percent were Manthate, 05-Potch-115, FS 4905, LP 1413 and EC 2985 at 2.17, 2.09, 2.04,

2.02 and 2.02%, in that order. The lowest was in the genotype MP 4276 at 1.09%. Threonine ranged from 2.26 to 3.24% with a mean of 3.00%. The genotypes that had a high threonine percent were 05-Potch-115, KZ 5246, Maseka-a-swere and LP 1481 at 3.23, 3.19, 3.15 and 3.12%, respectively. The lowest was recorded in the genotype AS16cyc at 2.26%. Methionine levels ranged from 1.40% to 4.28% with a mean of 2.10%. The genotype that had the highest methionine percent was EC 2985 at 15.85% and the lowest was MP 4276 at 1.40%. Valine ranged from 4.28 to 5.33% with a mean of 5.00%. The genotypes that had high valine percent were MP 2048, LP 1948, AS11, KZ 5246 and AS17 with 5.33%, 5.24%, 5.23%, 5.19% and 5.17%, while the lowest was noted in the genotype FS 4905 at 4.28%. Isoleucine ranged from 3.26 to 4.17% with a mean of 3.90%. The genotypes that had high isoleucine percent were 05-Potch-115, LP 1481, LP 1413 and MP 4259 with 4.17%, 4.13%, 4.11% and 4.09%, in that order. The lowest isoleucine content was recorded in the genotype LP 1948 at 3.26%. Leucine ranged from 13.40% to 14.47% with a mean of 14.10%. The genotypes that had high leucine percent were AS16cyc, Maseka-a-swere, 05-Potch-167 and 05-Potch-115 at 14.14%, 14.45%, 14.28% and 14.17%. The leucine content was the lowest in LP 4303, AS17 and AS11 at 13.6%, 13.54% and 13.4%, respectively. Phenylalanine ranged from 5.10% to 6.86% with a mean of 5.40%. The genotype Maseka-a-swere had the highest phenylalanine content at 6.86% and the lowest was noted in the genotype MP 4276 with 5.1%.

6.4.3 Amino acid composition of sorghum genotypes at Ukulinga

Amino acid compositions of the 19 sorghum genotypes when evaluated at Ukulinga are presented in Tables 6.5. The ANOVA displayed highly significant differences (P < 0.001) for the seventeen amino acids. Only the major amino acids are discussed below.

Percent amino acids of the total protein showed significant differences among the tested genotypes (Table 6.6). All amino acids were highly significant at P < 0.001 (Table 6.6). Histidine showed variation ranging between 1.78 to 2.28% with a mean percent of 2.06. LP 1413, MP 2048, MP 4259, MP 4276 and EC 2985 expressed high histidine levels of 2.28%, 2.25%, 2.23%, 2.23% and 2.21%, respectively. 05-Potch-167 had low histidine of 1.78%. The threonine composition showed differences ranging between 2.79% and 3.26% with an average percent of 3.05%. The genotypes 05-Potch-115 and LP 1948 had the highest threonine content of 3.26% and 3.24%, respectively. Manthate expressed the lowest content of 2.79%. The lysine levels ranged from 1.71 to 2.5% with the mean of 2.05%. The LP 1481 had the highest lysine content of 2.5% and MP 4154 had low content of 1.71%. The methionine values ranged from 1.7% to 2.33% with an average of 2.06%. The genotypes 05-

145

Potch-115, MP 4154, AS16cyc, LP 4303 and LP 1948 expressed high levels of 2.33%, 2.33%, 2.32%, 2.29% and 2.27%, respectively. The lowest content was observed in MP 2048 at 1.7%.

The valine content varied between 4.89% and 5.28% with an average of 5.03%. The genotypes that showed high values were Macia-SA, Manthate, AS17, LP 1481 and LP 1413 of 5.27%, 5.19%, 5.19%, 5.17% and 5.15%, respectively. The lowest values were observed in LP 4303 and MP 2048 both at 4.89%. The isoleucine content among the genotypes varied from 3.63% to 4.06% with an average of 3.83%. The genotypes that had high isoleucine levels were EC 2985, 05-Potch-167 and MP 4276 at 4.06%, 4.06% and 4.01%, respectively. The lowest levels were noted in genotypes MP 4259 at 3.64% and 05-Potch-115 at 3.63%. The leucine levels ranged from 13.04% to 14.29% with the average of 13.79%. The genotypes that had high leucine were LP 1413 and 05-Potch-115 at 14.28% and 14.25%, respectively. The genotype AS17 had the lowest leucine level of 13.04%. The phenylalanine levels varied between 4.82% and 5.7% with the average of 5.17%. Manthate had the highest phenylalanine content of about 5.7% and MP 4259 had the lowest content of 4.82%. The arginine values varied between 3.11% and 4.19% with an average of 3.62%. The genotypes 05-Potch-115 and FS 4905 both expressed increased arginine level of 4.19% each. Macia-SA had the lowest level of 3.11%. The tyrosine values ranged from 3.84% to 4.53% with an average of 4.13%. The highest tyrosine level was noted in Manthate having 4.53% and the lowest in EC 2985 having tyrosine content of 3.84%.

								Ar	nino acid	S							
Genotype	His	Ser	Arg	Gly	Asp	Glu	Thr	Ala	Pro	Cys	Lys	Tyr	Met	Val	ILe	Leu	Phe
AS11	2.23	4. 74	3.78	3.18	6.28	21.84	3.03	9.29	8.45	0.33	1.66	4.48	2.09	5.00	3.87	14.42	5.32
AS16cyc	1.81	3.20	2.47	5.16	5.03	18.01	2.26	7.24	15.15	0.00	1.09	5.75	4.28	4.28	3.26	14.14	6.86
AS17	2.32	4.85	4.23	3.36	7.01	21.00	3.23	8.73	7.92	0.30	2.17	4.42	2.03	5.09	3.76	14.18	5.39
EC 2985	2.07	4.89	3.52	3.41	6.44	22.01	3.08	8.87	8.48	0.32	1.68	4.36	2.35	4.85	3.92	14.11	5.64
FS 4905	2.18	4.80	4.03	3.75	6.63	21.36	3.08	8.76	7.85	0.25	1.87	4.65	2.73	4.98	3.80	13.87	5.42
KZ 5246	2.10	4.65	3.75	3.64	6.75	21.33	3.19	8.93	8.11	0.22	2.04	4.47	2.31	5.33	4.01	13.91	5.26
LP 1413	2.14	4.79	3.67	3.17	7.59	22.20	2.93	9.56	7.70	0.20	2.02	4.14	1.70	5.06	3.84	14.14	5.15
LP1481	2.11	4.79	3.60	3.39	7.14	22.60	3.03	9.52	7.73	0.19	2.09	3.98	1.85	5.17	4.09	13.60	5.13
LP1948	2.00	4.71	3.06	3.02	6.91	22.72	2.91	9.63	8.03	0.14	1.85	4.10	1.72	5.10	4.17	14.47	5.44
LP 4303	2.00	4.67	3.59	3.19	7.39	22.42	2.91	9.21	7.89	0.21	2.02	4.22	1.68	5.24	3.99	14.24	5.15
MP 2048	2.26	5.19	3.54	3.32	6.74	22.18	2.93	9.22	7.97	0.20	1.89	4.27	1.81	5.09	4.11	13.95	5.34
MP 4154	2.08	4.77	3.20	3.02	6.61	22.93	2.91	9.53	8.25	0.20	1.72	4.08	1.79	4.95	4.13	14.44	5.40
MP 4259	2.23	4.90	3.33	3.57	6.86	22.89	3.12	9.17	8.20	0.22	1.87	4.05	2.23	4.98	3.74	13.54	5.10
MP 4276	2.26	4.85	3.28	3.37	6.46	23.01	3.15	9.25	8.11	0.23	1.73	4.05	2.09	4.98	3.89	13.92	5.35
Manthate	2.23	4.57	3.80	3.82	7.27	22.48	3.00	8.96	7.62	0.17	1.98	4.15	2.42	5.19	3.70	13.40	5.26
Maseka-a-	2.08	4.69	3.43	3.04	7.01	22.76	2.99	9.58	8.10	0.23	1.67	3.97	1.56	5.23	3.92	14.45	5.29
swere 05-Potch-115	1.97	4.82	3.24	3.03	7.81	22.65	3.01	9.56	8.10	0.25	1.87	4.09	1.52	4.88	3.79	14.17	5.23
05-Potch-167	1.91	5.01	3.27	3.23	7.31	22.80	3.00	9.59	8.09	0.28	1.88	3.94	1.40	4.85	3.88	14.28	5.26
Min	1.81	3.20	2.47	3.02	5.03	18.01	2.26	7.24	7.62	0.00	1.09	3.94	1.40	4.28	3.26	13.40	5.10
Мах	2.32	5.19	4.23	5.16	7.81	23.01	3.23	9.63	15.15	0.33	2.17	5.75	4.28	5.33	4.17	14.47	6.86
Mean	2.10	4.70	3.50	3.40	6.80	22.10	3.00	9.10	8.40	0.20	1.80	4.30	2.10	5.00	3.90	14.10	5.40
F-probability	<0.001	<0.00	<0.00	<0.00	<0.00	<0.00	<0.00	<0.00	<0.00	<0.00	<0.00	<0.00	<0.00	<0.00	<0.00	<0.00	<0.00
SE	0.03	0.10	0.09	0.12	0.14	0.28	0.05	0.13	0.40	0.02	0.06	0.10	0.15	0.05	0.05	1 0.08	0.09
Variance	0.02	0.16	0.16	0.25	0.37	1.38	0.04	0.32	2.87	0.01	0.06	0.17	0.42	0.05	0.04	0.10	0.15

Table 6.4. Amino acids composition (%) of 18 sorghum genotypes grown at Makhathini, 2011/2012.

0								Amino	acids								
Genotype	His	Ser	Arg	Gly	Asp	Glu	Thr	Ala	Pro	Cys	Lys	Tyr	Met	Val	ILe	Leu	Phe
AS11	2.03	4.94	3.39	3.31	6.85	22.66	3.14	9.15	7.94	0.32	1.85	4.37	2.19	4.90	3.74	14.18	5.06
AS16cyc	1.89	4.80	3.52	3.55	7.42	22.26	3.07	8.92	7.70	0.26	2.17	4.26	2.32	4.94	3.76	14.03	5.12
AS17	1.94	5.14	3.65	3.81	7.38	22.10	3.26	8.93	7.61	0.25	2.33	4.07	2.20	4.98	3.70	13.72	4.94
EC2985	2.21	5.29	3.66	3.72	6.29	21.36	3.17	8.62	8.29	0.29	1.71	4.53	2.33	4.89	3.86	14.07	5.70
FS4905	2.05	4.75	3.71	3.30	7.06	22.05	3.06	9.25	7.88	0.24	1.95	4.27	1.88	5.00	3.94	14.28	5.35
KZ5246	2.15	4.77	3.74	3.82	7.72	21.90	3.24	9.14	7.59	0.22	2.50	4.03	2.13	5.17	3.82	13.24	4.82
LP1413	2.28	4.55	3.84	3.10	6.72	22.02	2.99	9.24	8.26	0.20	1.89	4.40	1.80	5.19	4.06	14.02	5.44
LP1481	1.99	4.68	3.48	3.29	7.24	23.33	2.90	9.46	7.65	0.16	2.13	3.91	1.95	5.10	3.92	13.69	5.13
LP1948	2.04	4.76	3.52	3.47	7.47	22.96	2.96	9.45	7.68	0.13	2.34	3.84	1.72	5.19	4.01	13.49	4.97
LP4303	2.05	4.66	3.58	3.68	7.04	22.80	2.86	8.96	7.96	0.16	2.12	3.98	2.29	5.09	3.82	13.81	5.15
MP2048	2.25	4.70	3.61	3.53	6.74	22.91	2.79	9.27	7.88	0.24	1.77	4.24	2.27	5.08	3.75	13.69	5.27
MP4154	1.94	5.21	3.11	3.20	7.16	23.17	2.87	9.58	7.80	0.16	1.75	4.07	1.70	4.91	3.95	14.16	5.28
MP4259	2.23	4.93	3.82	3.38	6.76	21.82	3.17	9.14	7.90	0.21	2.04	4.20	2.02	5.15	4.06	13.89	5.27
MP4276	2.23	4.75	4.19	3.76	7.12	22.46	3.18	8.92	7.57	0.23	2.35	4.03	2.12	5.04	3.79	13.13	5.11
Manthate	2.15	4.67	4.15	3.96	7.15	22.19	3.16	8.93	7.55	0.16	2.34	4.07	2.33	5.27	3.72	13.16	5.05
Maseka-a-	2.04	4.64	3.48	3.15	7.19	23.56	2.95	9.45	7.74	0.30	1.77	4.13	1.96	4.95	3.64	14.06	4.98
swere Macia-SA	1.96	5.08	3.86	3.88	8.05	22.44	3.02	9.31	7.75	0.21	2.23	3.87	1.87	4.94	3.63	13.04	4.87
05-Potch-115	1.86	4.69	3.19	3.44	7.41	23.03	3.08	9.02	8.01	0.17	1.85	4.11	1.93	4.95	3.80	14.07	5.40
05-Potch-167	1.78	4.89	3.19	3.44	7.13	22.95	3.03	9.37	7.92	0.23	1.77	4.00	2.04	4.89	3.75	14.25	5.38
Min	1.78	4.55	3.11	3.1	6.29	21.36	2.79	8.62	7.55	0.13	1.71	3.84	1.7	4.89	3.63	13.04	4.82
Max	2.28	5.29	4.19	3.96	8.05	23.56	3.26	9.58	8.29	0.32	2.5	4.53	2.33	5.27	4.06	14.28	5.7
Mean	2.06	4.84	3.62	3.52	7.15	22.52	3.05	9.16	7.83	0.22	2.05	4.13	2.06	5.03	3.83	13.79	5.17
F-probability	< 0.001	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	< 0.001
SE	0.03	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.05
Variance	0.02	0.05	0.10	0.08	0.21	0.64	0.02	0.08	0.05	0.00	0.07	0.04	0.05	0.02	0.02	0.18	0.06

Table 6.5. Amino acid composition (%) of 18 sorghum types grown at Ukulinga 2011/2012.

6.4.4 Effect of location on amino acid composition

Percentage amino acids showed significant differences among the tested sorghum genotypes. The amino acids showed significant differences (Table 6.9). The phenylananine, lysine and leucine were significant at $P \le 0.05$. The phenylalanine content ranged from 5.04 to 5.99 percent of the total with the mean percent of 0.23. AS16cyc had high phenylananine of about 5.99% and KZ 5246 had the lowest level of 5.04%. The lysine content ranged from 1.63 to 2.27% of the total with a mean of 1.94%. The genotypes that had high lysine were KZ 5246, AS17, Manthate and LP 1481 at 2.27%, 2.25%, 2.16% and 2.11% contents, respectively. The lowest lysine was recorded in AS16cyc at 1.63%. The leucine values ranged from 13.28% to 14.30% of the total with the mean of 13.94%. The genotypes that 14.3%, 14.3%, 14.26%, and 14.25%, respectively. Macia-SA showed the lowest level of leucine at 13.28%.

Among the amino acid profiles assessed, cysteine was the most deficient. It was in the range of 0.13 to 0.33% and a mean of 0.22%, followed by lysine varying between 1.63 to 2.27% with a mean of 1.94%, methionine varied between 1.67 to 3.30% with the mean of 2.07%, and histidine further varied between 1.78 and 2.26% with the mean of 2.08% (Table 6.9). The most abundant amino acids were glutamic acid ranging between 20.14 to 23.66% with an average acid of 22.35%, followed by leucine ranging between 13.28% and 14.30% with the mean of 13.94%, alanine varying between 8.08 and 9.56% with the mean of 9.16%; and lastly, the proline content with a range of 7.59% to 11.43% and a mean of 8.12%.

Generally, the genotypes LP 1948 (14.3%), FS 4905 (14.3%), MP 4154 (14.26%) and LP 1481 (14.25%) were the best on leucine content across the two locations. KZ 5246 (2.27%), AS17 (2.25%), Manthate (2.16%) and LP 1481 (2.11%) were the best genotypes for lysine and AS16cyc (5.99%) was the best candidate genotype for phenylananine content across the two locations. Hence, these genotypes can be selected for further quality improvement in sorghum breeding programmes.

The genotype Maseka-a-swere, had high protein content (15.13%), and high valine (5.23%) and leucine (14.45%) at Makhathini. At Ukulinga, Maseka-a-swere had high glutamic acid (23.56%) and cysteine (0.30%) and on average (across two locations) it showed high glutamic acid (23.16%), alanine (9.52%), and leucine (14.26%). Manthate had a high protein content of 14.83% across the two locations, while arginine of 3.80% and glucine of 3.82% at Makhathini. At Ukulinga, Manthate showed high arginine of 4.15%, glycine of 3.96%, lysine of 2.34%, methionine of 2.33% and valine of 5.27%. Across the locations, Manthate

exhibited arginine of 3.98%, glycine of 3.89%, lysine of 2.16%, and valine of 5.23%. These two genotypes have high protein content and amino acid levels useful for breeding and/or conservation.

Genotype								/	Amino aci	d							
	Hist	Ser	Arg	Gly	Asp	Glu	Thr	Ala	Pro	Cys	Lys	Tyr	Met	Val	lle	Leu	Phe
AS11 AS16cyc	2.13 1.85	4.84 4.00	3.59 3.00	3.25 4.36	6.57 6.23	22.25 20.14	3.09 2.67	9.22 8.08	8.20 11.43	0.33 0.13	1.76 1.63	4.43 5.01	2.14 3.30	4.95 4.61	3.81 3.51	14.30 14.09	5.19 5.99
AS17	2.13	5.00	3.94	3.59	7.20	21.55	3.25	8.83	7.77	0.28	2.25	4.25	2.12	5.04	3.73	13.95	5.17
EC 2985	2.14	5.09	3.59	3.57	6.37	21.69	3.13	8.75	8.39	0.31	1.70	4.45	2.34	4.87	3.89	14.09	5.67
FS 4905	2.12	4.78	3.87	3.53	6.85	21.71	3.07	9.01	7.87	0.25	1.91	4.46	2.31	4.99	3.87	14.08	5.39
KZ 5246	2.13	4.71	3.75	3.73	7.24	21.62	3.22	9.04	7.85	0.22	2.27	4.25	2.22	5.25	3.92	13.58	5.04
LP 1413	2.21	4.67	3.76	3.14	7.16	22.11	2.96	9.40	7.98	0.20	1.96	4.27	1.75	5.13	3.95	14.08	5.30
LP1481	2.05	4.74	3.54	3.34	7.19	22.97	2.97	9.49	7.69	0.18	2.11	3.95	1.90	5.14	4.01	13.65	5.13
LP1948	2.02	4.74	3.29	3.25	7.19	22.84	2.94	9.54	7.86	0.14	2.10	3.97	1.72	5.15	4.09	13.98	5.21
LP 4303	2.03	4.67	3.59	3.44	7.22	22.61	2.89	9.09	7.93	0.19	2.07	4.10	1.99	5.17	3.91	14.03	5.15
MP 2048	2.26	4.95	3.58	3.43	6.74	22.55	2.86	9.25	7.93	0.22	1.83	4.26	2.04	5.09	3.93	13.82	5.31
MP 4154	2.01	4.99	3.16	3.11	6.89	23.05	2.89	9.56	8.03	0.18	1.74	4.08	1.75	4.93	4.04	14.30	5.34
MP 4259	2.23	4.92	3.58	3.48	6.81	22.36	3.15	9.16	8.05	0.22	1.96	4.13	2.13	5.07	3.90	13.72	5.19
MP 4276	2.25	4.80	3.74	3.57	6.79	22.74	3.17	9.09	7.84	0.23	2.04	4.04	2.11	5.01	3.84	13.53	5.23
Manthate	2.19	4.62	3.98	3.89	7.21	22.34	3.08	8.95	7.59	0.17	2.16	4.11	2.38	5.23	3.71	13.28	5.16
Maseka-a-swere	2.06	4.67	3.46	3.10	7.10	23.16	2.97	9.52	7.92	0.27	1.72	4.05	1.76	5.09	3.78	14.26	5.14
05-Potch-115	1.97	4.95	3.55	3.46	7.93	22.55	3.02	9.44	7.93	0.23	2.05	3.98	1.70	4.91	3.71	13.61	5.05
05-Potch-167	1.89	4.85	3.23	3.34	7.36	22.92	3.04	9.31	8.05	0.23	1.87	4.03	1.67	4.90	3.84	14.18	5.33
Macia-SA	1.78	4.89	3.19	3.44	7.13	22.95	3.03	9.37	7.92	0.23	1.77	4.00	2.04	4.89	3.75	14.25	5.38
Min	1.78	4.00	3.00	3.10	6.23	20.14	2.67	8.08	7.59	0.13	1.63	3.95	1.67	4.61	3.51	13.28	5.04
Max	2.26	5.09	3.98	4.36	7.93	23.16	3.25	9.56	11.43	0.33	2.27	5.01	3.30	5.25	4.09	14.30	5.99
Mean	2.08	4.78	3.55	3.47	7.01	22.32	3.02	9.16	8.12	0.22	1.94	4.20	2.07	5.02	3.85	13.94	5.28
Variance	0.02	0.19	0.19	0.27	0.45	1.26	0.04	0.23	2.99	0.01	0.09	0.15	0.34	0.04	0.05	0.17	0.19
STDEV	0.13	0.44	0.43	0.51	0.67	1.12	0.20	0.48	1.73	0.08	0.30	0.39	0.59	0.20	0.22	0.41	0.44
SE Mean F-probability	0.03 0.216	0.10 0.273	0.10 0.157	0.12 0.452	0.16 0.069	0.26 0.118	0.05 0.213	0.11 0.946	0.41 0.152	0.02 0.926	0.07 0.006	0.09 0.112	0.14 0.828	0.05 0.565	0.05 0.342	0.10 0.005	0.10 0.043

Table 6.6. Mean amino acid composition (%) among 19 sorghum genotypes when grown at Makhathini and Ukulinga 2011/2012.

6.5 Discussion

Assessing local sorghum genotypes for protein and amino acids is essential for exploiting the existing potential residing in the local landraces for improved human nutrition. There was variation present among the sorghum genotypes based on the crude protein and amino acid profiles. Shegro et al. (2012) also found genetic variation among the sorghum landraces when analysing protein and other mineral elements. In their report the protein content varied between 8.08 and 15.26%. Nguni et al. (2012) further reported grain protein content ranging between 9.7 and 16.3% in Southern African sorghum genotypes. In the present study the crude protein content varied between 7.69% and 16.18%, which is similar to the crude protein reported by Shegro et al. (2012) and Nguni et al. (2012). Pepo et al. (2011) reported protein levels ranging between 9.43-17.7% among sorghum cultivars and single hybrids. Perdesen and Kofoid (2003) reported crude protein ranging from 106 to 128 g/kg with a mean of 117 g/kg for sorghum lines without testa and 107 to 124 g/kg protein with testa containing sorghum lines when assessing the sorghum conversion lines for protein content. Mokrane et al. (2010) reported protein content of about 16% in various Algerian sorghum cultivars. Douglas et al. (1990) found crude protein levels in sorghum lines to be higher than maize, ranging from 8.8 to 15.0%. Crude protein in the range of 6% to 16% has been reported by other researchers (Youssef, 1998; Afripro, 2003).

Protein content and amino acid compositions are highly variable due to differences in genotypes, environments and genotype x environment interaction. The protein content of barley was reported to be 11.5% and fractionated as B, C, D and γ hordeins. The B and C fractions accounted for 70% to 80% and 10% to 12%, respectively, of the total hordein, while the D and γ fractions were minor components (Jun-cong et al., 2005). Jaradat (1991) studied grain protein variability among populations of wild barley in Jordan. The author reported protein content ranging from 106.3 to 239.1 g kg-1, and thousand kernel weight from 21.17 to 31.8 mg. Previous studies have attempted to determine the content, composition and structure of the grain proteins in wheat (Shewry et al., 2002; Bradová and Štočková, 2010; Özbek et al., 2011). Mature wheat grains contain 8-20% protein. The major storage proteins are gliadins and glutenins, which interact in the presence of water to form gluten, the protein complex responsible for the visco-elastic properties that make durum wheat superior for pasta making (Peña et al., 1994; Wieser, 2000). Genes conferring high grain protein have been identified in wild tetraploid wheats (Brevis et al., 2010) or in mutant barley lines (Roesler and Rao, 2000).

The protein content a crop is influenced by the production environment. The levels of protein can be increased significantly by generous nitrogen fertilization (Warsi and Wright, 1973). Environmental factors such as location, chemical fertilizers, plant population and chemical treatments influence the protein content and amino acid patterns (Salunkhe et al., 1977). In this study, the protein content varied across locations and genotypes. The genotypes that exhibited high protein content in this study have potential to be selected for breeding, conservation or direct production at the target agro-ecology. The genotypes with high protein were also exhibiting intermediate plant height, medium sized panicle width, intermediate panicle weight, medium seed size and were well exserted. More studies are needed in different agro-ecologies to select genotypes with stable protein expression.

There were significant differences among the sorghum genotypes based on the amino acid composition. The amino acid levels were different for lysine, isoleucine and phenylananine across the two locations. Lysine and methionine were in low levels than other amino acids. Glutamic acid, leucine, alanine and proline were found in high levels. These results concur with the reports of other researchers who found low levels of lysine and methionine (Azevedo et al., 1997; Amjad et al., 2003). Ebadi et al. (2005) also found low levels of lysine and methionine in high tannin sorghums. High levels of proline and glutamic acid were also recorded (Landry et al., 2005; Landry and Delhaye, 2007). Hicks et al. (2002) reported genetic variation among the sorghum inbred lines and hybrids for crude protein and other quality traits. Mokrane et al. (2010) found different levels of amino acids analysed in Algerian sorghum cultivars. The amino acid profiles had amino acid score of 1.0-2.6 of the human protein requirement. Moreover, the amino acids contents ranged from 0.9 to 2.6 g/100g except for lysine, methionine, and cysteine. Genetic variation was also observed among high lysine sorghum genotypes from India and MASSA 03 based on protein and amino acids. There were high lysine and threonine soluble concentrations observed among the sorghum genotypes which could serve as potential food sources due to a better balanced amino acid profile.

A large part of the differences observed in amino acid profiles was due to genetic effects. Hence, breeding for enhanced amino acid profiles is feasible. The best sorghum genotypes can be used as parents to develop superior cultivars and/or hybrids with improved protein and amino acids.

6.6 Conclusions

The sorghum genotypes showed a wide variation of crude protein and amino acid profiles. High crude protein content recorded at Makhathini and Ukulinga were in the genotypes Mammopane (16.18%), AS16 M1 (15.57%), Macia-SA (15.31%), AS19 (15.22%), Maseka-a-swere (15.13%) and AS4 (15.07%). Hence, these lines can be recommended for further quality improvement in sorghum breeding or direct production. The candidate genotypes with superior levels of leucine were LP 1948 (14.3%), FS 4905 (14.3%), MP 4154 (14.26%) ad LP 1481 (14.25%). The genotype KZ 5246 (2.27%), AS17 (2.25%), Manthate (2.16%) and LP 1481 (2.11%) were the best genotypes for high lysine, whereas AS16cyc (5.99%) was the best candidate for phenylalanine. Manthate and Maseka-a-swere were best candidates for high protein and good amino acid composition. The presence of genetic diversity among the sorghum genotypes studied is imperative for further genetic improvement in sorghum breeding programmes as well as for improved human nutrition value.

6.7 References

- Adeyeye, E.I. 2010. Effect of cooking and roasting on the amino acid composition of raw groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea*) seeds. Acta Scientiarum Polonorum-Technologia Alimentaria 9:201-216.
- Afripro. 2003. Overview: Importance of sorghum in Africa. *In*: P. S. Belton and J. R. N. Taylor (ed.) Workshop on the Proteins of Sorghum and Millet: Enhancing Nutritional and Functional Properties for Africa. Pretoria, South Africa.
- Amjad, I., I.A. Khalil, and H. Shah. 2003. Nutritional yield and amino acid profile of rice protein as influenced by nitrogen fertilizer. Sarhad Journal of Agriculture 19:127-134.
- AOAC. 2003. Official methods of analysis of AOAC International. 17th ed. Association of Analytical Communities, Gaithersburg, MD, USA.
- Arun, G.K., R.S. Venkatesh, and G.S.V. Raghavan. 2009. Nutritional and rheological properties of sorghum. International Journal of Food Properties International Journal of Food Properties 12:55-69.
- Axtell, J.D., S.W. Van Scoyoc, P.J. Christensen, and G. Ejeta. 1979. Current status of protein quality improvement in grain sorghum. p. 357 Seed Protein Improvement in Cereals and Grain Legumes. IAEA, Vienna. Austria.
- Azevedo, R.A., P. Arruda, W.L. Turner, and P.J. Lea. 1997. The biosynthesis and metabolism of the aspartate derived amino acids in higher plants. Phytochemistry 46:395-419.

- Bradová, J. and L. Štočková. 2010. Evaluation of winter wheat collection in terms of HMWand LMW-Glutenin Subunits. Czech Journal of Geneticsa and Plant Breeding 46:S96-S99.
- Brauteseth, E.M. 2009. The mutagenesis of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench towards improved nutrition and agronomic performance. University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg.
- Brevis, J.C., C.F. Morris, F. Manthey, and J. Dubcovsky. 2010: Effect of the grain protein content locus Gpc-B1 on bread and pasta quality. Journal of Cereal Science 51:357-365.
- Coetzee, N.A. 2003. Near infrared analysis of sugarcane (*Saccharun* spp hybrid) bud scales to predict resistance to eldana stalk borer (*Eldana saccharina* Walker). University of KwaZulu-Natal. Master of Science Dissertation, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa.
- Douglas, J.H., T.W. Sullivan, P.L. Bond, and F.J. Struwe. 1990. Nutrient composition and metabolizable energy values of selected sorghum varieties and yellow corn. Poultry Science 69:1147-1155.
- Ebadi, M.R., J. Pourreza, J. Jamalian, M.A. Edriss, A.H. Samie, and S.A. Mirhadi. 2005. Amino acid content and availability in low, medium and high tannin sorghum grain for poultry. International Journal of Poultry Science 4:27-31.
- Esbesen, K.H. 1994. Multivariate data analysis in practice. 5th ed. CAMO Software AS, Alborg University, Esbjerg.
- Ewles, M.F., L. Goodwin and D. Bakes. 2010. Feasibility assessment of a bioanalytical method for quantification of a 14.3 kDa protein in human plasma using tryptic digestion LC-MS/MS without requirement for antibodies. Chromatography Today 3(1):26-29.
- Ewles, M., and L. Goodwin. 2011. Bioanalytical approaches to analyzing peptides and proteins by LC--MS/MS.bioanalysis 3(12):1379-1397.
- FAO. 1995. Sorghum and Pearl Millets in Human Nutrition. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) Press, Rome, Italy.
- FAO. 2010. The State of Food Insecurity in the World. Addressing Food Insecurity in Protracted Crises. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Hicks, C., M.R. Tuinstra, J.F. Pedersen, F.E. Dowell, and K.D. Kofoid. 2002. Genetic analysis of feed and seed weight of sorghum inbred lines and hybrids using analytical methods and NIRS. Euphytica 127:31-40.
- Hoveland, C.S. 1980. Crop quality, storage, and utilization American Society of Agronomy. Crop Science of America, Inc., Madison, Wisconsin.
- HSRC. 2004. Food security in South Africa: Key policy issues for the medium term, Pretoria, South Africa.

- Ilisz, I., R. Berkecz, and A. Peter. 2008 Application of chiral derivatizing agents in the highperformance liquid chromatographic separation of amino acid enantiomers: a review. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis 47:1-15.
- Jaradat, A.A. 1991. Grain protein variability among populations of wild barley (*Hordeum spontaneum* C. Koch.) from Jordan. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 83(2): 164-168.
- Jun-cong, Q.I., C. Jin-xin and W.Jun-mei. 2005. Protein and hordein fraction content in barley seeds as affected by sowing date and their relation to malting quality. Journal of Zhejiang University Science 6B (11):1069-1075.
- Landry, J., and S. Delhaye. 2007. Influence of genotype and exture on zein content in endosperm of maize grains. Annals of Applied Biology 151:349-356.
- Landry, J., C. Damerval, R.A. Azevedo, and S. Delhaye. 2005. Effect of the *opaque* and *floury* mutations on the accummulation of dry matter and protein fractions in maize endosperm. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 43:549-556.
- Mokrane, H., B. Lagrain, K. Gebruers, C.M. Courtin, K. Brijs, P. Proost, and J.A. Delcour. 2009. Characterization of kafirins in Algerian sorghum cultivars. Cereal chemistry 86:487-491.
- Mokrane, H., H. Amoura, N. Belhaneche-Bensemra, and B. Nadjemi. 2006. Extraction of prolamins from sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) and effect on in vitro protein digestibility.
 Pp. 218 *In*: Grote, R. and G. Atranikian (eds.) Proceedings of International Congress on Biocatalysis. University of Technology, Hamburg, Germany.
- Mokrane, H., H. Amoura, N. Belhaneche-Bensemra, C.M. Courtin, J.A. Delcour, and B. Nadjemi. 2010. Assessment of Algerian sorghum protein quality [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] using amino acid analysis and *in vitro* pepin digestibility. Food Chemistry 121:719-723.
- Monyo, E.S., G. Ejeta, W.E. Nyquist, and J.D. Axtell. 1988. Combining ability of high lysine sorghum lines derived from P-721 opaque. Crop Science 28:70-75.
- Nguni, D., M. Geleta, P. Hofvander, M. Fatih, and T. Bryngelsson. 2012. Comparative genetic diversity and nutritional quality variation among some important Southern African sorghum accessions [*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench]. Australian Journal of Crop Science 6:56-64.
- Nowatzke, W., K. Rogers, E. Wells, R. Bowsher, C. Ray, and S. Unger. 2011. Unique challenges of providing bioanalytical support for biological therapeutic pharmacokinetic programs. Bioanalysis 3:509-521.
- Olesen, M.H., N. Shetty, R. Gislum, and B. Boelt. 2011. Classification of viable and nonviable spinach (*Spinacia oleracea* L.) seeds by single seed near infrared

epectroscopy and extended canonical varieties analysis. Journal of Near Infrared Spetroscopy 19:171-180.

- Oria, M.P., B.R. Hamaker, J.D. Axtel, and C.P. Huang. 2000. A highly digestible sorghum mutant cultivar exhibits a unique folded structure of endosperm protein bodies Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA p. 5065-5070.
- Özbek, O., B.G.Taŝkm, S.K. San, V. Eser, and O. Arslam. 2011. Gliadin polymorphism in Turkish cultivated emmer wheat [*Triticum turgidum* L. ssp. dicoccon (Schrank) Thell.] landraces. Plant Systems and Evolution 296:121-135.
- Payne, R.W., D.A. Murray, S.A. Harding, D.B. Baird, and D.M. Soutar. 2011. An Introduction to GenStat for Windows (14th Edition). VSN International, Hemel Hempstead, UK.
- Peace, R.W., and G.S. Gilani. 2005. Chromatographic determination of amino acids in foods. Journal of AOAC International 88(3):877-87.
- Peña, R.J., P. Zarco-Hernandez, A. Amaya-Celis, and A. Mujeeb-Kazi. 1994. Relationships between chromosomes 1B-encoded glutenin subunit compositions and breadingmaking quality characteristics of some durum wheat (*Triticum durum*) cultivars. Journal of Cereal Science 19:243-249
- Perdesen, J.F., and K.D. Kofoid. 2003. Variability and relationships among 12-hour IVDMD, starch, oil, protein, and physical characteristics of 16 sorghum conversion lines. Euphytica 130:261-266.
- Roesler, K.R., and A.G. Rao. 2000: A single disulfide bond restores thermodynamic and proteolytic stability to an extensively mutated protein. Protein Science 9:1642-1650.
- Rombouts, I., L. Lamberts, I. Celus, B. Lagrain, K. Brijs, and J.A. Delcour. 2009. Wheat gluten amino acid composition analysis by high-performance anion-exchange chromatography with integrated pulsed amperometric detection. Journal of Chromatography 1216(29):5557-5562.
- Sanlunke, D.K., S.S. Kadam, and J.K. Chavan. 1977. Nutritional quality of proteins in grain sorghum. Qualitas Plantarum 27(2):187-205.
- Shegro, A., N.G. Shargie, A. van Biljon, and M.T. Labuschagne. 2012. Diversity of starch, protein, and mineral composition of sorghm landrace accessions from Ethiopia. Journal of Crop Science and Biotechnology 15:275-280.
- Shewry, P.R., N.G. Halford, P.S. Belton, and A.S. Tatham. 2002. The structure and properties of gluten: an elastic protein from wheat grain. The Royal Society 357:133-142.
- Singh, R., and J.D. Axtell. 1973. High lysine mutant gene (hl) that improves protein quality and biological value of grain sorghum. Crop Science 13:535-539.
- Slabbert, R., M. Spreeth, K. de Ronde, T. Caetano, H. Phasha, J. Mojela, J. Lebese, and L. Mokobi. 2001. Regional AFRA Training course on "Improved mutation, *in vitro* culture

and drought screening techniques for the improvement of African crops". Agricultural Research Council, Roodeplaat, Pretoria, South Africa.

- Steyn, N.P., J.H. Nel, G. Nantel, G. Kennedy, and D. Labadarios. 2006. Food variety and dietary diversity scores in children: are they good indicators of dietary adequacy? Public Health Nutrition 9:644-650.
- VISION. 2008. Spectral Analysis Software for Windows. FOSS NIRSystems, Inc.
- Waggle, D.H., and C.W. Deyoe. 1966. Relationship between protein level and amino acid composition of sorghum grain. Feedstuffs 38:1819.
- Waldhier, M.C., M. Gruber, K. Dettmer, and P.J. Oefner. 2009. Capillary electrophoresis and column chromatography in biomedical chiral amino acid analysis. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 394:696-706.
- Wieser, H. 2000. Comparative investigation of gluten proteins from different wheat 36 species. I. Qualitative and quantitative composition of gluten protein types. European Food Research and Technology 211:262-268.
- Workman, J.J., and D.A. Burns. 2001. Commercial NIR Instrumentation. Pp 53-70. *In*: D. A. Burns, and E.W. Ciurczak (ed.) Handbook of Near-infrared Analysis: Second Edition, revised and expanded. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- YoungYi, L., K. JungBon, L. HoSun, L. SokYoung, G. JaeGyu, K. HoCheol, H. YunChan, H. DoYoon, and K. ChungKon. 2010. Application of near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy (NIR) method to rapid determination of seed protein in coarse cereal germplasm. Journal of Crop Science 55:357-364.
- Youssef, A.M. 1998. Extractability, fractionation and nutritional valuef of low and high tannin sorghum proteins. Food Chemistry 63:325-329.
- Zhao, Z.Y., K. Glassman, V. Sewalt, N. Wang, M. Miller, S. Chang, T. Thompson, S. Catron,
 E. Wu, D. Bidley, Y. Kedebe, and R. Jung. 2002. Nutritional improved transgenic sorghum. Pp 413-416. *In*: I. K. Vasil (ed.) Proceedings of the 10th IAPTC&B Congress. Kluwer Academic Press, Orlando, Florida, USA.

CHAPTER 7

Thesis overview

Sorghum is one of the most important cereal crops grown globally. Understanding the genetic diversity and its interaction with the environment is of paramount importance in developing cultivars considering farmer's preferred traits. The objectives of the study were to: (i) determine farmers production constraints and preferences of sorghum varieties in the Limpopo Province in South Africa, (ii) assess the level of genetic diversity present among South African sorghum genotypes using agro-morphological traits, (iii) compare RAPD and SSR marker and high resolution melt (HRM) analyses to determine genetic variation among selected sorghum genotypes, (iv) assess the genetic diversity present among South African sorghum genotypes using genetic distances as measured by SSR markers, and (v) determine genetic diversity of selected South African sorghum genotypes grown at two diverse environments for protein and amino acid composition and select candidate lines for breeding and conservation.

Major findings

i) Appraisal of farmers' sorghum production constraints and variety preferences in the Limpopo Province, South Africa

- The constraints to sorghum production were bird damage, storage pests (weevils), parasitic weeds, drought and postharvest diseases.
- The farmers' preference traits of an ideal/ideotype sorghum variety were good taste, high yields, resistance to bird damage, insect pests (weevils) and diseases, early maturity and drought tolerance.
- > Farmers grew sorghum predominantly for home consumption
- > Macia was the most preferred sorghum variety and the highest yielder

ii) Assessment of genetic relatedness among South African sorghum genotypes using agro-morphological traits

- Three principal components contributed to 38.9%, 30.96% and 18.13% to the total variation. The traits that contributed most to the variation were plant height, grain weight and panicle weight.
- The dendrogram grouped the genotypes into three major clusters. The grouping of the genotypes was not based on a source or place of origin.

- The genotypes MP 4277, EC 2934, KZ5097, FS4909, and LP 4303, were identified as the most diverse lines.
- The best lines with quantitative and qualitative attributes were MP 4276, NW 5430, 05-Potch-167 and EC 3217 across the locations.

iii) Comparison between random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers with high resolution melt analyses in genetic variation analysis among selected sorghum genotypes.

- Both SSR and RAPD markers and HRM revealed variations among the sorghum accessions.
- The HRM melting profiles correlated well with the outcomes from RAPD and SSR analyses.
- The clustering of sorghum accessions using SSR marker highly corresponded with the HRM analysis.

iv) Genetic diversity analysis of sorghum genotypes using SSR markers in South Africa.

- The analyses formed two major distinct clusters without allocating genotypes based on the source or origin.
- The results showed clear separation between the breeding lines and landrace collections from various provinces in South Africa
- > The Euclidian genetic distances varied from 0 to 8.4 with an average of 5.67.
- Genotypes Macia-SA and AS4 had the lowest dissimilarity index, and 05-POTCH-115 and MP2048 had the highest value.
- A wide genetic diversity was observed with the allele sizes ranging from 90 to 294 bp. The numbers of alleles ranged from 2 to 15 with an average of 6.4 per locus.
- The polymorphic information content ranged from 0.0192 to 0.8351 (average of 0.5031) with heterozygosity values of 0.0194 to 0.8524 (average 0.5483).

v) Genetic diversity among selected South African sorghum genotypes for protein content and amino acid composition.

Generally, the sorghum lines had great variability in their protein and amino acid profiles.

- The crude protein content of the genotypes varied from 7.69 to 16.18% across the two sites with a mean of 13.07%.
- The genotypes that had high crude protein content at both sites were Mammopane (16.18%), AS16 M1 (15.57%), Macia-SA (15.31%), AS19 (15.22%), Maseka-a-swere (15.13%), and AS4 (15.07%).
- The genotypes identified with superior leucine content were LP 1948 at 14.3%, FS 4905 (14.3%), MP 4154 (14.26%) and LP 1481 (14.25%).
- High lysine content was detected in the genotypes KZ 5246 at 2.27%, AS17 (2.25%), Manthate (2.16%) and LP 1481 (2.11%).
- The genotype AS16cyc was the best candidate for high phenylananine content at 5.99%.
- > Low levels of cysteine, lysine, methionine, and histidine were observed.

Overall, the study established the existence of considerable genetic diversity among South African sorghum germplasm phenotypically, genotypically and when using nutritional quality traits. The lines identified with superior performance can be selected and used for further quality breeding to achieve balanced protein diet and amino acid levels. They can also be utilised for strategic conservation, genetic enhancement and development of breeding populations.

Appendix

A copy of a questionnaire used for conducting participatory rural appraisal in two districts of the Limpopo province.

A. General information	Date
District	Municipality
Village/sublocation	
Name of respondent	M F
Age (range)	
Number of Household	
Education level: Tick the highest level: None College University	Primary Secondary

B. Sorghum farming systems

- 1. What is the approximate size of your farm?
- 2. On how many hectares do you plant sorghum?
- 3. Do you plant any improved sorghum varieties
 - i. Yes
 - ii. No
- 4. If yes, what improved varieties do you plant- Names?
- 5. Why do you prefer the improved varieties?
- 6. What other local sorghum cultivars do you plant- give names?
- 7. Why do you prefer the local varieties?

- 8. What is your average sorghum yield approximately (bag= 50 kg)?
- 9. What are the main uses of the sorghum you grow?
 - i. Home consumption
 - ii. Animal feed
 - iii. Brewing
 - iv. Other
- 10. How many bags do you require for the family consumption every year?
 - i. Less than 5 bags
 - ii. 6 to 10 bags
 - iii. More than 10 bags

a) What type of food preparation you make from sorghum?_____

b) Do you sell your sorghum? Which part? _____

C. Constraints to sorghum production

11. What are the sorghum production constraints that you face in order of importance?(the constraints maybe ranked in order to see their importance)

	Sorghum production constraints							
1	High cost of inputs	Fertilizers	Tick appropriately	Rank				
		Seed						
		Labor						
2	Storage pests	Weevils						
		Larger grain borer						
		Moths						
3	Field pests	Stem borer						
		Greenbugs						
		Sorghum midge						
		Stem and stalk borers						
		Shootfly						
4	Diseases	Downy mildew						
		Anthracnose						
		Phoma Leaf Spot						
		Zonate Leaf Spot						
		Bacterial leaf spot						
		Bacterial streak						
		Northern Leaf Blight						
		Rust						

		Common, head and long smut	
		Ergot	
		Stem rots	
		Maize dwarf mosaic	
		Sooty stripe	
		Storage rots	
	Parasitic weeds	Striga	
	Other	Birds	
5	Abiotic	Drought	
		Soil fertility and acid soil	
		Heat	
6	Policies	Low market prices	

D. Farmers' variety preference

- 12. Which sorghum varieties do you grow in your area? List them
- 13. List factors you consider when selecting sorghum varieties and rank them

Factor	Reason	Rank
High Yield		
Resistance to disease/pest		
Tolerance to drought/heat		
Resistance to storage pests		
Resistance to birds		
Maturity period		
Grain colour		
Grain size		
Head size		
Head shape		
Taste		
Plant height		
Biomass		
Other		

Taste: 1= Sweet, 2= Non-sweet, 3= Bitter Colour: 1 White, 2= Tan, 3= Brown, 4= Red Head shape: 1= Compact, 2= Semi-compact, 3= Loose

14. What other crops do you grow in your area?

15. Rank them in order of importance

Crops	Rank

16. In your opinion, what should be the focus of the current sorghum research efforts in order of priority?

17. In your opinion, what would be an ideal sorghum variety?